
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION MEETING 
 
 

February 5, 2015 
10:30 a.m. 

Boston Convention and Exhibition Center 
415 Summer Street, Room 107B 

Boston, MA 
 
 







 

Meeting Minutes 

 

Date/Time: January 22, 2015 – 10:30 a.m. 

Place:  Boston Convention and Exhibition Center                                                        
415 Summer Street, Room 102A/B                                                                                
Boston, Massachusetts 
 

Present:  Chairman Stephen P. Crosby 
Commissioner Gayle Cameron  
Commissioner James F. McHugh  
Commissioner Bruce Stebbins 
Commissioner Enrique Zuniga  

 
Call to Order  
See transcript page 2 
  
10:32 a.m.     Chairman Crosby called to order the 143rd Commission Meeting. 
  
Regulations Hearing 
See transcript pages 3-13 
 
10:32 a.m.  Chairman Crosby opened hearing on public comments for regulations: 

205 CMR 134 Licensing, 205 CMR 138 Internal Controls, 205 CMR 149 
Race Horse Development Fund, and 205 CMR 14 Supplemental 
Licensing.   

 
10:32 a.m.  Public comment from Attorney General Maura Healey.  Attorney General 

Healey presented on gaming enforcement priorities and consumer 
protection recommendations for the commission.   

  
10:42 a.m. Public comment from Graham Lewis.  Mr. Lewis raised matters pertaining 

to the filing of an application for an occupational license to race horses.  
He was advised that comments presented today must relate to the 
regulations that are the subject of the hearing. He was further advised that 
he may submit written comments on any topic through the Commissions 
MGCcomments section on the Commission website. 

 
10:44 a.m.  Chairman Crosby suspended hearing on regulations.    



 

Approval of the Minutes  
See transcript pages 13-19 
  
10:44 a.m. Commissioner McHugh moved for the approval of the January 8, 2015 

minutes.  Motion seconded by Commissioner Cameron with correction to 
indicate when Commissioner Stebbins joined the meeting.  Motion passed 
unanimously. 

 
10:46 a.m.  Chairman Crosby noted Treasurer and Receiver General Deborah 

Goldberg’s priority and the Commission’s mandate to protect lottery 
revenues.   

 
Ombudsman Report  
See transcript pages 20-56 
 
10:51 a.m. Ombudsman Ziemba and Robert DeSalvio, President of Wynn MA, 

presented the Commission with an update on design changes to the Wynn 
Resort in Everett and unveiled two renderings.   

 
11:05 a.m. Jennifer Pinck, of Pinck & Co.; John Rauen, Vice President of 

Development, Penn National Gaming; and Lance George, General 
Manager, Plainridge Park Casino presented the quarterly update for Penn 
National Gaming.     

 
11:28 a.m. Chairman Crosby closed the formal hearing for public comments on 

regulations.    
 
11:29 a.m.  Commission recessed.  
 
11:44 a.m. Meeting resumed.   
 
Administration  
See transcript pages 56-187 
 
11:44 a.m.  Director Day presented the Commission with an administrative overview.  
 
11:46 a.m. Director Wells presented an update on  a potential conflict of interest 

matter regarding a Central Management System (“CMS”) vendor and 
provided recommendations on the matter.  

 
 
 
12:02 p.m. Michael Mathis, President & Chief Operating Officer for MGM Springfield 

and Joshua Soliz, Vice President of Technology for MGM, presented on 
CMS/G2S systems.  Robert DeSalvio, President of Wynn MA, provided 
comments on his experience with CMS. 

 



 

12:58 p.m. Commission recessed for lunch.  
 
1:49 p.m.  Meeting resumed.   
 
1:49 p.m.       CFAO Derek Lennon; Ethan Tower, Protocol Director, Gaming Standards 

Association; and Matthew Cedor, Regional Vice President of Operations,  
GTECH; presented on CMS/G2S systems.    

 
2:40 p.m.  Commissioner McHugh moved that the staff be authorized to commence 

contract negotiations with GTECH for a CMS system that includes the 
safeguards recommended by the IEB; that includes an out clause; that 
includes consideration of a payment schedule reflective of when machines 
will come online; that includes a warranty sufficient to protect the 
Commission from introduction of a CMS system in a SAS environment, a 
G2S environment or a hybrid environment; and that the staff be requested 
to return to the Commission with a recommendation for an amended 
regulation that deletes, changes or in some other way postpones for the 
requirement of an all G2S by January 1, 201.  Motion seconded by 
Commissioner Stebbins.  Commissioner McHugh added that the staff 
return after the negotiations are completed with the completed contract for 
the Commission’s approval and that the contract not be awarded until and 
unless there is a satisfactory completion of the background investigation of 
GTECH.  Motion passed unanimously.   

  
2:42 p.m. Director Day presented on recommendations for second half of 2015 

schedule.     
 
Workforce, Supplier and Diversity Development 
See transcript pages 187-247 
 
2:56 p.m.  Director Griffin; Mike Mathis, President & Chief Operating Officer for 

MGM Springfield; Gerri Harris, Executive Director of Diversity and 
Contracts, MGM; Mary Kate Murren, Director of Training & Workforce 
Development, MGM Springfield; and Jed Nosal, Attorney for MGM 
Springfield, Brown Rudnick LLP; presented on MGM Springfield 
Diversity Report.   

 
4:00 p.m.  Commissioner Stebbins moved that the Commission give approval to the 

Diversity and Affirmative Marketing Program as presented by MGM. 
Commissioner McHugh clarified that the Commission give approval in 
principle with clarifications and amendments to come.  Motion seconded by 
Commissioner Cameron.  Motion passed unanimously.  

 
4:03 p.m. Commission recessed.   
 
4:16 p.m. Meeting resumed.   
 



 

 
Legal Division 
See transcript pages 247-256 
 
4:16 p.m.  General Counsel Blue  presented on the General Records and Redaction 

Policies for review by the Commission.      
 
4:23 p.m. Commissioner McHugh moved that the Commission adopt a Commission 

policy defining records of the Commission and that the Commission revisit 
its implementation. Motion seconded by Commissioner Cameron.  Motion 
passed unanimously.  
 

4:24 p.m. Commissioner McHugh moved that the policy statement entitled Redaction 
of Public Records as it appears in the Commission packet be adopted.  
Motion seconded by Commissioner Cameron.  Motion passed unanimously.  
 

4:24 p.m.  General Counsel Blue presented the Small Business Impact Statement for 
205 CMR 129 – Transfer of Interest.   

 
4:24 p.m. Commissioner Stebbins moved that the Commission approve the Small 

Business Impact Statement with respect to 205 CMR 129 Transfer of 
Interest.  Motion seconded by Commissioner Cameron.  Motion passed 
unanimously.   

 
Research and Responsible Gaming 
See transcript pages 256-293 
 
4:25 p.m. Director Vander Linden presented on the first draft of the Play 

Management Regulations.   
 
 
Other Business Not Reasonably Anticipated 
See transcript pages 293-299 
 
5:13 p.m. Commissioner Crosby reported on a matter to be brought before the 

Legislature regarding withholding and reporting on winnings.   
 
5:17 p.m. Motion made by Commissioner Cameron to adjourn the meeting.  Motion 

seconded by Commissioner Zuniga.  Motion passed unanimously.   
 

 
 

List of Documents and Other Items Used  
 

1.  Massachusetts Gaming Commission January 22, 2015 Notice of Meeting/Hearing 
and Agenda 



 

2.  205 CMR 134 Licensing and Registration of Employees, Vendors, Junket 
Enterprises and Representatives, and Labor Organizations  

3.  205 CMR 138 Uniform Standards of Accounting Procedures and Internal 
Controls and attachments 

4.  205 CMR 149 Race Horse Development Fund 
5.  205 CMR 14 Supplemental Licensure Procedures 
6. Massachusetts Gaming Commission January 8, 2015 Draft Meeting Minutes  
7.  Wynn Resorts Development January 15, 2015 Memorandum Regarding New 

Renderings for Proposed Wynn Resort in Everett 
8.  Penn National Quarterly Report as of December 31, 2014 
9. Email from Martin Nastasia, Brown Rudnick, to Derek Lennon and John 

Glennon, dated January 19, 2015, with regard to CMS Package for 
Commissioners and MGC Staff, with attachments.  

10.  Massachusetts Gaming Commission January 18, 2015 Memorandum Regarding 
Central Management System – Technical Discussion Summary with attachments 

11.  MGC January 16, 2015 Schedule Update/Slot Parlor Activities 
12.  MGM Springfield Diversity & Affirmative Action Marketing Program 
13.  Massachusetts Gaming Commission Records of the Commission Policy and 

Redaction of Public Records of the Commission Policy 
14.  Small Business Impact Statement 205 CMR 129 
15.  205 CMR 138 Uniform Standards of Accounting Procedures and Internal 

Controls DRAFT 
16.  205 CMR 143 Gaming Devices and Electronic Gaming Equipment DRAFT 

 
 
 
 
 
/s/ Catherine Blue 
Catherine Blue 
Assistant Secretary 



 
 

No Documents 



 
 

No Documents 



 

 
 

 

TO: Chairman Crosby; Commissioners Cameron, McHugh, Stebbins and Zuniga  

FROM: John S. Ziemba, Ombudsman  

DATE: February 2, 2015  

RE: 2015 Community Mitigation Fund  
 
On December 18, 2014, the Commission approved the guidelines for the Community Mitigation 
Fund which included an application for specific construction related impacts and a one-time 
local reserve fund under the Community Mitigation Fund.  This reserve fund can be used by the 
communities for impacts once they are determined (upon approval of the Commission) or to 
help communities plan how to avoid potential adverse impacts or to determine how to achieve 
further benefits from a facility.  MGL c. 23K, §61 states that “parties requesting appropriations 
from the fund shall submit a written request for funding to the Commission by February 1 of 
each year”1 and that the Commission shall expend funds to assist parties “ in offsetting costs 
related to the construction and operation of a gaming establishment.”  In accordance with MGL 
c. 23K, § 61, parties have requested appropriations from the community mitigation fund and 
filed their applications by the due date of February 2, 2015 with the Commission.   
 
Communities that have applied for the reserve fund are: 
 

• Region A:  Boston, Cambridge, Chelsea, Lynn, Malden, Medford, Saugus, Somerville 
• Region B:  Agawam, Chicopee, East Longmeadow, Hampden, Holyoke, Longmeadow, 

Ludlow, Northampton, West Springfield, and Wilbraham 
• Plainville – Category 2:  Foxborough, Mansfield, Wrentham 

 
In addition to the applications for the use of the reserve fund the following parties have 
requested funding for specific impacts:  Medford, Revere, Springfield, and Hampden County 
Sheriff’s Department (Springfield).  The City of Medford has requested separate mitigation 
funds in addition to the reserve fund.  Attached please find copies of these applications. 

Winthrop and Everett applied for the reserve fund but were notified that they were not eligible 
for the fund because they were not a designated surrounding community, nor a community 
which entered a nearby community agreement, nor a community who petitioned to be 
surrounding community to the licensee. 

Commission staff made numerous contacts to communities to remind them about their 
eligibility for the reserve fund.  There were a few communities that were eligible to receive 
reserve funding but did not apply. 

                                                      
1   The statutory application date is February 1 (a Sunday in 2015).  However, M.G.L. c. 4, §9 specifies that certain acts which would otherwise 
be required to be performed on Sunday be performed on the next succeeding business day.    



 
 

2 
 

The Process:  How Will the Commission Decide on Applications? 

• Similar to the Commission’s surrounding community review process, the Commission will ask each 
licensee to review and comment on any requests for funding. 

• The Commission will evaluate the submittal by the community, any input received from the 
community and interested parties (such as Regional Planning Agencies), the responses of the licensee, 
Commission consultant reviews, and any other sources determined by the Commission. 

• The Commission will evaluate any funding requests in the context of any host or surrounding 
community agreements. 

• The Commission may ask applicants for supplementary materials, may request a meeting with 
applicants, and reserves the ability to host a hearing or hearings on any application. 

• The Commission’s deliberations on Community Mitigation Fund policies will also be aided through 
input from the Gaming Policy Advisory Committee, the Community Mitigation Subcommittee, and any 
Local Community Mitigation Advisory Committees, as established pursuant to MGL c. 23K. 

• The Commission reserves the ability to determine a funding limit, as additional contributions to the 
Community Mitigation Fund will not be made until Category 1 gaming facilities are operational. 

When Will the Commission Make Decisions? 

The Commission anticipates making funding decisions on any requests for mitigation of specific impacts 
approximately by July 2015, after a comprehensive review and any additional information requests. 
However, we received one request for an expedited review from the Hampden County Sheriff’s 
Department. 

  



 
 

3 
 

 























MICHAEL J, lvkGLYNN 

MAYOR 

I!Cttp of ftlebforb 
Office of The Mayor 

Rooms 202-204, City Hall 

Medford, Massachusetts 02155 

Telephone (781) 393-2408 

JohnS. Ziemba, Ombudsman 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
2015 Community Mitigation Fund 
101 Federal Street, 23'd Floor 
Boston, MA 0211 0 

Dear Mr. Ziemba: 

FAX (781) 393-2514 
TDD (781) 393-2516 

January 29,2015 

Enclosed please find a copy of the City of Medford's request for both a reserve fund and specific 
impact. The application has also been sent electronically. 

The City is requesting $100,000.00 in reserve funds and $2,000,000 in transpmtation planning 
and design funds. The specific impact funds are necessary to commence a study, design and 
coordinated approach to the impacts of the Casino on the transpmtation infrastructure within the 
boundaries of the City. These facilities fall under local, DCR, MassDOT, or META jurisdiction 
and connect to the roadway networks of Malden and Everett. It is imperative that the coordinated 
plam1ing commence now. 

Relying on Community agreements and future mitigation funds will not result in infrastructure 
projects being implemented in a timely mam1er. The state cam10t wait to begin to design 
necessary identified issues. I appreciate your approval of these funds. 



CHECK BOX IF REQUESTING THE CREATION OF A 
MITIGATION RESERVE FUND FOR A COMMUNITY 

APPLICATIONS DUE NO LATER THAN FEBRUARY 2, 2015. 
For anyone with specific impacts, please complete the gray boxes 1-4 beginning on page 2. If you are uot 
applyiugfor mitigation of specific impacts by Februmy 2, 2015, you do uotueed to complete gmyed boxes 1-4. 

City of Medford, Massachusetts 
-- ------------- ··-----""'-"'"---.... -.--·-·-·-·--------------------------

1. NAME OF MUNICIPALITY/GOVERNMENT ENTITY /DISTRICT 

Treasurer I Collector 
2. DEPARTMENT RECEIVING FUNDS 

. :"illi:ed J. Pompeo, Jr., Treasurer(:;()llector 
8. NAME AND TITLE OF INDIVIDUAL RESPONSIDLE FOR HANDLING OF FUNDS 

85 George P. Hassett Drive, .l\1:~~_f'()l'<!,J\,!~()2J55 
4. ADDRESS OF INDIVIDUAL RESPONSIDLE FOR HANDLING OF FUNDS 

781-39!J:-~!~i) ____ a_I>OlllE_~."@medfor<!.<>rg _ 
5. PHONE# AND EMAIL ADDRESS OF INDIVIDUAL RESPONSIBLE FOR HANDLING OF FUNDS 

Jl..ii~l111~U:_l\1cGlynn,_J\!a,y()r 
6. NAME AND TITLE OF INDIVIDUAL AUTHORIZED TO COMMIT FUNDS ON BEHALF OF 

MUNICIPALITY /GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY 

7. ADDRESS OF INDIVIDUAL AUTHORIZED TO COMMIT FUNDS ON BEHALF OF 
MUNICIPALITY /GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY 

.. 7_8lo..!l_!)~-~4_()1}!llll1C_glynll@!'l~dfo!'<!·org 
8. PHONE# AND EMAIL ADDRESS OF INDIVIDUAL AUTHORIZED TO COMMIT FUNDS ON BEHALF 

OF MUNICIPALITY /GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY 

.WY~-~LLC 
9. NAME OF GAMING LICENSEE 



Page 2 of'7 
1. IMP ACT DESCRIPTION 

Please describe in detail the impact that is attributed to the construction of a gaming facility. 
Please provide support for the determination that the construction of the gaming facility caused 
or is causing the impact. 
The proposed construction of the Wynn MA casino in Everett has 
transportation impacts that are well documented in the 
Environmental Review work done to date as well as the Secretary 
of EOEA's determination that mitigation is required to offset 
impacts of the proposed project. Identified impacts include 
deterioration in level of service and capacity. Alternative modes 
of transportation are necessary to offset traffic impacts. 
Pedestrian and bicycle connections are necessary to enable safe 
travel. 

The current funding strategy is to wait until the Casino is 
operational anticipating contributions will fund the Community 
Mitigation Fund. This will delay the commencement of necessary 
planning and design beyond the conceptual stage. Construction 
projects cannot proceed until there is full design and permitting 
as well as funding. The Commonwealth should not wait for 
construction impacts to start to plan. Additionally, nothing 
assures that the roadway improvements necessary in Medford will 
be prioritized for funding as impacts are anticipated in other 
jurisdictions as well. 

Construction impacts from the Casino requiring signalization and 
geometric improvements are anticipated at the following 
locations: 

1. Fellsway West (Route28)/Fulton Street; 
2. Fells1vay West (Route28) /Salem Street (Route60) ; 
3. Central Avenue/Medford Street/Fellsway (Route 28); 
4. Riverside Avenue/Fellsway (Route28), Medford; 
5. 1-93Southbound off ramp/Mystic Valley Parkway (Route16) South; 

6. Harvard Street/Mystic Avenue (Route38); 
7. Harvard Street/Mystic Valley Parkway (Route16)/Mystic Valley 
Parkway (Route16) Southbound; 
8. Mystic Valley Parkway (Route16)/Locust Street; 
9. Mystic Valley Parkway (Route16)/Commercial Street; 
10. Mystic Valley/RBP(Route 16)/Fellsway (Rte.28)/Middlesex Ave 
Wellington Circle; 

11. Revere Beach Parkway (Route16) Eastbound Ramps to Rivers Edge 
Drive, 

12. Revere Beach ParkvJay (Route 16) Westbound Ramps to Rivers Edge 
Drive 



r-' ,, 
Page :l of7 

Wynn has agreed to pay for $ 1 million of certain identified 
improvements in the EIR. However, the need to move forward especially 
on the design of improvements at Wellington Circle is urgent and the 
scope of work more comprehensive than this commitment will provide. 

The planning and design services at Wellington Circle are significant 
and will exceed the amounts in the Surrounding Community Agreement. 



Page 4· of7 

2. PROPOSED MITIGATION 

Please identity below the manner in which the funds are proposed to be used. Please provide 
documentation (e.g.- invoices, p1·oposals, estimates, etc.) adequate for the Commission to ensure 
that the funds will be used for the cost of mitigating the impact from the construction of a 
proposed gaming establishment. Please describe how the mitigation request will address the 
specific impact indicated. Please attach additional sheets/ supplemental materials if necessary. 

The City of Medford is requesting $1.5 million dollars to 
commence the planning and design of improvements to the 
Wellington Circle area and its environs. The funds will be used 
to oversee a transportation design process from study to 
preparation of alternative plans and begin the planning, 
permitting and full design of upgrades concentrating on 
Wellington Circle as well as for the intersections from 
Wellington Circle to Mystic Valley Parkway and Harvard Street. 
Planning for improvements to connections for alternatives to 
vehicular transportation including bicycles, pedestrians and 
water transportation shall also be included. 

The second component on this is a request for $480,000.00 to fund 
a Transportation Engineer/Planner position for five years. The 
need for this position is a direct result of the location of the 
casino, need to apply for funds to the community mitigation fund, 
submission of applications for state and federal transportation 
funding for various transportation related projects and 
coordination of transportation improvement projects. 

The City is also seeking $20,000.00 for reimbursement of services 
performed by GPI to do a peer review of the environmental work 
and to assist the City in identifying impacts. 

A Request for Proposals will be prepared to engage a 
transportation engineering Consultant team for design services. 
The Transportation Engineer/Planner will be hired to coordinate 
activities on behalf of the City including coordination with Wynn 
LLC Mass DOT, OCR, MBTA, and private landmvners and abutting 
cities and seeking funds. A job description would be created and 
the position advertised. 

The Estimated cost of $2 million dollars is as follows: 

Engineering Consultant for Peer RevievT-$20, 000.00 

Transportation Engineer/Planner for the City of Medford for 5 
years- Salary, benefits-$484,000.00. 

Engineering, Planning Design and Permitting-$1.5 million 



Nn r1 

3. IMP ACT CONTROLS/ADMINISTRATION OF IMPACT FUNDS 

Please provide detail1·egarding the controls that will be used to ens\ll'e that funds will only be 
used to address the specific impact, If non-govemmental entities will receive any funds, please 
describe what reporting will be required and how the applicant will remedy any misuse of funds. 

All funds to be utilized will be procured in a competitive bid 
process with contracts. 

4. RELEVANT EXCERPTS FROM HOST OR 
SURROUNDING COMMUNITY AGREEMENTS 

Please describe and include excerpts fi·om any relevant sections of any Host Ol' Slll'rounding 
Community Agreement. Please explain how this impact was either anticipated or not anticipated 
in that Agreement. 

Impacts were anticipated. Scope and timing are the issues to be 
addressed. See Section 6, Transportation Impacts of the 
Surrounding Community Agreement, FEIR and 

GPI Peer Review (attached). Also Attached is the Engineer's 
estimate of costs. 

CERTIFICATION BY MUNICIPALITY /GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY 

On behalf of the aforementioned municipality I governmental entity I hereby certifY that the funds that 
are requested in this application will be used solely for the purposes articulated in this Application. 

I 
Si Date 

Michael J. McGlymi, May · 

APPROVAL OF THE MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 



6 of'! 

On behalf of the Massachusetts Gaming C01mnission, the Connnission hereby authorizes the payment 
from the Community Mitigation Fund in accordance with M.G.L. c. 2311: as outlined in this Application. 

Executive Director Date 

Ombudsman Date 



23 
02110 

l!NSTRUCTIONS FOR Fl!Ll!NG FOR 

2015 COMMUNITY MliTIGATION FUND APPLICATION 

If a Community is filing for a mitigation reserve fund only, please check the box on tJage 1 and 
fill out all the boxes in blue. S!<ip grayed boxes 1-4. Detail regarding the use of the reserve 
fund can be provided to the Commission on a rolling basis upon consultation with the 
Commission (See Guidelines 01:1 page 6). 

If a Community or other Applicant has a specific impact, please fill out entire application 
form. 

If a Community or other Applicant is requesting both a reserve fund and has a specific impact, 
please fill out the enth·e application form. 

Any questions contact: John S. Ziemba, Ombudsman 
101 Federal Street, 23rd Floor, Boston, MA 02110 

(617) 979-84·23 

Applications must be sent electronically and via regular mail. An application 
received by the Commission either electronically or via regular mail by Februmy 2, 
2015 will meet the application deadline. 

Applications should be sent to the: 

Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
2015 Community Mitigation Fund 
Attn: Ombudsman John Ziemba 
101 Federal Street, 23rd Floor, Boston, MA 02.110 

jolm.s.ziemba@state.ma.us 



G:reemnan ~ Pedersen, ][nc. 
Engineering and Construction SeJVices 

REF.: MAX-2013011.04 

January 8, 2014 

Mayor Michael J. McGlylUl 
City of Medford 
85 George P. Hassett Drive, Room 202 
Medford, Massachusetts 02155 

ATTENTION: Ms. Lauren DiLorenzo 

SUBJECT: City of Medford 
Wynn Everett 
Traffic Impact Peer Review 

Dear Mayor McGlynn: 

As requested, Greenman-Pedersen, Inc. (GPI) has conducted a Traffic Impact Peel' Review of the Wynn 
Everett Casino (Project) Draft Environmental Impact Report (DEIR) prepared by Fmt Point Associates, 
Inc. The focus of this review is Chapter 4 - Transportation of the DEIR prepared by Vanasse & 
Associates and Howard/Stein-Hudson Associates, Inc. (VAI/HSH). GPI has reviewed the projected 
traffic impacts within the City of Medford and the adequacy of the proposed mitigation to address these 
impacts. 

Overall GPI has found the material provided to he prepared in a professional manner consistent with 
transportation engineering indl!stry standards and reasonably evaluates the Project's potential impacts. 
Regarding the Project's impacts to the transpmtation infi'astructure within the City of Medford however, 
GPI finds there to be notable unaddressed mitigation needs related to Wellington Circle (Intersection #42) 
and the Harvard Street/Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 16)/Mystic Avenue (Route 38)/I-93 Exit 31 
Southbound Off-Ramp cluster of intersections (Intersection #'s 37, 38 & 39). h1 addition, GPI has 

- - - - ~rdentified some· concerns Tegarding-the-trip-distributimnnethodology-which may be under representing--- -­
the impacts to roadways within the City of Medford. 

As discussed in ftnther detail below, GPI recommends the implementation of specific mitigation to 
address Project impacts at both of the locations identified above prior to the opening of the Wynn Everett 
Casino, as well as the ftmding of a traffic monitoring program to be conducted by an independent third 
party. The intent of the traffic monitoring program would be to identify any unanticipated traffic impacts 
post Casino openii1g which would then be the responsibility of the Casino Proponent to mitigate. 

181 Ballardvale Street, Suite 202, Wilmington, MA 01887 Tel: (978) 570-2999 Fax: (978) 658-3044 
www.gpinet.com 

An Equal Opportunity Employer 



GPI 
Mayor McGlynn 
January 8, 2014 
Page 2 of5 

PROJECTED TRAFFIC IMPACTS 

The DEIR for the Wynn Everett Casino estimates that 342 and 395 vehicle trips will utilize roadways 
within the City of Medford to access/egress the Project site during the Friday evening and the Saturday 
afternoon peak hours, respectively. The significant majority of this traffic (282 Friday evening/ 328 
Saturday afternoon) is estimated to utilize Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 16) to travel through the City of 
Medford. As discussed below this additional Project traffic will cause measurable impacts at key 
locations. These unaddressed impacts raise concern regarding the ability for traffic to access/egress the 
Project site along the routes identified in the DEIR, therefore justifYing the potential that alternative routes 
within the City of Medford will be utilized as "cut-through" routes to/fi·om the Wym1 Everett proposed 
site. 

It should also be noted that this review does not include an evaluation of the methodologies utilized to 
estimate traffic projections (i.e., trip generation). The appropriateness of these methodologies will be 
deferred to Massachusetts Depmtment of Transportation (MassDOT) in their review of the DEIR. 

Intersections 37 & 39- Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 16)/I-93 Southbound Exit 31 Off-Ramp 

As projected in the DEIR, 10% of patron 
traffic destined to the site will utilize I-93 
Southbound to Exit 31, Mystic Valley 
Parkway (Route 16). Along with some 
employee traffic this equates to 111 and 
132 peak hour vehicle trips during the 
Friday and Saturday peak hours, 
respectively. Upon exiting I -93 SB, the 
DEIR projects 100% of this traffic will 
turn left to remain on the Mystic Valley 

· Parkway at its signalized intersectioi1 wTfll 
the connector to the adjacent Mystic 
Avenue (Route 3 8) at Harvard Street 
intersection . (Intersection # 3 8) to 
continue onwards towards the Project 
site. Based on the analysis results 
presented in the DEIR this traffic appears 
to have minimal impacts to operations at 
this location. Upon further inspection 
however it was revealed that this left-turn Project generated traffic was not included in the fitture Build 
analyses conducted for the Project. This is a significant oversight given the critical nature of this 
movement to not only Project generated traffic, but also to regional mobility given the close proximity to 
I-93. Under Existing Friday evening conditions the Mystic Valley Parkway Southbound Connector left­
turn operates over capacity (v/c= 1.08) at LOS F with 91.4 seconds of delay. Average queues extend 
back 525 feet with 95th percentile queues extending to 657 feet and have the ability to extend ·onto the 

H) 1m Casir.oRfl'im Later rev. doe-r 



GPI 
Mayor McGlynn 
January 8, 2014 
Page 3 of5 

adjacent I-93 Exit 31 off-ramp. Under fhture No-Build conditions this movement further deteriorates (v/c 
= 1.27) at LOS F with 169.2 seconds of delay. Average queues extend to 701 feet with 95th percentile 
queues measured at 83 7 feet, nearly back to the I -93 mainline. While the Build analyses do not include 
the Project generated trips being added to this movement, it is clear that they would have a significant 
compounding effect to an already failing movement. 

As part of its off-site transportation mitigation, the Project should implement improvements to provide 
reasonable operations of this left-turn movement from the Mystic Valley Southbound Connector to 
Mystic Valley Parkway. At a minimum these improvements should demonstrate that queues as a result of 
this movement do not have the ability to impact vehicles exiting I -93 SB. 

It is also impmiant to note that the Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 16) at the Mystic Avenue/Harvard 
Street connector signalized intersection (Intersection # 39) is coordinated with the intersection of Mystic 
Avenue (Route 38) at Harvard Street (Intersection # 38), approximately 300 feet to the west. Any 
proposed improvements would need to be evaluated as part of a coordinated system to be reflective of the 
synchronized nature of these two intersections. 

Intersection 42- Wellington Circle 

Wellington Circle is a location of 
longstanding · regional congestion. 
While a notable amount of additional 
degradation to traffic operations is 
expected over the next 10 years 
regardless of the Wynn Everett 
project, the addition of Project 
g~nera1ed traffi() _l\'i!L have . a 
significant compounding effect and 
needs to be mitigated prior to the 
opening of the Project. 

During the Friday evening peak hour 
under Existing conditions, three 
movements within Wellington Circle 
operate either over capacity (v/c > 
1.0) or at LOS F. These are: 

• Fellsway Southbound- Left-turn (LOS F, v/c = 1.31, 197.6 sec delay) 
• Mystic Valley Parkway Eastbound- Through at eastern signal (LOS C, v/c = 1.01, 25.6 sec delay) 
• Fellsway Northbound- bear right to Middlesex Avenue (LOS F, v/c = 1.21, 145.1 sec delay) 

H)~ Ill Casino Rflttw lelia rev.docx 



Mayor McGlynn 
January 8, 2014 
Page 4 of5 

Under Build conditions, in addition to these three movements, four additional movements will operate at 
failing levels of service: 

o Fellsway Southbound- Left-turn (LOS F, v/c = 1.53, 293.3 sec delay) 
o Mystic Valley Parkway Eastbound- Through at eastern signal (LOS F, v/c = 1.25, 131.8 sec delay) 
o FellswayNmihbound- bear right to Middlesex Avenue (LOS F, v/c = 1.35, 203.0 sec delay) 
o Mystic Valley Parkway Eastbound - Through at western signal (LOS F, v/c = 1.20, 130.3 sec 

delay) 
o Mystic Valley Parkway Westbound- Left-turn (LOS F, v/c = 1.13, 124.1 sec delay) 
o Mystic Valley Parkway Westbound- Right-turn (LOS F, v/c = 1.06, 83.2 sec delay) 
o FellswayNorthbound- Left/Through (LOS F, v/c = 1.11, 97.9 sec delay) 

While not all of this degradation in operations is attributable to the Project alone, it is clear given the 
constraints to mobility this location currently represents that the projected operations will have significant 
adverse impacts to regional mobility and congestion and should not be accepted as a proposed condition. 
Tbe Proponent has committed to conducting further study ofthis location and funding conceptual design 
improvements to address both current and fhture operational deficiencies, however no finn mitigation 
commitment has been made by the Proponent to address these impacts. 

Given the magnitude of the needs at Wellington Circle, a grade-separated solution, similar in magnitude 
to that ]imposed improvements Y, mile to the east at Santilli Circle in Everett, appears appropriate. GPI 
recommends explicit mitigating action of similar significance be implemented at Wellington Circle prior 
to the opening of the Wynn Everett Casino. 

It should also be noted that without improvements of this type at Wellington Circle the improvements 
----preposed-atBantilli-Gircle and-SweetseJLGirele-in-Everett-along-Route -16 will only offer only-moderate­

and limited overall improvements to the Route 16 corridor between I-93 in Medford and the Project Site. 
By making it easier for traffic to flow through these intersections the proposed improvements along Route 
16 in Everett will remove, or significantly reduce, the existing metering effect these locations currently 
introduce to the corridor and place additional demands on Wellington Circle. In simpler terms, without 
coupling the improvement along Route 16 at Santilli Circle and Sweetser Circle in Everett with 
meaningful improvements to Wellington Circle these improvements may simply deliver traffic more 
efficiently to the significant congestion expected at Wellington Circle in the future. A mitigation 
approach which addresses all significant constraints along the Route 16 corridor would be most effective. 

!f)-1m Carino Review Utter rev. Joe' 



GPI 
Mayor McGly1m 
Janu;rry 8, 2014 
Page 5 of5 

TRIP DISTRIBUTION 

While the traffic study contained within the DEIR assumes 17% of entering patron traffic will utilize 
roadways within the City of Medford, only 7% of exiting traffic is projected to utilize City roadways. 
This is due to the anticipated route choices for traffic destined to I-93 Notth upon exiting the Project site. 
Given the lack of a:ccess to I-93 Notth from Mystic Valley Parkway, traffic projections contained within 
the DEIR traffic study assume traffic will exit the Project site via Route 99 (Alford Street) to Sullivan 
§quare in Boston and to then further to access I-93 North via Main Street (Route 38). Given the 
congestion experienced along I-93 North during the evening commuting period it is reasonable to 
speculate that vehicles may seek alternate routes to avoid this congestion upon exiting the Project site. 
This can be confinned by travel time projections for peak period as reported by google maps, a sample of 
which is provided in the Attaclmwnts. As the most likely routes to be utilized to by-pass the congestion 
sun·ounding I-93 North includes the Fellsway, Riverside Avenue and Rivers Edge Drive in Medford, 
these conidors warrant fmther consideration. All three qfthese routes currently serve as by-pass routes to 
J .. 93, which avoid a significant po1tion of the congestion experienced on the "elevated deck" pmtions ofl-
93 during peak periods. 

CONCLUSION 

Given these concems, in addition to the direct mitigation requests outlined above the Proponent should 
fund an ongoing traffic monitoring program conducted by an independent third pruty who evaluates traffic 
conditions on roadways within the City of Medford, both before and after the opening of the Project. In 
tlils matmel' the actual traffic impacts of the Wy1111 Everett Casino could be determined post-opening. The 
monitoring program should include commitments to fund improvements to mitigate any identified 
impacts along with provisions to arbitrate any contested findings. 

Should yon have any questions, or require additional infOlmation, please contact me directly at (978) 570-
2981. 

Sincerely, 

Gp.EENMAN-PED;y.•n Ii;N,INC. 

(2 ' . - 62--- /j 

1(;\.-'-·- <- :: ,·Lev---
Jason DeGray, P.E., PTOE 
Project Manager 

enclosure(s) 

l~}'nn Cas!rwRe~fmLemr NY.doo: 



WYNN EVERETT TRAFFIC IMP ACT PEER REVIEW ATTACHMENT MATERIAL§ 
City of Medford 

Attachment Materials 

o Harvard Street/Mystic Valley Parkway/Mystic Valley Padnvay Southbound 
Connector 

o Wellington Circle 
o Google Maps Peak Period Travel Time Samples 

GPJ Greenman-Pedersen, Inc. 
181 BALLARDVALESTREET, SUIIE202, WILMINGION,MA 01887 TELEPHONE: (978) 570-2999 FACSI11ILE: (978) 659-3044 

An Equal Opportunity Employu 



WYNN EVERETT TRAFFIC IMP ACT PEER REVIEW ATTACHMENT MATERIAL§ 
City of Medford 

Harvard Street/Mystic Valley Parkway/Mystic Valley Parkway Southbound Conuector 



Wynn Everett 

Wynn Cverctt 
Everett, Massachusetts 

34 R0\1'1<'"''''"'""""" 

Jj'l 
-.. 

-11Jll ... ,. 
12~~11tr "• -

r~r ===-' 

'~~ 

?? \'­<'\'""'\1- --~ ) ... 
.,_, 

)OB-t-

110-;. "'\( ...... "-:..,, 
T,:.-:.-r 

·------------------ ,/' 

38 ~~v~~~f.'!~-~~~T 

35 !IOUTI:,.ATCOI'l1W.AV<NUO .. 
-.~ 

~~. 
-",•_:;J. L,,. i 
·~\"""' := m ''"""'"' i 

l<tlltJI.\U.i'-,.J \( : 

'~; =: -f\.:t-.:..; . 

i 
'-_c_ -"'-,,-;u--.---... -.,.c .. :.-.--.,c __ '--_-' __ ) 

39 TH~·C~J~,:'&';,',i""'UN~ 

s;;J\1 
~ 

Draft Environmental fmp;;,ct Report 

36 """""''·"""""''"''''"r:N"" 
' ' 5-ffi:::~ 

~) l.C 
L,~ 
..._,,~ .,., 

1'""""'""'""'- ~~k 
"';,:::§'"' ;:g::.. 

'"• 

40 .Ctml10AT"""""!itll!:<:r 

'' 1'1 .it.. ~k 
,_, 

.,.~ .. •m-

41 ~Olm! .. MCGO~"OI<l!:1'11rn' 42 WI:~TOilCI.ClC 
""""''"~~~·~~;.o:.· 43t;a"""=' ' jl ' ~7G 'L.,, ....... _,~,, 

.,_, 
2ll"-+ 

,., 

28 

IE 

;:;:S!.'! 
~!I. 

-­'"--. 

-~ ,'tl)?;...<-

~" 
~" ;ESE ,. 

II 
I 
I 
I 

i! 

i 

·--· ·------. _) 

44 '"'""'""'""""""' .. ""' """""'"""""_ ......... 

-~-1 .. ._ j~~ " _,.,. ... 
'I 

I 

Figure 4-33 
No-Build (2023) Friday p.m. Peak Hour Traffic Volumes, Medford 

Source: Howard/Stein-Hudson Associates, Inc., 2013 



Wynn Everett 

Wynn Everett 
Everett, Massachusetts 

34 RO<m:!:OATNCUT!:OO 

~~ll " -

37rn\'liif,i:.'ll:l::::~~= 0.1 

! 
i 

.• 

..• • 
"" ~ '­\"'.-G~ 

38 ~,i.,V~"f.:'o~~tT 

.. , 35 notm:2liATCom<ALAIIOIU~ 

( ,... ~~ 

\ 

\ 
I 

39[B"'""'-"'""' > 

' 

' 

-- ______________ _,. 

Draft Environmen121 Impact Report 

36 RCill't:oATIUIIDt::lil£AVCIUrr 

EB
·,, 
·: 
' 

40 nt>llfC10ATI.CCUoT<I'l'jl(l;f 

tg' ' 
! 
I 

i 
! 

41~"'="""""'~·-! 
42 WOUJNCT<>NOlROU: 

43 ":;",ri,',~.".r'"""ti,':~~c 

' 

! 
' ' ·---------" 

28 

> 
~" §H 

.~ 

,,,_ 

~~)-,_...,J-

I 
28 

g~ 
g§ 
=i'"' 

\ 

, 
1'•1 [I' 

CLJ 
-. ----------------' 

" 44 0011!'1:10"'""""''0AT>I<C 
IOI/CI'II<OOOOII!IIIlJIJ"OPO 

------·· 

~ 
~ 

I ENTER (EXITJI 

Figure 4-54 
Friday p.m. Peak Hour Project-generated Trips, Medford 

Source: Howard/Stein-Hudson Associates, Inc., 2013 



Wynn Everett 

Wynn Everett 
Everett, Mass<~chusetts 

34 RO!m:"AT00""'<11 

'· 
~ 

'-• 
;;~v. '-m .;:!;::; -11JU •• _., 

)jt. ,. 
"'·" 

)\ •" 
'':3. '"'~ i r .~=.. \( 
'~=: :;;;';i:;; m-., ...... )it 

·-----~-----

~rn-, " :I 

. i 

. I 

38 -=~~~~t:'o~~~T 

'';:. 

i". 

35 •cun: "ATcrnmAI.AVCNUC 

·~~~ 
I~ 

J?-\.;~ 
)\ ::: ;:g 'i - ..-·~~ ,,.,, .. .,. I 

O<NlMU,VJt. :=.. ...... \ ~ I 
•r--,. .f'\,.,:A i 

i 
."'- ______________ .} 

39 =~~~~fo'~:i 

~· "" 

Draft Environmental Impact Report 

36 !IOIIIOOATOM:JtGIOtAVtNut 

"· 
~5i:::~ 

) j '-" 

-t...,~ _,. 
•" 

l•w"""~'~""' ,_, "~It 
~sg.;;-

,,,_ 
'"• 

40 ROUl'!:10A!lO'II!IT.:tm'OT 

~'--1,~~ ,_, 
., • .J' 
IOUU--. 

I"; 
'1 

--
41 ..... ,.,.,.c:oml .. a.t.!l1'11ttr 

' 
42 w~aTON""""-" 

43 ":i.",:'~!~~~~;~~ 

,._, 
"·-

28 
1~. , ... .:- ....... 

' it; 
i!" 

l<f.\i 

'J..~==-~ 
/~"' 

'-----,-----') 

~1 
CJI 

~ i 

l - - J \ 

Figure 4-62 
Build (2023) Friday p.m. Peak Hour Traffic Volumes, Medford 

Source: Howard/Stein-Hudson Associ<J.tes, Inc., 2013 



Table 2 Intersection Operations Analysis: PM Peak Hour (Medford) 

Intersection 

:ideWB left 
Riverside W8 thru/right 
fellsway {Route 28) NB left 
Fe!Jsway {Route 28) NB thru ) thru 
) thru!right 
fellsway {Route 28) SB left 

1 38. (5) Harvard -
{Route 38) 
H;mrard EB leftlthru l thru!right 
Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 16) 
WBleft 
Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 16) 
WBthru 
Mystic Volley P<l!"kway (Route 16) 
WB right 
Mystic [Route 38) NB left 
Mystic (Route 38) NB thru ! 
thru/right 
Mystic (Route 38) SB left 
Mystic (Route 38) SB thru j 
thrufright 

139. (5) Harvard 5<rl!l!1.1Jv•pu<.: v.:~ucy 
~~~~ay ~~oute ~~?l~y~i: Vall7y 1 ""' .. 
;-.. ,:..way(Rou~;e JoJ; 

Connector 
Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 16) 
EB thru I thru 
Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 16) 
WB thru l thr• 
Mystic Valley (Route 16) SB left 1 
left 
Mystic Valley (Route 16/ SB right 

1 40. (5) Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 
16)/Locust Street 
Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 16) 
EB left I left 
Mystic Vatlcy Parkway (Route 16) 
EB thru I thru 
Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 16) 
WB thru J thru j thru 
Locust SB left 
Locust SB right I 

41. (S) Mystic Val!cy 
16)/Commercial ~ 

y (Route 

Mystic Valley Parkway {Route 16) 

LOS 

c 
D 
c 
D 

c 
E 

D 

D 

D 

D 

E 

E 

F 

D 

D 

' 
B 

F 

c 

D 

B 

B 

D 

D 

B 

D 

Delay 

27.8 
52.0 
30.5 

45.5 

31.7 

63.7 

43.3 

47.9 

54.8 

48.3 

67.3 

77.3 

213.9 

42.2 

42.5 

12.7 

13.9 

91.4 

35. 

21.1 

47.9 

10.1 

17.6 

50.7 

38.6 

10.2 

43.1 

VIC 
Ratio 

0.33 
0.76 
0.70 

0.54 

0.70 

0.70 

0.85 

0.91 

0.31 

0.68 

0.98 

1.26 

0.34 

0.44 

0.42 

SO% II 95% Queue Queue 
~ Lencth 

74 
83 
177 

63 

173 

254 

314 

387 

106 

69 

257 

-176 

86 

190 

198 

115 
IF232 
4!479 

164 

-tfo441 

323 

lf479 

IF583 

165 

-lf142 

ift387 

#324 

127 

m200 

144 

1.08 1 -524 11 #657 

J.5i 

0.73 

0.69 

0.46 

0.72 

0.11 

0.55 

164 

146 

311 

188 

149 

0 

48 

273 

204 

505 

290 

230 

39 

94 

lOS 

c 
D 
c 
D 

D 

E 

D 

D 

D 

E 

F 

F 

D 

E 

B 

B 

F 

c 

D 

' 
c 
D 

D 

B 

D 

No 

Delay 

29.1 
51.4 
34.5 

48$ 

37.4 

72.6 

44.6 

54.3 

65.3 

42.8 

70.5 

95.5 

262.8 

42.8 

72.1 

13.9 

14.5 

VIC 
Ratio 

0.35 
0.77 
0.83 

0.68 

0.84 

0.75 

0.90 

0.97 

0.38 

0.72 

1.05 

1.38 

0.38 

0.48 

0.47 

SO% I 95% 
Queue Queue 
lencth _lcngth 

82 224 
101 #295 
235 #647 

70 175 

225 4f558 

273 

342 

411 

118 

74 

-302 

-205 

96 

111 

233 

344 

#529 

#643 

198 

/fr155 

ffo429 

·lf357 

140 

m219 

184 

169.2 il-837 

38.6 341 

22.9 

47.5 

13.5 

20.3 

51.1 

38.4 

11.9 

43.4 

0.74 

0.81 

0.57 

0.73 

0.12 

0.56 

159 

444 

253 

157 

0 

50 

218 

728 

390 

241 

39 

97 

lOS 

c 
D 
c 
D 

D 

E 

D 

D 

E 

D 

E 

F 

F 

D 

E 

B 

B 

F 

E 

c 

D 

B 

c 
D 

D 

B 

D 

Delay 

29.2 

51.4 
34.7 

48.8 

37.8 

74.7 

VIC 
Ratio 

0.35 
0.77 
0.84 

0.~8 

0.84 

44.6 I o.75 

54.8 \ 0.90 

65.7 I o.97 

43.3 0.39 

70.5 0.72 

95.5 1.05 

288.2 1.44 

42.8 0.38 

73.7 

14.3 I 0.49 

14.6 I 0.48 

169.2 1.27 

59.3 0.91 

23.7 

47.5 

15.7 

20.6 

51.1 

38.4 

12.6 

43.4 

0.74 

0.86 

0.59 

0.73 

0.12 

0.56 

SO% j 95% 

Qucue. Q .. ". '".' __!,c_!lgth_ _j,cng!J:t 
82 224 

101 #295 
237 #653 

70 175 

228 #564 

273 I 344 

345 m/f487 

423 I m-lt-601 

113 m184 

74 -lf155 

-302 4/:429 

-220 ;'f374 

96 14D 

224 I m222 

235 I 287 

-701 #837 

337 #552 

159 

517 

254 

157 

0 

50 

218 

852 

406 

141 

39 

97 

Build 

LOS j_ -~clay I VIC Queue Queue I 
soo/~ I 95% 

Ratio Length length 

No proposed mitigation 

No proposed mitigation 

No proposed mitigation 

No proposed mitigation 



Lanes, Volumes, Timings 
39: Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 16) & Route 16 SB Connector 

Lana Conf;guratlons 
Volrirre{vpll) 
[dealfbtJ (\phpQ 
~ ... Vf.,(fi) 
Grade(%) 
~jO_r.;je lenglh (ft) 
Storage Lan.;s 
rape_r l,eng:lt (rt) 
lane US. Factor 
fed Bike Fac!or 
Frt 
f!t"~ro!ected 
Sa :d. Fhv (proQ 
fkPerm2i.ed 
Sa!d. Flow (Germ) 
ft19h} Tum on Red 
S;M F!oJI (RTOR) 
\.ink Spud (mph) 
hl~~-~islan~(fl) 
Jravelfrrn~{s) 
Confl. Peds. (#!1-,r) 
~!J!l. Bikes{#.'hr) 
Pea'<Hourfoc!or 
!3f9i-lh Foc!or 
p.~ Vehicles(%) 
~u~ B!txkages {il!rJ) 
Parking (#I'm} 
)llfB.!9ckTraff.c (%) 
Adj. Flo·,v (vph) 
~.n.arf4l~ne Traff-c{%) 
Lane G:oup Flow (vph) 
'rUm Type 
Protected Phases 
f'~!ITl.irted Phases 
Dc!ec!orPh.ase 
~1!Ch~~ase 
lf.m!mum lni:ial (s) 
f~,~Sp!it(s) 
TotaJSpH(s) 
'rotal Spl~ (%) 
YeTiow. TJrne (s) 
~~_frne(s) 
Lostllrn,;M)-ust{s) 
'tolalloslllme(s) 
Lead>l&J 
~ead-~ag Optlm1ze? 
Recall Mode 
f.,CrEliciGrren(s) 
ActJa!ed g/C R~tlo 
VioRafu 
Cor.!rol Delorf 
!;ltJCOOOelaJ 
To!al D~lay 
Los 
6w9a.dJ oer~y 
Approach lOS 
Oue.ue Length 50th {ft) 
Q.~ leng:h 95th (ft) 

-J.o.:ema!UnkDi:st(fl) -
Tum Bay Length (ft) 
Base C"bpac:ty (vph) 
~~jfryat>:lnCap Re<Judn 
Spillback Cap Re<Juctn 
~JOrage Cap Reducli\ 
Reduce.:! v!c Rat:o 

---~·--~:w- \VBf 

* H 
0 995 S66 

1900 190,} 1900 

" 14 14 
0% 0% 

0 
0 

50 
1.00 0.95 0.95 

3851 3813 

3851 3813 

30 30 
405 798 
9.2 fB.f 

0.92 0.92 0.92 
100% 100% 101J% 

0% 0% f<f, 
0 0 0 

0% 0% 
1082 1050 

1032 1050 
llA NA 
48 48 

48 48 

70.0 70.0 
0.58 0.58 
0.48 0.47 
14.3 15.3 
4.4 0.3 

18.7 15.6 
B B 

18.7 15.6 
B B 

211 2JJ 
m2(9 '" - 326- - -718-

2246 2224 
10S9 0 

0 '" 0 0 
0.92 0.62 

·waR --ssr 
@& 0 J 

1900 1900 

" 12 
~h 

0 0 
0 2 

50 
1.00 0.97 

0.950 
34JJ 

0.950 
0 34)3 

Yo; 

30 
514 
11.7 

0.92 0.92 
100% 100i(, 

0% 2'/, 
0 0 

0% 
0 1416 

1416 
NA 
12 

12 

40.0 
0.33 
1.24 

150.0 
0.0 

150.0 
F 

123.4 
F 

-701 
#837 
431 

1144 
0 
0 
0 

1.24 

I' 
386 

1900 

" 

1.00 

0.850 

1599 

1599 
y, 
100 

0.92 
100% 

1% 
0 

420 

420 
Prol 
12 

12 

40.0 
0.33 
070 
33.4 
0.2 

33.6 
c 

218 
341 

"' 0 
13 
0 

0.72 

6.0 
11.0 
15.0 
13% 
3.0 
2.0 

Lead 
Yo; 

J.hr,-a 

8.0 8.0 6.0 
27.0 21.0 11.0 
30.0 35.0 15.0 
25% 29% IJ'h 

4.0 3.0 3.0 , 20 , 
La~ lead Lea,f 
y, y, y, 

C-Ya{ No.-.e I lone 

-- ------~------- ----

Area Twa: 
~leng\)1:120 
Actuated Cyc!a length: 120 
Q~~ IS (fl%), Referented to phase2.NBT and 6:SBT, Start ofGreeit 
tla~Jra] Cyd;: 105 
~on!roiTwc: Actua!ed-Coordinied 
Maxirmm v.'c Ratio: 1.33 
)n!eriirtion Si:Jnal Del a-f. 65..3 
ln!-mect;on Capac:tyUtiliz~!ion 73.0'/, 
Analysfs Period (fl'!ln)15 
- Votmw excee<Js c_apac&y, qvet:e Is theoreticaiT)IIn~nl:e. 
Que~ shown Is mar:i'!lLm ar..er two cyC.Ss. 

# 95thpercenb"le vvlurnaexcecdscapaclty, que~e mzy ba longer. 
Q:Jeua sho·.vn Is m3.limu11 ar.er t~q cycles. 

m Volume for 95th percenflo q;~w Is me~ere<J 11; upstream s.\Jolal 

h!ersection lOS: E 
JCU lewl ofSew;ce D 

Z:~obs\12\ 12206 • M'nlz le\1o1 Caslnll Proposal'P[I):e<;fiDEIR\TranspJrtatbn\S):rJ>:hro'.No BuM 2023\1/Wford P/,lsyn 

8.0 
27.0 
30.0 
2S% 
4.0 
20 

log 
y, 

C-MiH 

8.0 
33.0 
40.0 
33% 

3.0 , 
Lag 
y, 

Nona 

Wynn Everett 
f;\)-Burd ZJ2J PM Pea'< Hour 

Synchro 8 Report 
Page 13 



Lanes, Volumes, Timings 
39: Mystlo Valley Parkway (Route 16) & Route 16 SB Connector 

Z:\l.Jbs\ 12\1:2206 - l,!inlz Ltv\~ Cas ina Proposa~.Pro)ecf.DEIR\Trar,sportat:On\Synchro\Na B•J ld 21}23\!iedfurd P~.lsyn 

Wynn Everett 
t-:o-Bu?d 2023 PM Peak Ho•Jr 

S)nclu"o 8 Report 
Paga 14 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 
39: Mystic Valley Parkwa~ (Route 16) & Routa16 SB Connector 

\. ./ 
--sec· ·seR . ~----------

Lane Con~guratOJns H 
V_QIJ~ ('.1'hl o o 

H 

"' 966 
ldea!fhH{vp11pQ ISOO 1000 
~ane Wil'.h 12 12 

190) 1eoo 

Total Lost lima (s) 
~ane UW. F2Cior 
frt 
fliProteded 
sa:d. f:bw (proQ 
fljPennitted 
Sa\d. Flw enn 

14 
5.0 

0.9~ 
tOO 
1.00 

3851 
tOO 

3851 

14 
5.0 

o.9s 
too 
1.00 

3813 
too 

3813 
0.92 0.92 Peak--Mur factor, PHF 0.92 0.92 
1082 H:l5o Adj. Flow (vph) 0 0 

BTOR Redoc!io~ (vph) 0 0 0 0 
1032 1050 Lana Group FJo-.Y (vph) 0 0 

Hew Vellit .. ics % 0% 0% 
Turn Twa 
f'm!eG!ed Phases 
Perm:tteJ Phases 
kt~.ited Green. G (s) 
EffecLVa Green, g {s) 
~_cbated g!C Ratio 
Ck~ranoo lime {s) 
Ve.!lida h1enslc..rl s 
larB Grp CEp (vph) 
\~'s Ratb Prot 
V:s Ratio Penn 
~'lcRatb 
uruu:m Delay, d1 
fro~resilon FaWJr 
II'IC!emer.taJDe!ay, dl 

!ioi'Y<•I 
levdofService 
~p-lkloy(•l 
Approach LOS 

liTefSe&n stKr1!11W'-

'" llA 

" 
70.0 
70.0 
0.58 

2246 
.::0.23 

DAB 
14.5 
0.95 

0.1 
13.9 

0 
13.9 

B 

1% 
NA 
48 

70.0 
70.0 
0.58 

2224 
0.23 

0.47 
14A 
1.00 
0.2 

14.5 
B 

14.5 
B 

I ~~11 ~ 
386 

j~r)Q 1900 
12 12 

5.0 5.0 
0.97 1.00 
1.00 0.85 
0.95 too 

3433 1599 
0.95 1.00 

3433 1599 
0.92 0.92 
1416 420 

0 6B 
1416 353 

2% 1% 
llA Prot 
12 12 

39.0 39.0 
39.0 39_0 
0.-32 0.32 

1115 "' cOAl 0.22 

1.27 0.68 
40.5 35.1 
1.0CI too 

12&7 3.5 
169.2 33.6 

F D 
139.3 

F 

HCM 2009 Control Delay 72.1 HCM2000levcfofServU:e 
~~M 2(b_)Q Vo_lume 11 Capa-::.c'yratio 
Acluc~~~ Cycle Length (s) 
l--Jmedion Capacity Uti!iz<!Gon 
f\nal)">lsPeliOO {mil) 
c CriticollaneGroup 

0.84 
120.0 Sumof~Jstt~rne(s) 

7J.O% ICU level o!SeMce 

" 

Z:l)obs\ 12\ 1221)8 • M:~tz Lel/n Casino Proposa~.Pro]«f,DEIR\Transpjr!ationiS)nduo\1\\) Bu~d 2023\Ve<lfNd PHsyn 

E 

21.0 
D 

Wynn Everett 
NQ-<BJld 2J23 PM Pea~ Hour 

S)'nchro 8 Re~rt 
Paga 15 



Lanes, Volumes, Timings 
39: Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 16) & Route 16 SB Connector 

r~eGrou~ EBL EST ·-\VBT WBR -~·ssr- SBR ,, ·o-2 
lane Conr'gurct<Dns t{~ _{'1-

w'l1J 
p 

~""'*>'I 0 1003 973 0 3 497 
ldea/Fkrn (~phpij fSDO 1900 1900 19M 1901) 1900 
~an.e 1/~dth (II) 11 !4 14 11 11 11 
Grade{%) 0~ 0~ 0% 
~t:jiaga leng~lt(ft) 0 0 0 
S!oraga lar~es 0 1 I 
'f~~r_l.en9~~@ 50 50 
lane U[t Far.:!or fDa 0.95 o.ss 1.oo 0.!!7 t:oo 
fed B?~e Factoc 
Frt 0.850 
fl.tPrq!eclcd 0.950 
Sa !d. Fio',v (p;oQ 3851 3813 3433 1599 
fiJPerrnilled 0.950 
Sa!d. Flo'.'! (perm} 3851 3813 3433 1599 
tfigfjf.t~m on Red y,. y,. 
~a!d. _Fbw (RTOR] sa 
.Unk ~peed (mph) 30 30 30 
[Jr1k Distance (ft] 405 798 514 
Jrav,;ffuna(sj 9.1 18.1 11.7 
~n'l_. Peds. (Ill'!\/) 
Con~ Bil<:es (#Alr} 
PeakHourFador 0.92 11.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 
QrO\vtilFi>tlor 100% 100% 100% !00% fOCI'!.. 100% 
Hea\-yVehlc8s(%) 0% 0% 1% 0% 2% 1% 
~us BWc~ages (LI.'!uj 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Parking (11.·1u) 
Ui4-BlockTraflic (%) 0% 0% 0% 
~~~ Flo:u {vph) 1090 1058 1416 540 
,S~are~ l~~e Traffi~;(%} 
~ane Group Flow (vph} 1090 1058 1416 540 
rum rwe NA NA NA Prot 
Pro!eded PhBses 48 48 12 12 2 
P~e1Phases 
Detcdor Phase 48 48 12 12 
§:k~W.Pha$_e 
l..!ll}.Trnllm Initial (s) 6.0 8.0 
f6~1i~pil(s} 11.0 27.0 
T~!a]~pfit(s) 15.0 30.0 
ToW Spill(%) 13% 25% 
Yer:owThne(s) 3.0 4.0 
N.i-13~~ lJ,Tts (s) 20 20 
lostfrrooAdjusl (s) 
!~~1tOSi'tmie{s) 
leadtag lead '"' ~~rJ.lag Optimize? y., Yo. 
Rua!!:lode !len<~ (}/Ja( 

~J~frctGreen(s) 70.0 70.0 -'10.0 40.0 
Actuated g/C Ra~Cl 11.58 0.58 0.33 0,33 
VIc Ratio OA9 0.48 1.24 0.90 
Control Delay 14.6 15.3 150.0 51.2 
jiiiioo!kl;y 4.8 0.3 0.0 1.6 
TCl!a!Delay 19.4 15.6 150.0 52.8 
lds 8 8 F 0 
6PP:foacll Delay 19.4 15.6 123.2 
~pJ)rO~Los 8 0 F 
9!-lf~ length 50th (II) 224 235 -701 337 
meuelenolh 95th (fi) _ - _mill___ltll __ '"' #552 
In!~ mal Unk Dis! (It) 326 71a 434 
I*m Ba-j length {fi) 
Base Cap,rity (vph) 2246 2224 1144 598 
~~!vat\onCapReductn 1069 0 0 0 
?Jl.illbackCap Red'Jc!n 0 546 0 IJ 
§!a raga Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 
Reduced vic Rafia 0.93 0.63 1.24 0.92 

ln!ersecllon SUllif!lJ.JY 
Area Type: Other 
~leng!h: 120 
Ac:'u.ated Cycla Length: 120 
Qtset 1S (13%), Referenced !o phase 2:NBT ar~d 6:SBT, StartofGre~n 
NC:l!fal Cyde: 105 
~n_lrcl T we:. Actualed-Co_ord!n~ted 
Maximum v!c Ratio: 1.44 
)[lloisec!loo Signal [kby:. 67.9 ln!m~c6an lOS: E 
ln!ers€ctionG-apaclty Utifza!io~ 73.2% 
1\n~Jys_ls Period (fl'!ln} 1S 

ICUlevel ofSeN:.:e D 

- Voklma exceeds capacit;, queue ls thtoreticaU:tlnli:n~a. 
0\leiJe sho',o.·n Is max:imu:n alt:.rt1XIC)-'cles, • 95!!'1 percentile vo!untd e~ceeJs capa6ty, queue may be longer. 
Ql.l);:(l? shv•,\·n is maxi;num ~flgt.w eye~~· 

m Volume for 95th percenreql-eue Is me~ered by uPstrea-n signal 

Z:\iDbs\ 12\12203 - Mh1!z le\lll Casino Prorma!Pro]cd\DEIR\Tru.sportatiJn\Synchro\Bu].J 202JW~dford PM.sj.·n 

,, ,, 

4 

8.0 " 21.0 11.0 
35.0 15,0 
2S% 13% 

3.0 3.0 
1.0 20 

lead Looo 
Yo. y., 

Nooa None 

or- ,, 

8.0 ao 
27.0 33.0 
30.0 40.0 
25% 33% 

4.0 3.0 
2.0 20 

'"' leg 
Yo. y,. 

{}Max t~or.e 

--------------. 

Wynn Everett 
BuJd 2023 PM Peak Hour 

·----------- ----------

Synchro 8 Report 
Page 14 

I 



Lanes, Volumes, Timings 
39: Mystic V~~ey Parkway (Route i6l & Route i6 SB Connector_ 

Z:l)vbs\ 12\12206 • llnlz levi~ C;sho Propo;al ProJcct\DEIR\Transportation\S)'nc~,ro1Bu1l2023'Nedford PMsyo1 

Wynn Everett 
8u'kl202l PM Peak H6ur 

Synchro 8 Report 
P'*15 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 
39: M~stic Valley Parkway (Route i6} & Route i 6 SB Connector 

.P - .,_ "- \. .j 

!J~\ICffitfl{ EBL. EBT wsr wsR- SBL SBA 
Lana ConriJ'Jrat:Or.s H H uiD ~ 
yor;!me.(vphJ 0 100"3 913 0 

. 
m 

~1,;al FJo-N {vphpl) 1900 1900 1000 1MO 1900 j£101} 
~.aneVl>?!h " " " " " " To!allostfme {s) 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 
~ana U~l Factor 0.95 0.95 0.97 1.00 
Frt tOO 1.01} 1.00 0.85 
E~_P(ot~t¢ 1.QO too 0.95 1.00 
Sa~d. Fbw (proQ 3851 3813 3433 1599 
f~Penn~e4 1.00 too 0.95 1.00 
Satd Flow "" 3851 3313 3433 1599 
eak-hour farJor, PHF 0.92 092 0.92 092 0.92 Q92 

f.rfj. FJo;v {vph) 0 1090 1053 0 1416 540 
BTO~ Reduction{vph} 0 0 0 0 0 66 
lana Group Flo,v (vph) 0 1090 1058 0 1416 474 
Heav Vehicles % 0% 0% 1% 0% 2% 1% 
rurn_TYP<l_ NA "' NA Prot 
protected Phases 48 48 12 12 
Permitted Ph3ses 
Aciu~!_Ed Green, G(s) 70.0 70.0 39.0 39.0 
EF.ective Green, g (s) 70.0 70.0 39.0 39.0 
j,clu_a"_~d glC Rotb 0.58 0.58 0.32 0.32 
Clearanoo TI11e (s) 
Vfh.iC!a E)t~ns~n s 
laooGrp~p('.p~) 2246 2124 1115 519 
Hs RatbfcO( t6.28 0.28 c0.41 0.30 
vis Rafi.1 Perm 
Y;~~ati(i OA~ 0.48 1.27 0.91 
Uniform Delay, d1 14.5 14.4 40.5 33.9 
Progression Fadot 0.93 1.01} 1.00 1.00 
locremen!~l Del;rf, d2 0.1 0.2 128.7 20.5 
lk!oy(•) 14.3 14.6 169.2 59.3 
~velofSen~ce B 8 F E 
~pP,~ach Ocl8y(s) 14.3 14.6 13a8 
Approach LOS B B F 

~-~~~-- - ---~ ~----~--- -------.---

0.84 
1211.0 Sumofbsttime (s) 21.0 

73.2% ICU level ofServ'a 0 
15 

Z:~obs\ 12112206 -!Jintz leV,1 Casino Proposai,Pro}:cti.OEIR\Transportatlon\Synchro\BuiTd 2023\~~eJford PM.syn 

'-~----- ----------

Wynn Everett 
BuM 21123 PM Pea~ Ho~r 

·---~------------~-

S)nc.hro B Report 
P~e 16 



Wynn Everett 

Wynn Everett 
Everett, Massachusetts 

33 •<>tm:UI<TPll!."fO>OnTJlo<T 34 

.. ~ .. 
::;:;:~ -·· •" ~)l ,. 

""" •-" "!r •-' --- ::::~;. .... 
37 =··~=~=.~=· 

~~g ' • 
~ ::: 
I I 

"OLITC211ATnoUTI1'" 

• .• 
.?i:\....v. 'L. 111 _., 
)\ 

38 
( 

•• .. _ .. ,_, ··- \( 
"-. ...... """'- .. -::. 

~¢ 

•=:o~VA......,. PA""""AY AT 

"""""'""""""1"'""''"'1 

:;.,. 

~ 

35 MUTt:,.ATct:NTAAI.A""""' 

·-• ~ 

f{::v "'-1'1 ' _, 
' .;-1!1.11"''"'''"" i 

«m!<AA.A'~ .. J \( ,._ ! ""' 
.f'l.""--'-?. ... .,.1>-:. 

' 
-··-~---···--.------· 

39 ~;;-~w~~i,~~:~ 

~ ~ 
~·:! 

1U i 

Draft Environmental Impact Report 

36 I!O=•ATRlVDUllo:i;AVONUC . 
' !=E'i~= Lrr _,. 

~)Lt. ..-~: 

""""'""''V<. "'"'ii f'..:::.. 
'""' 

9;;:::;::: 

40 "O<m!10AHOCU:tTrrm"'"' 

jl ;r ~~$0 
,_, ,._, 
1~-

41 OC""'-"AT""""'<RCW.mttT 42 WOI.,INGYO>lCtm:l.t; 

43 •comiO....,ctliiOATll10 

"'""""'""''"~"""""" j 
j 

I; 
JtC .:::~ I: 
"-' ,.,_ 

28 

' i:;; e:;y 

\11'(:;1\C i:i:;!i;i 

~t'~" ..Jll.. 

,,,_ 
2115 ....... 

~\~ 
.._. .. ~ .. 
.-;, 
\ 
~ 

g~ 
;::!!2 
~' 

'i 

i 

I 
i 
' 
I 
i 

1, 

i 
' i 

_i _ ____; 

...... 
.WI+ /"" ~·~ • 

~,--,-~) 

44 =·=~~~~< 

r "~ ~ \ ·~~·: 
1- -m1 

·I 

Figure 4-37 
No-Build (2023) Saturday Afternoon Peak Hour Traffic Volumes, Medford 

Source: Howard/Stein-Hudson Associates, Inc.., 2013 



Wynn Everett 

Wynn Everett 
Everett, Massachusetts 

Draft Environmental Impact Report 

34 Rotm::!IIATR0""'00 35 RO\ITt:,.ATCo<ri<ALAVEiWI: 36 R"'=ATOOII:""'OOA ... Ot 

I .. ____ .) 

II] 
41 OOtiT010AT,.,..,tllCII\L= 

II ! li 
-~~D) 

1~·--

' --~- "'"'""''···~WO 0 / 

'" • I"; ·"';..., 

.\ •.• "''"'"OOT. 
\ 

"' 
-- -" .. ' "···-· -·~·- _; 

38 •:::~:=~:,r 

\ 
------~· 

,,, 

rB ·---------------" 
42 WI:UIN~TONCIOW: 

28 

' ;§, 
~liZ 
E'" 

%, 
,:ey:,A._,_ 

I _..c--- I -"'"" I ] 16 
,.,_, 14:1 "T r ' 

" 

28 

·,:-., 

i 

-----· 

cn-
CIJ 

40 !IO<m:10ATO.Ow.IT""'= 

t:j'li -
' 
' 

43 :.:,•g,~~~· 

Ga' .. 
~------- .. --.. / 

44 ·,:&~·~~~:;'~~" 

~ 
~-(:l•J 

I ENTER (EXIT) I 

Figure4-58 
Saturday Afternoon Peak Hour Project-generated Trips, Medford 

Source: Howarcl!Stein-Hudson Associates, Inc., 2013 



Wynn Everett 

Wynn Everett 
Everett, Massachusetts 

-.. 
~:;::; _,"'' 

..J!l.. f~ ..,:, ...... 
~:J "'Iii""" 
~~::: ::::::::> 

~ ;I 
J't.§ ~~t4 
•--' ,m_ 

Draft Environmental lmp<J.ct Report 

34,--~==------.,, 35 •ciJT~>O.O.TC!:NTIW..A\IE~U~ 
.~ .. -- I) 

36 !<O~OATIIl111:1"1otAV0~04 

' ' 

I> 
;:.) 

·f~:~· '--•• -m 

•" ,_, 
l02-

"• """"'\~ -G.,:.~ 

. _______________ .) 

38 '=•vt~~~~~~T 

_,..':(}'".:"" . 
;.>.:.\"'"\.1-

..,_ 1lO ·-~ 
-·~ 1 " ' .;-1 ~""""''"'· i 
' '"""""""'"" .,.J , .. _ 

•• """'\~;. ·?·t> 
I 
I 
I 
I 

" ------ ' ________ ) 
39 =~Jr=?J.f.i 

" 

~i 
'~I 
' ~ 

1· i 
=:=-c__)i 

42 W<W•nTO""'""'"" 

28 
&~ 
,~J>'.f-_,_ 

' gr,__ gg 

!i~ 
g§ 
"' 

~I ,, 
! 
\ 

1
--- \ CIRct.£ I 116 

-- \ Jl~ I ~N:- , 
'"""--" ""::: 

~ 
g 
28; i 

=-=-------~~----_-----~~ 

;:E~~ 

~I'" 
,_, 
-1l) .-• 

II!V<O,..AVC. 

~~!r 
o:;!£l:"; ~~::: ... 

40 01011l<10Al"LCOIJ:IT®i(CI 

~p,; g 'I ~ '-• t.. _,, 

lii~ •m-

43 """'"'"""""""""""'T11111 ........ ..,.,.o ............ 

lrf·" 
4:>4<.. :;,-··-~ • 

II Jl OOim!10YiCOT001l""AT"Oo~ 

'"i-'il- ni'"""'"""""""'"""" 

'~· 

" 

~ 
CJI 
··---------' 

Figure4-66 
Build (2023) Saturday Afternoon Peak Hour Traffic Volumes, Medford 

Source: Howard/Stein-Hudson Associates, Inc.,. 2013 



Table 5 Intersection Operations Analysis: Saturday Peak Hour (Medford) 

Existing (2013) Conditions No Build (2023) Coru:fltlons Build (2023) Conditions Build (2033) Conditions~ Mitigated 

Intersection VIC 
50% 95% VIC SO% 9S% VIC SO% 95% 

I IVIC\50%195% lOS Delay Queue Queue LOS Delay Queue Q~~ LOS Delay Queue Queue 
Ra.tio L~gth len~h 

Ratio Length L~ 
Ra.tio length Length 

LOS Delay Ra.tio Q~~~ Queu; 
Len h lengtn 

Riverside WB thru/right c 27.9 0.28 60 184 c 28.5 0.29 63 190 c 28.5 0.29 63 190 
Fellsway (Route 28) NB left D 52.1 0.73 74 193 E 55.6 0.77 83 !f230 E 55.6 0.77 83 !f230 
Fellsway (Route 28) NB thru 1 thru c 20.8 0.34 90 214 c 21.2 0.39 105 248 c 21.3 0.39 1QG 2S2 I thrufright 
Fe!Js;vay (Route 28) SB left D 45.8 0.49 21 74 D 48.3 0.54 23 79 D 48.3 0.54 23 79 
Riverside EB left c 25.6 0.39 87 217 c 26.9 0.46 109 260 c 27.0 0.47 111 26S 

38. (5) Harvard Street/Mystic Avenue E 56.3 E 55.4 E 57.6 (Route38) 
Harvard EB leftlthru I thru/right D 40.5 0.59 203 264 D 41.2 0.62 220 283 D 41.2 0.62 220 283 
Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 1 6) 

D 42.7 0.81 303 1f452 D 49.1 0.87 333 #508 D 50.3 0.87 337 m#477 WB!eft 
Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 16) 

D 53.9 0.91 391 fF590 E 69.2 0.98 429 #658 E 70.0 0.98 431 miF629 WBthru 
Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 16) 

D 42.7 0.27 9S 1SS D 38.9 0.34 111 17S D 39.9 0.35 96 m166 No proposed mitig<~tion 
WB right 
Mystic (Route 3B) NB left E 62.9 0.59 46 92 E 66.4 0.63 so 99 E 66.4 0.63 so 99 
Mystic (Route 38) NB thru 1 0 43.3 0.38 7S 124 0 44.3 0.44 90 142 D 44.3 0.44 90 142 
thru/right 
Mystic (Route 38) SE left F 219.2 1.27 -179 IJ-258 F 169.3 1.13 -147 .fl287 F 193.4 1.20 -163 lf308 
Mystic (Route 38) SB thru I D 40.9 0.36 " 115 D 40.5 0.32 86 127 D 40.S 0.32 86 127 thru!rlght 

39. (5) Harvard StreetJMystic Val!ey 
Parkway (Routt! 16)/Mystic Valley c 30.5 0 38.1 0 40.6 
Parkway (Route 16) Southbound 
Connector 
Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 16) 

' 13.2 0.37 149 m159 ' 12.0 0.36 141 m163 ' 12.4 0.37 14S m165 EB thru I thru No proposed mitigation 
Mystic ;~lley Parkway (Route 16) B 14.6 0.48 237 266 B 14.5 0.47 231 282 8 14.5 0.47 234 28S I WB thru thru I Mystic Valley [Route 16) SB left 1 
loft E 57.3 0.96 41S it526 E 78.0 1.04 -476 #624 E 78.0 1.04 -476 #624 

Mystic Valley (Route 16) SB right D 35.9 0.60 186 284 D 35.8 0.60 184 293 D 53.2 0.88 318 !F522 
40. (S) Mystic Valley Parkway (Route c 23.1 F 91.8 F 88.9 

16)/locust Street 
Mystic Valley PariCV>tay (Route 16) 0 50.3 0.68 125 168 F 823.3 2.69 -221 #328 F 823.3 2.69 -221 if328 
EB left I left 
Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 16) B 11.0 0.63 312 40S B 11.5 0.67 34S 480 ' 12.9 0.73 410 S70 No proposed mitigation EB thru I thru 
Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 16) B 18.9 0.48 221 304 c 28.5 0.56 300 376 c 29.1 0.69 316 397 
WS thru I thru ! thru 
Locust SB left E 55.5 0.81 212 291 0 54.8 0.80 204 302 D 54.8 0.80 204 302 
locust SB right 1 right D 37.3 0.13 0 31 D 37.4 0.12 0 40 D 37.4 0.12 0 40 

41. (S) Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 
A 7.7 A 8.2 A 8.5 

16)/Commcrcial Street No proposed mitigation 
Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 16) D 41.5 0.42 30 67 D 41.4 0.45 32 70 D 41.4 0.45 32 70 



Lanes, Volumes, T!mlilgs 
39: Mystic Val!~y Parkway (Route 16) & Route 16 SB Connector 

Laoo Conf.g•Jratio~s 
~~t~!re-{vph) 0 

1B(t(l 

H tt ~ j1 
743 900 0 IJ.Il.l§.J 352 

I:Bal flow(vphpQ 190\} 1900 1900 f90j 1900 

r,.;; '""" (fi) Qada{%) " 14 14 12 12 12 

§fgs?gelenglh(ft) 
S~%>Jd Lanes 
J~per ~tngt!! (fi) 
L~ne Ufl Fador 
Ped B&eF.xW 
Frt 
f!tPmteckd 
Sald. Flo.v {prot) 
f]Pe•mtied 
Said, Fbw (perm) 
~iJ~!TumonRed 
~~~~t Fkm(RTOR) 
kink Speed (mph} 
l.ii\kOis!ance{ft) 
l)avcl T liW (s) 
~o~~· Peds. (#;'hr) 
~fl. Bikes {11th~ 
PeakHoorFactor 
G':i!WthFactor 
f!BW;Vehl.;lcs(%) 
~!fi Blockages (#t..r} 
Pa~.i;g (IM1~ 

Jl:.rl-B!ock T raff.c {%) 
AdJ. Flow ~ph} 
~~¥00 lane Traffic(%} 
~~nt! Group FhH (vph) 
J:umTy~ 
Prclecled Phases 
fermitredPha~ 
~lector Phase 
~.\\icilPhase 
l.f.-n!mumlnltia!(s) 
M"iOOmSplJ!•I 
Total Sp!it (s) 
TotaiSptt(%) 
Yel!owTrrr.t!(s} 
@-Red Tlfne (s) 
~osllima Ad}u>t(s) 
To)allos!Ture{s) 
leadlag 
LeadbJ Optimize? 
Reca11Mode 
MEWc!Gree~(sJ 
Actu&d g/C Ratio 
\•,bRaia 
Control Delay 
9kue,Oelay 
TolalDela'; 
~OS 
Approach Delay 
~pproach lOS 
9.~ue length 50th (fi) 
Q_ueue UngtlJ S~th {r.) 
Jn.terncl Lin~ Dis! {ft) 
JumBayleng!h(fl) 
§ase Capaci1y {vph) 
~!arvation Cap Redudn 
Sp11b~ck Cap RedudJJ 
~tor age Cap Reduc!Jl 
Reduwjv.'c RaSo 

WetQclfaiiSUffim31i-
Area Typo: 
~Yck leng\h: 120 

0 
0 

sa 
1.00 

0.92 
100% 

0% 
0 

O!her 

0% 

0.95 

3813 

3813 

" 408 
9.2 

0.92 
100% 

1% 
0 

0% 
803 

803 
tiA 
48 

48 

70.0 
0.58 
0.3S 
123 
09 
ll3 

" 13.3 

' Ill 
ml6l 

326 

2224 
1069 

0 
0 

0.70 

0% 

0.95 

3813 

3813 

" 798 
18.1 

M2 
too% 

1% 

0% 
1043 

1043 
NA 
48 

48 

70.0 
0.58 
0.47 
15.2 
0.3 

15.5 
B 

15.5 
8 

231 
2" 
718 

2224 
0 

'" 0 
0.62 

0 
0 

1.M 

y" 

0.92 
100% 

0% 
0 

~c~a.!ed C}·cl<l Lengtll: 120 
!)If~~ 15 {13%}, Reference~ Ia rff!ase !NBT ard G:SBT, Start of Green 
Naturo! Cycle: 95 

· G_,jntid l}'Pe: Actua!ed·Coon!ktaled 

0% 
0 

' sa 
0.97 

0.950 
3467 

0.9-50 
~67 

" 514 
11.7 

0.92 
100% 

1% 
0 

0% 
1170 

1170 
tiA 

" 
" 

4a.o 
0.33 
1.01 
69.7 
00 

69.7 
E 

59.9 
.E 

-476 
11:624 

434 

l\55 
0 
0 
0 

1.01 

1.{10 

0.850 

1615 

1615 
y, 
102 

0.92 
lOO'h 

Oh 
0 

383 

383 
Prot 
12 

12 

40.0 
0.3-3 
0.63 
29.7 

0.1 
29.9 

c 

IBl 
293 

606 
0 

IJ 
0 

0.65 

Maxirnumv/cRatio: 1.13 
Jr,lersecfunSignal lklajr. 3-5.2 
lntersccfon CapadtyUt:.tzafon 65.6% 
~"a!Ys!sPeriod(m~;)15 

lrl!ersect~nlOS: 0 
JCU l€Vel ofSeNlce C 

- Vclume exceeds capac;ty, qll>lllil 1s theore&a~ly Jnf,nlte. 
Ollt!ue sho·~;n Is rnaxhwm a!krtHa cycles, 

# 95th percentilevo!uma ercea<:ls capao~. quewmay be longer. 
{l!Jeue silowo is {'11aX]num <lr.:tU.'O cycles, 

m Volume for 95th f.ercen~~e q-Jeue Is metered bJ'Ups!ream signal. 

6.0 
11.0 
15.0 
lJ% 

3.0 
2.0 

Lead 
y" 

NOlle 

4 

8.0 8.0 
27.0 21.0 
30.0 35.0 
25% 29% 
40 30 
lO lO 

,,, Lea<:! 
y, y, 

C-Mai Nona 

Z:ljobs\ 12\12206- Mintz l£:\~n Casino Pmpos;~Pro;ect'~DEIR\TranspJrtation\S)-T\ChraWo 8u1d 2023-Wed:oro SA T.syn 

6.0 8.0 
11.0 27.0 
15.0 30.0 
13% 25% 

3.0 4.0 
lO 2.0 

le<Jd lag 
y, y, 

Nor.e C-Mu 

8.0 
33.0 
40.0 
33% 

3.0 
2.0 

,., 
y, 

tlone 

Wynn Everett 
No-8L'1d 202J Saturday Pea~ HGur 

- -- I 

------1 

S:tnchm 8 Report 
Peg~ 13 



lanes, Volumes, Timings 
39: Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 16) & Route i 6 SB Connector 

Z:IJohs\ 12\12208 - t.fn!z levin CBsho PropC>;a1 .Pro}=ct\OE\R\ Trans~-Jrta6on\Syr:c~ro\Na Bu 1d 21)2J\~Iedford SA T.syn 

Wynn Everett 
tlo..Su?d 2023 Sa:Urday Peak Hour 

Sj'OC~ro 8 ReP')rl 
Paga 14 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Ana!ys!s 
39: My:sUc Valley Parkway: (Route 16) & Route 16 SB Connector 

.!' ---<> <-- "-. "' 
.j 

~!0\..:ffienl EBC EST VlBT WBR SBL sarc· 
lana Conf~ur~t:ions tt tt rri f 
Y~t.i~(vphj 0 743 "' 0 JSZ 
~feal Fh.v(\phpl) 1900 1900 1900 1SOO 1900 1900 
t~W"dth 11 H " 12 12 11 
Tolallost~me (s) 5.0 50 5.0 5.0 
l-ane Utll. Factor 0.95 0.95 0.97 1.00 
Frt 1.00 1.00 1.0J 0.85 
!'J.t.Pru[etted 1.00 1.00 0.9S f.OO 
Se~. H:;w (prot) 3813 3813 346.7 1515 
fltPerrnitled f.OO 1.00 0.95 1.00 
Sa!d. Flo·.v em 3813 3313 3457 1615 
fea!t:-hourfac!or, PHF 0.92 0.92 0.92 091 0.92 0.92 
Adj.F!ow(>ph) 0 803 fO.fJ 0 1170 38J 
B.1Qfl Reduction (vph} 0 0 0 0 0 69 
~ana_ Group FhN (~p~) 0 803 f04J 0 1170 314 
He~ · Vehlc!es % 0% f% f% 0% f% 0% 
Tum Type IJA NA IJA Prot 
frotedcd Phase5 40 40 " f1 
Permitted Phases 
Ac!~aled Gree11, G(s) 70.0 70.0 39.0 39.0 
~~~ctr.•e G-een, !I (s) 70.0 70.0 39.0 :i9.0 
Act~a!OO giC Ratio 0.58 0.5~ 0.32 0.32 
C~_ru;a_;loo Trme (s) 
Vehk!e EdeM\on s 
lane Grp Cap (vph) 2224 2224 1126 524 
v/sRatii)Prol 0.21 c{\.27 c{l_34 1}.19 
v!sRa~l) Pwn 
~·rP~atil) 0.36 0.47 1.04 0.60 
Un~orrn Delay, d1 hi 14J 40.5 34.0 
Progression Factor 0.90 l.OO 1.00 f.OO 
Jncr~ntal Delay, d2 O.f 0.1 37.5 f.9 
_Qela<J(s) 12.0 f4; 78.0 35.8 
Le~elofServke B B E D 
Appro~ Delay{s) no 14.5 67.6 
Approach lOS B B E 

- ----·-··--· 
I 
I 

120.0 s~moflostt:me(s) 21.0 
65.6% /CUlevelofServk:e c 

" 

Z:~obs\ 12\12205 • f.fr~tz le\1.~ Casino Pmposa1.Pru;ect\DEIR\TranspJr8~cmiSrnchroWo BuH 2023Wedford SAT.;yn 

-

Wynn Everett 
No-Bu~d 2023 Sa~.,rday Pea~ Hour 

---------

Sync~cro 8 R~ort 
P~15 



Lanes, Volumes, Timings 
39: M~slic Vallei Parkwa~ (Route 16) & Route 16 SB Connector 

.fo -+ <- -\.. \. ./ 
~aneGrou[! ------- -Ei:il-~-~~ WB1f~-Siifl- -Qj . ~~---~~ 

lane ConfigOJrat~ns H -tt 
iro\>;oo ~~\j 0 752 969 0 
Ideal Flow {vphp~ 1900 190•) 1900 iSOO 
kaneVf!?~(ll) " 14 " 12 
2~ddj~l. 0% O'h 
Rt~rage lengih (fi} 0 0 
S!Jrage Lar.es 0 0 
r~_l!if!9!l)Jfi) 50 
lane Ufl Factor 1.00 0.95 0Jl5 1.00 
red ~ike Factor 
Frt 
\=hPro!ected 
SBtd. Fb.v {prot) 3813 3313 
fiPeim~ed 
Sa tel. FfJ~N {penn) 3813 3313 0 
R,i~FJTumO!lRed y., 
Said Fh•1 [RTOR) 
))1\.~Sjieed{mph) ,., 30 
~nk Dis!_an~.e (ft) 400 798 
fra~~ Tnna {s) 9.2 18.1 
Conll. Peds. [#illll 
.t?Oil B4'"-es {MM 
P~a~ How Factor 0.92 O.S2 0.92 0.92 
QjOWthFa,ct·x 100~~ 100% WO% 100% 
HeavJVehlcles(%) 0% 1% 1% 0% 
~U~ Blockages (fl\'hr} 0 0 0 0 
f.a~.(IMu1 
11.:4-B!ocliTraffic(%) 0% 0% 
Mi· flow (vp~) 
1)]\ared lane Traftc(%) 

817 1053 

lane Group Fb.v(vph) 817 1053 0 
):umT~pe NA NA 
Protected Phases 48 48 
I'~ Phases 
Detector Phase 48 48 
~i-tCh Phase 
ll1nlmum Initial (s) 
jJJ~~SPrt{sJ 
T~i~Sp!:t(s) 
Jo_talspt!{'!.) 
YeH<J~tTime (s) 
M~I~(sl 
~osl_llrna M;ust (s) 
To!allos!Tnna{s) 
lead\.ag 
J.e.;d-lag Optimize? 
Reca~Mode 
(.,clEI".d.Green(s) 70.0 70.0 
~~tualed g/C RaSa 0.58 0.58 
v/cRatia 0.37 0.47 
Conrr"ot.Oelay m 15.3 
PueueOcll)' 1.0 0.3 
To!aiDelay 13.7 15.6 
lOS B B 
Approach Delay 13.7 15.6 
f.ppiqaclllOS B B 
_9ueoo length 50th (II) 145 234 
g_ue_~ leng~ 95111 (ft) m165 "' !~l.emalUnk Dis! (fl) 326 718 
TumBaylenglh{ft) 
Base Capacfty (vph) 2224 2224 
_&alvari()n C<ip Redudn 1070 0 
~pf¥~£~Qap Redudo 0 553 
$.!\ll~.ge Cap Reduct.1 0 0 
Reduced v/c RaSo 0.71 0.63 

ln!?iw:tion SIJ!llmary 
Area Twe: Other 
ty...~l,.englh:12G 
Actuated Cycle length: j2i} 
Plf?el: 15 {IJ%), ReferenceJ lo phase 2:N6T ari.I6:S6T, Startof&een 
Natura! CJ'C!e: 95 
~h\fo! Type: AdtlaEd-Co!Y'd?oaled 
Maximum vfr; Ratio: 1.20 

(1~il I' 

"' 1900 1900 

" " 0% 
0 0 

' 1 
50 

0.97 j.QI} 

0.850 
0.950 
3467 1515 

0.951} 
3467 1615 

y,. 
100 

30 
514 
11.7 

0.92 0.92 
100% 106% 

1% (j'/, 

0 0 

0% 
1170 520 

1171} 526 
NA Prot 
12 12 

12 12 

40.0 ~0.0 
0.33 0.33 
1.01 o.a7 
69.7 46.6 
0.0 1.1 

69.7 47.7 
E 0 

62.9 
E 

-476 JIB 
W24 t152l 
434 

!!55 605 
0 0 
0 14 
0 0 

1.{11 0.89 

jnier;;ec!ion Sign;;! Delay: 37.7 Intersection lOS: D 
!n!arsectlon C-apocily UtilizaSJn 65.5% !CU level ofServ'.:e C 
1\QafjSls Period (mln) f5 
- Vol!l!lie exc.:eds capac:ty, quaua !s theort!GTiy b~nla. 

Queue shown is maxi:nu:t~ art.!r t~Jo cycles, 
# 95th percenge volume eJ·ceeds capacily, queue may ba bnger, 
OJ~ shown I; \11~1mum aPo:rWQ cyc~s. 

m Volume for 95th percent:!e qooue Is me!-~ red byu~>!ream slgnal 

,, 

6.0 8.0 
11.0 27.0 
15.0 30.0 
13% 25% 

3.0 4.0 
2.0 20 

lead log 
y., y, 

flone G-l.!ax 

Z:\jobs\ I 2\12206 - l.!:ntz le•JJl Casho Pmposa!.ProjecfJ!EtR\Trar.sportat:On\SJ'I1Chro\Bu'Jd 2023Wcdfood SA T.s/'11 

"' 

4 

8.0 
21.0 
35.0 
,~. 

3~0 

2.Q 

leO':l 
y, 

11oM 

--~ ~as-------oa·------

8.0 8.0 8.0 
11.0 27.0 JlO 
15.(} 30.0 40.0 
13% 25% 3J% 

3.0 4.0 3.0 
20 2.~ 20 

lead log l"!l 
Yo. y., y., 

None C-Max None 

Wynn Everett 
Bu:'d 202J SaltirdayPea'~ Hour 

---------- -::J 

Synchro 8 Report 
Pagd 14 



Lanes, Volumes, Timings 
;'39: Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 16) & Route 16 SB Connector 

3S: MYSti>J Va'lay Pa~•W<>/(Rou!e 16) & Roula 16 SB Co:m<:ctcr 

l'f "'" 

Z:Vobs\12\ 12206 • ~.fn!z lev:~ Ca;iilo ProposafPro;cct\DEIR\Transportation\S/Tithm1,Bui'd 2023Wcdford SA T.syn 

Wynn Everett 
Bu:Jd 2023 Saturda:t Pea~ Hour 

&1nchro 8 Re~.ort 
Pcga 15 



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis 
39: Mystic Vallel Park\vay (Route 16} & Route 16 SB Connector 

.!' ---<> 
[.lOv;;rncnt EBL - 'EBT 
Lane Conf19Urat:ons tt 
)JO!•,Hnd (vph) 0 752 
ld~al Flow {vpht·Q 1900 1900 
~~Wid(h l1 l4 
To!al.lostfune {s) 5.0 
~~e u~1, Fedor 0.95 
Frt 1.00 
fl.i.Prqte_cl~. 1.QQ 
Sa~. fJ,)W (prol) 3813 
fljPWnq:ed too 
Sa:d. Flow m; 3813 

eak-hourfacfur, PHF 0.92 0.92 
Adj. F1ow{vph) 0 Bl7 
B.TOfi Reductio11{vph) 0 0 
lane Group Fh.v (vph) 0 Bl7 
Hea Vehldas % 0% l% 
J~rn Tjtpe NA 
Prcl~>:!ed Pluses 48 
Permitted Ph3ses 
~\u•#d Grfeh, G (s} 70.0 
Eff~Ui;e Green, g (s) 70.0 
~CbJai.e-d gfC Rat'o IJ.58 
Clearance Trme {s} 
Vcl&f1 E)teM!on s 
Lar,e Grp Cap (vph) 22:24 
~js.l{aooProt o:2j 
vls Rafu Perm 
\:~c~~a IJ.37 
Uni'oon Del:rJ, dl 13.-3 
Progression Fador 0.93 
~ncremental Delily, d2 0.1 
P~lay{s) l24 
levelofSel\'lce 8 
~pj}r_g~Ch.~lit(s) l24 
Approach LOS B 

.,__. 

WBT 
tt 

"" 1SOO 
l4 

5.0 
0.95 
1.00 
too 

:i813 
too 

3813 
0.92 
1053 

0 
1053 

l% 
NA 
48 

70.0 
70.0 
0.58 

2224 
c0.28 

0.47 
14.4 
LOO 
0.2 

14.6 
B 

14.6 
B 

15 

"'- \. <I 
WBR SBl SBR 

uili] r 
0 8 "" 1900 1900 !900 

l2 l1 l1 
5.0 5.0 

0.97 1.01J 
l.OO 0.85 
0.95 1.00 
3457 16.15 
0.95 too 
3407 1615 

0.92 0.92 091 
0 1170 52'0 
0 0 " 0 1170 459 

0% l% 0% 

"' Prot 
l2 l2 

39.1} 39.0 
39.0 39.1) 
0.32 0.32 

1120 524 
Co.J.l 0.23 

1.04 0.83 
41J.5 38.2 
l.Oil 1.00 
37,5 15.0 
7M 512 

E D 
70.J 

E 

Surnofbs!time (s) 
ICUlewlofSwloo 

Z;\jobs\ 12\12205 • IJ.inlz LeV:n Casino Proposaf Proje(\\DE IR\Transportat:oniS) nchro\Bu'!d 202JWcdford SA T.s~TI 

21.0 
c 

Wynn Everett 
Buid 2013 Saturday Peak Huur 

Synchro 8 Report 
Page 16 



WYNN EVERETT TRAFFIC IMP ACT PEER REVIEW ATTACHMENT MATERIAL§ 
City of Medford 

Wellington Circle 



Tub!~ 2 lnt~rs~ction Op~rations Analysis: PM Peak Hour (Medford) 

Existing (2013) Conditions No Build (2.023) Conditions Build (2.023) Conditions Build {2.023) Conditions M Mitigated 

lnt~rscction VIC SO% 95% 
VIC 

SO% 9S% 
VIC SO% 9S'l'o I lvlcl

5
'%1"% LOS D~by Ratio 

Qu~ue Queue LOS D~lay Ratio Qu~ue Queue LOS Delay Ratio Queue Queue LOS Delay Ratio Queu~ Queue 
Length Length lcnj;th Length length Length len;rth Lcn)ct:h 

EB left 
Mystic Va.lley P<lrkway (R.outc 16) 

A 6.2 0.70 218 346 A 7.8 0,78 287 468 A 9.1 0.83 334 552 EB thru l thru 
Mystic Valley Pi!rk:way (Route 1 6) 

B 11.1 0.60 234 371 B 13.4 o.n 318 504 B 13.9 0.74 335 530 WB thru j thru 
Mystic Valley Pill"kway (Rout~ 16) 

A 7.4 0.18 31 75 A 7.7 0.20 35 84 A 7.7 0.20 35 84 WBright 
Commerclal SB l~ft D 39.6 0.43 41 84 D 39.7 0.44 43 87 D 39.7 0.44 43 87 
Commercial SB right D 36.5 0.06 0 42 D 36.4 0.06 0 42 D 36.4 0.06 0 42 

42a. (5) Mystic Valley/Revere Beach 
Parkway (Route 16)/Fellsway (Rout~ 
28)/ Middlesex Avenue (aka D 54.8 F 8&.6 F 102.5 
Wellington Circle)- West 
lnters~ction 
Mystic Valley Park:way (Route 16) 
EB thru I thru I thru J thru l D 48.3 0.96 287 tt358 F 102.8 1.13 -4D5 1!472 F 130.3 1.20 -449 /1'515 
thrulright 
Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 1 6) E 67.8 0.89 274 mif330 F 102.8 1.08 -355 mif419 F 124.1 1.13 -388 mff-429 See analysis results below WB left l left l left 
Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 15) B 13.7 o.n 152 m222 c 22.8 0.91 290 m353 c 24.1 0.93 306 m346 
WB thru I thru 
Fellsway (Route 28) SB left 1 left F 197.6 1.31 -236 4P342 F 285.1 1.51 -296 4.407 F 293.3 1.53 -302 ;'1413 
Fellsway (Route 28) SB thru I thru J D 53.6 0.82 118 1/:172 E 64.3 0.92 136 4~208 E 64.3 0.92 136 'il'208 thrulright 
Middlesex SWB left J left I leftJbe::~r 

' 13.7 0.68 12 14 ' 16.1 0.76 14 17 ' 16.1 0.76 14 17 right 
Middlesex SWB bear right 8 13.7 0.43 6 11 B 14.5 0.45 6 m12 B 14.5 0.45 6 m12 

42b. (S) Mystic Valley/Revere Beach 
Parkway (Route 16)1fcllsway (Route 
28)/ Middlesex Avenue (aka D 40.1 E 74.4 F 83.1 
Wellington Circle)- East 
lnters~ction 
Mystic Valley Pill"kway (Route 16) 

D 46.5 0.69 118 m119 D 47.1 0.75 128 m110 D 47.4 0.75 128 m105 EB left )left 
Mystic Valley Parkway (Rout~ 16) c 25.6 1.01 -162 m168 F 103.4 1.19 -554 m/~171 F 131.8 1.25 -606 m-1~171 
EB thru l thru [ thru I thru 
Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 16) c 26,7 0,71 276 313 c 33.4 0.91 392 438 D 36.6 0.94 419 1F472 

See analysis results below 
WB thru J thru 1 thru J thru J thru 
Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 16) D 35.4 0.78 265 it430 E 79.3 1.05 -474 -lfr701 F 83.2 1.06 -485 1f712 WB right 
Fellsw:::ty (Route 28) NB left D 43.1 0.78 248 -1!'406 E 61.4 0.94 318 41'536 E 61.4 0.94 318 if:536 
Feltsway (Route 28) NB left/ thru I E 59.3 0.99 358 ffr508 F 97.9 1.11 -468 lf606 F 97,9 1.11 -468 -11'606 thru 
Fellsway (Route 28) NB bear right F 145.1 1.21 -466 if675 F 203.0 1.35 -558 ff775 F 203.0 1.35 -558 :ff775 
Fellsw<~y (Route 28) NB right ] right c 20.6 0.76 303 401 c 25.4 0.86 380 505 c 27.8 0.89 409 if572 



Table 2 Intersection Operatio~ Analysis: PM Peak Hour (Medford) 

Intersection 

42c. (S) Mystic Valley/Revere Beach 
Parkway (Route 16)/FeiJsway (Route 
2&){ Middlesex Avenue (aka 
Wellington Circle)- North 
Intersection 
Fellsway (Route 23) NB thru I thru 
1 thru 
Middlesex SWB thru I thru I thru I 
thrulright 

(S) sir;nalized intersection 
(U} unsignalized intersection 

LOS 

B 

A 

D 

Existin& (2013) Conditions 

VIC 
50% 

Delay 
Ratio 

Queue 
length 

15.7 

5.0 0.43 121 

36.3 0.50 107 

Grey shading indicates that the LOS has worsened from previous conditions, 

95% 
Queue LOS 
length 

B 

m187 A 

139 D 

No Build (2023) Conditions Build (2023) Conditions Build (2023) Conditions- Miti&atcd 

VIC 
50% 95% 

VIC 
50% 95% j IVICI50%J9S% Delay 

Ratio 
Queue Queue LOS Delay Ratio 

Queue Queue LOS Delay Raf Queue Queue 
length Length length length 10 lenp:b length 

16.S B 16.& 

See analysis results below 

7.9 0.48 230 m1&7 A 8.0 0.48 231 m1&7 

36.8 0.54 118 151 D 36.9 0.55 118 151 



Table 5 Intersection Opemtions Analysis: Saturday Peak Hour (Medford) 

Existinb (2013) Conditions No Build (2023) Conditions Build (2023) Conditions Build (2033) Conditions- Mitigated 

Intersection V/C SO% 95% V/C 50% 95% V/C 50% 95% 

LOS I I VIC I 50% I 95% lOS Del<ly 
Ratio Q~~~ Queue lOS Delay 

Ratio 
Queue Q~~~ LOS Delay 

Ratio 
Queue Queue Delay Raf Queue Queue 

len h lenmh len~h l~ h length Len,;th lO Len~h Length 
EB left 
Mystic Valley ?arkway (Route 16) A 3.7 0.55 130 200 A 4.3 0.63 170 250 A 4.9 0.68 200 308 
EB thru l thru 
Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 16) A 8.0 0.50 175 271 A 9.0 0.58 225 344 A 9.3 0.61 238 365 
WB thru 1 thru 
Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 16) 

A 5.2 0.08 11 33 A 5.3 0.09 13 37 A 5.3 0.09 13 37 
WBright 
Commercial SB left D 41.2 0.38 28 60 D 41.0 038 27 62 D 41.0 0.38 27 62 

Commercial SB right D 38.6 0.06 0 4{) D 38.5 0.06 0 44 D 38.5 0.06 0 44 
42a. (5) Mystic Valley/Revere Beach 

Parkway (Route 16)/Fcllsway (Route 
28)/ Middlesex Avenue (aka D 52.9 E 77.6 F 85.0 
Wellington Circle)- West 
Intersection 
Mystic Valley ?arkw:ly (Route 16) 
EB thru j thru 1 thru 1 thru ! c 34.8 0.69 188 223 D 38.4 0.82 235 273 D 42.4 0.90 264 -1,!306 
thru/right 
Mystic Valley P<lrkv-.r:J.y (Route 16) 

F 103.9 1.06 -347 ·lf442 F 170.0 1.23 -451 4~546 F 194.5 1.29 -485 mfl:582 See analysis results below WB left 1 left 1 left 
Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 16) A 9.8 0.63 95 156 B 14.1 0.74 162 234 B 15.3 0.77 182 m250 
WB thru I thru 
Fellsway (Route 28) SB left 1 left F 97.8 1.04 -161 4F260 F 152.9 1.20 -208 4f311 F 161.1 1.22 -214 l'l"318 

Fells-.vay (Route 28} SB thru 1 thru I E n.s 0.97 144 ·IF225 F 97.7 1.06 -175 if257 F 97.7 1.06 -175 f}"257 
thru!right 
Middlesex SWB left l left ! left/bear B 14.8 0.75 14 17 ' 16.6 0.81 15 41"24 B 16.5 0.81 15 4F24 
right 
Middlesex SWB bear right B 16.7 0.54 9 m12 B 17.2 0.58 10 m11 8 17.2 0.58 10 m12 

42b. (S) Mystic Valley/Revere Beach 
Parkway (Route 16)/Fcllsway (Route 
28)/ Middlesex Avenue (aka c 27.2" c 29.0 c 29.8 
Wellington Circle)- East 
Intersection 
Mystic Va!ley ?arkway (Route 16) D 48.0 0.60 101 m129 D 47.5 0.66 111 m123 D 47.1 0.66 111 m116 
EB left I left 
Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 16) 

B 17.5 0.68 123 m133 8 18.2 0.82 146 m160 B 18.7 0.89 150 m170 
EB thru ] thru 1 thru j thru 
Mystic Yo.! ley Parkway (Route 16) c 27.7 0.76 312 352 c 30.5 0.85 367 410 c 32.4 0.89 395 440 

See ;ma!ysis results below 
WB thru ] thru I thru j thru I thru 
Mystic V::tllcy Porkway (Route 16) c 33.8 0.75 251 391 D 40.8 0,85 305 #515 D 42.4 0.87 314 l'l"530 
WB right 
Fellsw.ly (Route 28) NB left c 31.7 0.50 141 223 c 32.8 0.54 157 247 c 32.8 0.54 157 247 

Fe!Isway (Route 28) NB left/ thru ] c 29.7 0.49 147 197 c 30.4 0.53 162 219 c 30.4 0.53 152 219 
thw 
Fellsway (Route 28) NB bear right D 51.4 0,87 262 4f429 E 55.4 0.90 275 #461 E 55.4 0.90 275 ·lf461 

Fel!sway (Route 28) NB right I right 8 18.8 0.71 273 351 B 19.5 0.73 287 37B c 20.7 0.77 314 413 



Tab]~ 5 Int~rs~ction Op~rations Analysis: Saturday Peak Hour (Medford) 

Existing (2013) Conditions 

lnt~rs~ction 
LOS Delay 

42c. (5) Mystic Vall~y/Revcre Beach 
Parkway (Route 16)/Fellsway (Route 
28)/ Middlesex Av~nue (aka c 21.9 
Wellington Circle)- North 
Intersection 
Fell sway (Route 28) NB thru l thru 

A 6.3 l thru 
Middlesex SWB thru ! thru ! thru ! D 37.8 
thru/rlght 

"lane use varies between the PM and Saturday peak hours 
(S) signalized intersection 
(U) unslgnalized intersection 

VIC SO% 
Queue 

Ratio 
l~nrrth 

0.24 80 

0.60 130 

Grey shading indicates that the LOS has worsened from previous conditions. 

95% 
Queue LOS 
len~h 

c 

12Z A 

165 D 

No Build (2023) Conditions Build (2023) Conditions Build (2033) Conditions~ Mitigated 

VIC 50% 95% VIC 50% 95% 
I IVICI50%195% o~Jay Queue Queue LOS Delay Queue Queue LOS Delay R f Q~~~ Queue Ratio 

lendh L~cth 
Ratio 

lendh len~ a w len h lcnt;th 

22.0 c 22.0 

See analysis results below 

7.2 029 121 m143 A 7.4 0.29 126 m144 

38.5 0.54 140 177 D 38.5 0.54 140 177 



WYNN EVERETT TRAFFIC IMP ACT PEER REVIEW ATTACHMENT MATERIALS 
City of Medford 

Go ogle Maps Peak Period Travel Time Samples 



WYNN EVERETT TRAFFIC IMPACT PEER REVIEW ATTACHMENT MATERIALS 

City of Medford 

'f A 

~:~·.~ :.::3 ,,. ; ,~;~~~,-., .. ,~~;:·~:~~:~;! .;;;[;~: 
\_',· '~ .. " .• ::--·· ---- ' --- ---- ----~~---~11 -... ,._ 

• f<H--~ .-•. ;.~ 5'?" .- _ ;_ 

• 

' 'i 

,. .,,. 
"0 

1',-r'•;-.l.o•f>(".•\ ./ 
...... 

l'n·•~·.'•\1'..-,-.:. •' 1 

c: . . " ,., ... ;; 

{·'' ;. 
' 

:· .• , .,.,,,, ' ,.,, •. ·.•r .•. ~,•.•,•r•-•J 

;?" 
,,, •t A l!l 
(-";!~)' .. ? 

~ ,, 
+ 

-"'''' ~ 

.,.__) 
,,.,,,,j !· 

" 

-~- 1 ,_, •"•j 

•" 1-'<~;"'("~-""'" 

'\ ., ,_,, ,,, 
(g .• t•"•''" 

!.·,~-···-'" ,.,.(_." - i-'S':·.: ... --,'{ 

(;i_, wwiN:II7J,o/ 
'··~ • • q 

,. ,. 
.,.,.:• \'. 

_;_: 

~~ 

0 

"'" :·, . :.: :-."-

,,. 
' 

\; .. ,,, 
([J 

( 

i 
~l 

Sh!;o 

~,~~.', 

.•. i 
-~- !;•,•!\ ._._ •. .,.~ 

I··· 

r. ,_., 

n,,,-.fi. • •or. ,,.,., 

. ,,,.,,1 
·' .- E: 

/u.-J!.•/;-\rl';~/::-0 

' .. 

' . 
t<N•.!f'..-\ 

\~,~·i' 

i 
··: 



WYNN EVERETT TRAFFIC IMP ACT PEER REVIEW ATTACHMENT MATERIALS 
City of Medford 

~ 

·r 
.:t 9 lt.SBro~d"-:.o.y.Ewr~:U/..1,01\49 

~ ;n:.;rm:e 9~. s:·c~=~~~tUl. 021€0 

<I, 

--~ ,i.• 

,._. 
M•'>:'">' 

~-'-"'·~·!·· 

(~I 

' ;!. 
r·~>'<l'•-•·1 

"""'"oro 

I',\,•;" I·'' 
'•. 

., 
., .• ·t1(, 

' 

\ 
'· @·~ 

i ·, c,, 
,, ~(c.!;/1•.-r.(« 

;·--·~· '! :f;· 
:~o-.. /,,..,...,,,,~--1 

! 'f A 

9 12$ ElrcM\•.o:y. Ewr~<t. IA~021l9 

o/ ln.;rs:t:e 93. s:cr .... ~~\ t,\.1,021~0 

"\. 

>!,.· 

~·~·< ... 
• ~._111!•<1"'< 

(j) 

(.!) 

--•.. 

•• ftJ,nt<c•<O 
l'<ft>t]i .,, 

;·"~'-~-@I 
;:r-:>:...•11_-~,,,.,.,J 

-~­., 
''· 

·,,.,,., 

'·!<-,.,.,, . ,_ ___ ,,._.._,.. _____ , 

X 

II 

·, G 
l .• -. "' '-~ '. aJ .,,,_,4_,~·-·•'h-'-" 

~) -~ 
-~_..v;y•"•·l ~,,, 

"' ~'"~~oo-~1~'1 

(•'"":'"·~\ 

" ·•.' 
t\),,"c"'""'' 

\ 
""".:­

r;,;,a.~-~'r"' 

'"- £1 ·:-,, ~ 

i 
tr.,_.,\>~t ~q 

-~ .... , .. 
l~~-t:~\ 

" ,,_.,.,.,~, ... 
/!o·k;<ro.o•,"'' 

! 
( 

@ 



WYNN EVERETT TRAFFIC IMP ACT PEER REVIEW ATTACHMENT MATERIALS 

City of Medford 

~.,, •• j 

',· ... ,_ 

'•.·. 

1·•--.·~· 

''"'""''··· ... 

\ ··· .. ,, 
-~., .. ~ .. ,. 
·' ,,. ~·-. ·,, 

' ~ ..... s.~• 
r-~'"""" 

\ 
' 

.\ 
' ' .., 

'"'''·' ,·,-, 

,,. ,_ ............... , 

m 
;:; ' 

,, ,f . 

f 

•· .. 

' ., 

., 

'· ·: .,, 
.-~h.>.'>~ll'~' 

'\_ ,_ ..... 
·~-······· 

' }''' <c, ,., 

(..,' \· 
.CJ 

\ 
' 

,. 
l_i.i heM 

•"t:·.o; 
.. ,~·:; 



SUI11lOUNDING COMMUNITY AGilEEMENT 

lly and Be.lwnen tho City of Medford, Massachusotts ond Wynn MA, I.I.C 

This Surrounding Community Agreement (this "~11l-~J11ent") Is made and entered Into as of April 11, 2014 
(the "Elfectlv~_Date"), by and between the City of Medford, Massachusetts ("M~dford"), a municipal corporation 
organized under the laws of tho Commonwealth of Massachusetts, with principal offices located at 85 George P. 
Hassett Dr., Medford, MA 02:\55, Massachusetis, acting by and through Its Mayor, and Wynn, MA LLC ("Wvm\"), duly 
organized under the laws of the State of Nevada, with principal address and offices located at 3131. Las Vegas 
Boulevard South, Las Vegas, Nevada 891.09. Hereafter, the parties may also be collectively referred to as the 
11 Pal·tj_~Jt. 

GENEilA1.11ECITALS 

Pursuant to Chapter 194 of the Acts and 11esolves of 2011, and Commonwealth of Massachusetts General 
Laws Chapter 231<, the Massachusetts Gaming Act (the "Act"), Wynn has applied to the Massachusetts Gaming 
Commission {the "Commission") for a Category l gmning license to develop a luxury hotel and destination resort on 
the site (the "Prolect Site") depleted in Ix..hl!!!il\.ln Everett, Massachusetts (the "Prolect"); 

And whereas, Medford shares a border with the City of Everett, Massachusetts, and may be Impacted by the 
development of the Project, and the Act and regulations relating thereto, lncludlne 205 CMI\ 125.00 e(· seq., permit 
Wynn to enter surrotmdlng community agreements to address surrounding community Impact as well as 
demonstrate advancement of the Act and public support for Its proposed development; 

And whereas, Medford believes that the Project will bring economic development to Medford, create new 
jobs for Medford residents and new sources of revenue for the Medford business community, and as such, Medford 
desires to enter Into this Agreement with Wynn to address the anticipated Impact on Medford businesses, residents, 
Infrastructure, public safety, transportation and roadway needs; 

And whereas, Wynn desires to mitigate any adverse Impacts from the development and operation of the 
Project through the means described herein In accordance with the Act, and Medford desires to mitigate any 
anticipated adverse Impacts from the development and operation of the Project through the means described herein, 
and to work proactively with Wynn to capitalize on the unique nature of Medford's community resources; 

Accordingly, In consideration of the terms and conditions set forth herein and to effectuate the purposes set 
forth above the Parties enter this Agreement and hereby agree to be bound by the terms and conditions set forth 
herein. 

I~HMS ANIJ COND11J9NS 

1,. Medford as a rranslJ.ort~tlon Hub 

l..l. The Parties recognize and agree that the City of Medford Is tmlquely situated to play an Important role as a 
"transportation hub" for the Project. This shall Include but not be limited to: 

To facilitate public transportation to th<J Project, the Parties shall identify a specific portion of Wellington 
MBTA Station In Medford and/or surrounding area to be used exclusively for Wy.nn shuttles serving Wynn 
gtJests, invitees, employees and/or vendors of the Project arriving to the area via ptrbllc transportation 
Including buses, trains or commuter rail services. 



The Parties will explore the use of cover·ed parking facilities within the City of Medford to provide additional 
off-site parking for Wynn employees and/or vendors who would utilize Wynn shuttles to and from the 
Project, The specifics of such an agreement, if one can be reached, shall be contained In a separate 
document outlining the terms of such agreement In Its entirety. 
The Parties shall work together to promote Medford as a "tra11sportation hub" for Wynn guests, Invitees, 
employees and/or vendors while also providing said Individuals with a positive Impression of the City of 
Medford. The foregoing Will be accomplished through mutually agreed upon promotional materials and 
Improvements (lnclt!dlng, without limitation, safety upgrndes, Improved lighting, fixtures, signage and 
beautification efforts) to Wellington MBTA Station in Medford and surrounding area. 
111 addition, the Parties will work with Medford's business community to promote and support businesses so 
that they may benefit from ond effectuote the use of Medford as a "transportation hub," as contemplated 
herein, 

:1.,2, In recognition of the above, and contingent upon the receipt by Wynn of an unconditional, non-appealable 
award by the Massachusetts Gaming Commission of a Category 1 license for the Project (the "License"), Wynn has 
agreed to poy to the City of Medford the following amounts (collectively, the "Transp<J.rtatlon Hub Payment"): 

1.2.A. An annual payment of Three Hundred Twenty Five Thousand Dollars ($325,000,00), which amount 
shall be due on or before the ninetieth (901

h) day following the opening of the Project to the general public and on 
each annual annlversory thereof. The annual payment shall continue for as long as Wynn, or any parent, subsidiary 
or related entity, owns, controls or operates a commercial gaming facility at the Project Site, The purpose of this 
annual payment Is to enable Medford to promote the use of Wellington MBTA Station In Medford and Its 
surrounding areas as a "transportation hub" for Wynn guests, invitees, employees and/or vendors through mutually 
agreed upon promotional materials and improvements (Including, without limitation, safety upgrades, improved 
lighting, fixtures, sign age and beautification efforts). 

1.2.B. An annual payment of one Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000.00), which amount shall be due on or 
before the ninetieth (901h) day following the opening of the Project to the general public and on each annual 
anniversary thereof. This annual payment shall continue for as long as Wynn, or any parent, subsidiary or related 
entity, owns, controls or operates a commercial gaming facility at the Project Site. The purpose of this annual 
payment Is to enable Medford to assist businesses In effectuating aesthetic upgrades and enable them to participate 
in the opportunities that will be available as a result of the Project's use of Medford as a "transportation hub," 

:l,2,C. Notwithstanding anything herein to tl.le contrary, the Transportation Hub Payment shall remain In the 
exclusive custody and control of Medford, and shall be used and applied at Medford's ·sole discretion and 
determination toward any Impact, Infrastructure, improvement and/or mitigation measures related to the Project 
that Medford deems necessary and suitable. 

2.1, As a result of the "transportation hub" resulting In additional pedestrian and vehicular traffic, the Parties 
recognize and agree that there may be a need for Increased pollee, fire, traffic and public works personnel to 
maintain roadway safety due to Increased use. 

?..2. In recognition of the above, and contingent t!pon the receipt of an unconditional, non-appealable license, Wynn 
has agreed to pay to the Medford an annual payment of Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($250,000.00), which 
amount shall be due on or before the ninetieth (90'h) day following the opening of the Project to the general public 
and on each annual annlversa1-y thereof. The annual payment shall continue for as long as Wynn, or any parent, 
subsidiary or related entity, owns, controls or operates a commercial gaming facility at the Project Site, The purpose 



of this payment is to enable Medford to fund staffing and other public safety Initiatives related to Increased 
pedestrian and vehicular trolflc In the City of Medford. 

3,1., The Parties recognize and <1gree that the Project Is likely to provide certain opportunities for tho local business 
community. 'fhe Parties will work together to communicate with the local business community to ensure that the 
community Is best prepared to take advantage of these opportunities. 

(1.2, In recognition of the above, and contingent upon the receipt of an unconditional, non-appealable License, the 
l'aiiiBs have agreed as follows: 

3,2,A, On <1n onnua/ basis, subject to its obligations to the City of Everett, Wynn shall make a good faith 
effort to utilize local contractors and suppliers for the construction and future operations of the Project and shall 
afford such opportunities to local vendors when such contractors and suppliers are properly qualified and price 
competitive. Such efforts shall Include actively soliciting bids from Medford vendors through local advertisements, 
coordination with the Medford Chamber of Commerce and such other reasonable measures as the City may from 
time to time request, In furtherance thereof, Wynn agrees to use good faith efforts to purchase at least Ten Million 
Dollors ($:lO,OOO,OOO.OO) of goods and services from vendors with " prlnclpol place of business In Medford. Wynn 
shall work with Medford to hold vendor fairs th<1t provide Medford businesses with lnformotlon concerning the 
process of providing goods and services to the Project. Wynn shall, on at least an annual basis, consttlt with the 
Medford Chamber of Commerce and such other business groups or assoclotlons as Medford may reasonably request 
to identify opportunities In furtherance of the objectives set forth In this section. Wynn shall, upon reasonoble 
request, meet with Medford to provide updates on Wynn's efforts to comply with this section 3.2.A. 
Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, Wynn's obligations under this section 3.2.A. shall be subject to the 
availability of such goods and services at a level of quality that Is consistent with the Project specifications and on 
commercially reasonable terms. 

3.2.B. Wynn agrees to work with and assist local businesses to become "Wynn certified" In order to 
participate In this local purchasing program. Wynn certification represents a Wynn specific vendor qualification 
p1·ogram that requires vendors to be pre-qualified, which may Include but not be limited to background checks and 
other screening methods utilized to qualify vendors. 

3,2,C. Wynn agrees that It will include as port of its rewards, frequent guest, loyalty and/or similar programs 
offered by Wynn to use vouchers and gift certificates f1·om Medford businesses. Wynn commits to purchase and 
Issue at least Twenty Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00) In such vouchers and gift certificates annually from local 
businesses for use /nils customer loyalty programs. 

3.2.D. The first annual purchase of the above vouchers and gift certificates by Wynn shall occur ninety (90) 
days after the opening of the Project to the general public and on each annual anniversary thereof. 

4. Jobs Program 

4.1. The Parties acknowledge that Medford desires to help Its community members and residents who are Interested 
In attaining employment at the Project. 'fhe Parties agree that Medford's demographic Is an appropriate, suitable, 
desirable and employable worl< force for the Project, and therefore It Is mutually beneficial to provide a structured 
program to educate Medford's residents about available employment opportunities. 

4.2. In recognition of the above, the Parties agree as follows: 



4.2.A. Wynn will work In a good faith, legal and non-discriminatory manner with the Project's construction 
manager to give preferential treatment to qualified Medford residents for contracting, subcontracting and servicing 
opporttmities In the development and construction of the Project. Following the engagement of a construction 
manager, Wynn shall, in coordination with Medford, advertise and hold at least one event for Medford residents at 
venues to be approved by Medford, at which It will publicize its construction needs ·and explain to attendees the 
process by which they may seek to be hired In connection with the constrttction of the Project. 

4.2.B. Prior to beginning the process of hiring employees (other than Internally) for the Project, Wynn shall 
advet·tise and hold at least one event for Medford residents at venues to be approved by Medford, at which it will 
publicize Its hiring needs and explain to attendees the process by which they may seek to be hired in connection with 
the Project. In seeking to fill vacancies at the Project, Wynn will give preference to properly qualified residents of 
Medford, to the extent that such a practice and Its Implementation Is consistent with Fedeml, State or Municipal law 
or regulation. 

4.2.C. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, In recognition of Wynn's host community agreement 
with the City of Everett and Wynn's surrounding community agreement with the City of Malden, the Parties 
acl<nowledge and agree thai the preference provided In this section 4 shall be secondary to the preference provided 
by Wynn in its host community agreement and surrounding community agreement. In addition, the Parties 
acknowledge and agree thnt the preferences provided In this section 4 shall be on a pooled basis with any other 
community that voluntarily enters Into a surrounding community agreement with Wynn following the date of this 
Agreement. 

4.2.0. Wynn agrees to work with Medford on an anmtal basis to Identify prospective, qttallfled Medford 
employees to effectuate the terms and conditions herein. 

5. Medf9rd Community Fund 

5.1. The Parties recognize the Importance of supporting the Medford community and share a mutual desire to utilize 
this Agreement to provide ongoing support to the many Important non-profit organizations throughout the City of 
Medford. 

5.2. In recognition of the above, and contingent upon the receipt of an unconditional, non-appealable License, Wynn 
has agreed to pay to the Medford the following "ComJmJnitv Fund Payment": 

5,2,A. An annual payment of One Hundred Twenty l'ive Thousand Dollars ($125,000.00), which amount shall 
be due on or before the ninetieth (90'") day following the opening of the Project to the general public and on each 
annual anniversary thereof. The annual payment shall continue for as long as Wynn, or any parent, subsidiary or 
related entity, owns, controls or operates a commercial gaming facility at the Project Site. 

5,2,B. The Mayor of the City of Medford agrees to establish a Committee tasked with reviewing requests for 
assistance from qualified organizations and making determinations on the awarding of any portion of the Community 
Fund Paytnent. 

5.3. Contingent upon the receipt of an unconditional, non-appealable License, Wynn has agreed to pay to the 
Medford the following "Cultural Fund Payment" to provide ongoing support to the Chevalier Theatre: 

5.3.A. An annual payment of One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000.00), which amount shall he due on or 
before the ninetieth (90°') day following the opening of the Project to the general public and on each annual 
anniversary thereof. The annual payment shall· continue for as long as Wynn, or any parent, subsidiary or related 
entity, owns, controls or operates a commercial gaming facility at the Project Site. 



5.4. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Community Fund Payment and Cultural Fund Payment 
shall remain in the exclusive custody and control of Medford, and shall be used and applied at Medford's sole 
discretion and Iietermination toward any impact, Infrastructure, Improvement and/or mitigation measures related to 
the Project that Medford deems necessary and suitable. 

5,5, Wynn has agreed to pay to the Medford the following amounts for the development oftho Krystle Campbell 
Peace Garden: (i) Fifty Thousand Dollars ($50,000,00), which amount shall be due on or before the thirtieth {301h) day 
following the execution of this Agreement and (il) contingent upon the receipt of an unconditional, non"appealablo 
license, Two Hundred Thousand Dollars ($200,000.00), which amount shall be due on or before the ninetieth (90111

) 

day following the acceptance by Wynn of such license. 

5,6 In furtherance of the significant envll·onmentallmprovements that Wynn will be undertaking, Wynn will review 
and consider remediation plans for the removal of water chestnuts as pa1·t of Its environmental program. 

6.1. Based on the trip distribution pattern for the project and a review of both the local and regional transportation 
system, Wynn studied the following Intersections in Medford and contingent upon the receipt by Wynn of an 
unconditional, non"appealable License, Wynn agreed to complete all necessary Improvements as determined In 
accordance with the MEPA process: 

1. Fellsway West (Route 28)/Fulton Street, Medford; 
2. Fellsway West (Route 28)/Salem Street (Route 60), Medford; 
3. Central Avenue/Medford Street/Fellsway (Route 28), Medford; 
4. Riverside Avenue/Fellsway (Hollie 28), Medford; 
5. 1"93 Southbound Off"ramp/Mystic Valley Parkway (Houte 16) Southbound Connector, Medford; 
6. Harvard Street/Mystic Avenue (Route 38), Medford; 
7. Ha1vard Street/Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 16)/Mystlc Valley Parkway (Route 16) southbound 

connector, Medford; · 
8. Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 16)/Locust Street, Medford; 
9. Mystic Valley Parkway (Route 16)/Commerclal Street, Medford; 
10. Mystic Valley/Revere Beach Parkway (Route 16)/Fellsway (Route 28)/Middlesex Avenue (al<a 

Wellington Circle), Medford; 
11. Revere Beach Parkway (Route 16) Eastbound Ramps to Rivers Edge Drive, Medford; and 
12. Revere Beach Parkway (Route 16) Westbound Ramps to Rivers Edge Drive, Medford. 

The foregoing Improvements are estimated to cost approximately One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00). 

6,2, The Parties acknowledge and agree that a comprehensive traffic solution for Wellington Circle, which Is already 
severely Impacted as a result of other developments, Including, without limitation, Stations Landing and Assembly 
Row, Is highly advisable and beneficial to Medford and other neighboring communities. In recognition thereof and 
contingent upon the receipt by Wynn of an unconditional, non"appealable License, the Parties agree as follows: 

6,2.A. Wynn will worl< with Medford and other Interested neighboring communities to commission a 
permanent Improvements study of the Wellington Circle, and will fund such study. 

6.2.B. Following the results of the permanent Improvements study, Wynn will fund up to twenty"five percent 
{25%) of the concept design (up to one Million Five Hundred Thollsand Dollars ($1.,500,000.00)) for the approach that 
is 1nutually agreed upon by the Parties. 



6,2,C, Following the completion of the study and design, Wynn will cooperate with efforts by Medford and 
other Interested neighboring communities to seek funding from the Transportation Infrastructure and Development 
Fund (estimated to be capable of yielding In excess of $200 million) for a permanent solution for Wellington Circle, 

6.2.1), Pending completion of the study and design, Wynn will fund and undertake interim Improvements to 
Wellington Circle, as more particularly set forth In Its proposed traffic plan. 

6,3, The Parties acknowledge and agree that Wynn intends to Implement a water transportation program to service 
the Project. The Parties will work together In good faith to facilitate water transpor-tation connections between 
Medford and the Project. In furtherance thereof, contingent upon the receipt of an unconditional, non-appealable 
License, Wynn has agreed to pay to the Medford an annual payment of One hundred Thousand Dollars 
($100,000,00), which amount shall be due on or before the ninetieth (901h) day following the opening of the Project 
to the general public and on each annual anniversary thereof. The annual payment shall continue for as long as 
Wynn, or any parent, subsidiary or related entity, owns, controls or operates a commercial gaming facility at the 
Project Site. The purpose of this annual payment Is to enable Medford to make certain Improvements to the Mystic 
River to facilitate water transportation and to fund staffing and other public safety initiatives related to Increased use 
of water transportation on the Mystic River. 

7, Medford O!>llgatlon_•l 

7.1. In consideration of the obligations hereunder to be taken by Wynn, and In further recognition of the many 
benefits the Project will bring to Medford,- Medford shall do the following (with all reasonable costs Incurred by 
Medford to be paid by Wynn, subject to prior written approval of such costs and Wynn's right to receive 
documentation of sqch cost): 

7.:l.A. Medford shall support the Project and agrees to actively work with and assist Wynn and its 
contractors and agents to obtain any and all permits, certifications, legislation or regulatory approvals from 
governmental entitles and officials, 

7,LB. Medford, In coordination with Wynn and the City of Everett, shall exercise best efforts to petition the 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission for monies made available under the Act, Including, but not limited to, those 
monies in the Community Mitigation Fund and the Transportation Infrastructure Fund, 

fh_8gd/tlonal Terms and Conditions 

9,1, THrm. This Agreement shall remain In effect for such time as Wynn maintains, operates and controls the Project 
pursuant to the License. 

9,2, Dellnltlons. All definitions contained In the Act and regulations promulgated thereto are Incorporated herein by 
reference as If fully set forth herein and shall be applicable hereto where relevant. 

8,3, Non-Tranfm-rablo .. Non·Assi[(tlOhle, No/thor Wynn nor Medford may transfer or assign Its rights or obligations 
under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other Party. In the event of a sale, transfer, 
assignment and/or conveyance of an unconditional, non-appealable License by Wynn to an unrelated entity, the 
Parties agree that this surrounding community agreement shall be treated consistently with all other surrounding 
community agreements as prescribed and required by the Commission In granting such transfer or assignment. 

8.4, captions and Headings, The captions and headings In this Agreement are Inserted for convenience of reference 
only and in no way shall affect, modify, define, limit or be used In construing the scope or Intent of this Agreement or 



any of the provisions hereof. Where the context requires, all singular works In the Agreement shall be construed .to 
Include their plural and all words of neuter gender shall bo construed to Include the masculine and feminine forms of 
such words. 

3.5. Soverab/1/ty. If any term of this Agreement or the application thereof to any person or circumstance shall, to 
any extent, be determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be Invalid or unenforceable, the remaining 
provisions of this Agreement, or the application of such term to persons or circumstances other than those as to 
which it is invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and this Agreement shall otherwise remain In full 
force and effect. 

3.6. Amendments-Modifications. No amendment or modification of this Agreement shall be deemed valle/ unless 
mutually agreed upon and duly authorized by the Parties and effectuated by a written amendment signed by the 
Parties. 

8.7. AmeiHlmonts·Mod/flcat/ons to the Act and Gaming llegulatlons. The Parties acknowledge that from time to 
time following commencement of this Agreement that additional regulations may be promulgated, and/or statutes 
and regulations may be amended from time to time. The Parties agree to be bound by said amended and/or 
modified regulations and statutes, and further agree to renegotiate any terms and conditions contained herein which 
may be substantially and materially modified by any said amended and/or modified regulations and statutes. 

8,8, Compliance with Massachusetts and l'ederal Laws. In the performance of this Agreement, Wynn agrees 'to 
comply with and shall use reasonable efforts to cause all agents, contractors, subcontractors and suppliers to comply 
with all applicable laws, ordinances, regulations and orders from time to time In effect relating to nondiscrimination, 
equal employment opportunity, contract compliance and affirmative action. 

1!.9 Organizational Status In State of Organization and In the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. Wynn 
acknowledges that It shall notify Medford promptly In writing In the event o{ any change In its organizational status 
and/or standing under the laws and regulations of Its State of Incorporation and under the laws and regulations of 
the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. Wynn agrees to remain In good standing and maintain adherence to all laws, 
regulations and requirements applicable to licenses and permits Issued to Wynn pursllant to the Act. 

8.J.O. Notices, All notices re<juired or permitted to be given hereunder shall be In writing and delivered by hand or 
courier service; by a nationally-recognized delivery service, by mailing, postage prepaid via certified mall, to the 
following addresses, or to other addresses as may be furnished by the parties from time to time In writing hereafter: 
In the case of notice to Medford: 

In tho case of notice to the City of Medford: 

To: Mayor 
City of Medford 
85 George P. Hassett Dr. 
Medford, MA 02155 

with copies to: 

City Solicitor 
City of Medford 
Medford Legal Department 
85 George P. Hassett Drive 
Medford, MA 02:!55 

Finance Auditor 
City of Medford 
Office of Finance/Auditor 
85 George P, Hassett Dr. 
Medford, MA 02155 



In tho case of notice to Wynn: 

To: Wynn MA, llC 
c/o Wynnl\osor-ts, Limited 
3131 Las Vegas Blvd. South 
Las Vegas, NV 89109 
Attn: Kim Sinatra, Sr. VP and General Counsel 

and in the case of either Party, to such other address as shall be designated by written notice given to the other Party 
In accordance with this section. Any such notice shall be deemed given when so delivered by hand, by courier 
delivery on date of service, or If mailed, when delivery receipt is signed by the party designated herein as accepting 
notice. Service to Medford shall not be deemed effective unless accomplished during normal business hours and days 
of operation of the City of Medford. Each Party shall ensure that the other party is notified in writing Immediately of 
any changes In the contact and address Information above. 

8.11, Failure and Waiver. Failure of either Party to require strict performance of the terms and conditions herein 
shall not be deemed a waiver of any rights and remedies available to such Party, and shall not be deemed a waiver of 
subsequent default or nonperformance of said terms or conditions in the future. No actual waiver by a Party of 
performance of any terms, conditions or obligations under this Agreement shall be effective unless agreed upon and 
In writing signed by such Party. No waiver of either Party to require strict performance of any terms and conditions 
shall constitute a waiver of such Party's right to demand strict compliance with the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement. 

8,3.2, Notice of Default and Rights In the Event of Default, Each Party shall have thirty (30) days from receipt of 
written notice of failure, violation or default to cure said failure, violation or default. If such failure, violation or 
default cannot In good faith be cured within such thirty (30) day period, the defaulting Party shall notify the other 
Party Immediately In writing and diligently purse curing said default to completion. Except as expressly provided 
herein, the rights and remedies of the Parties, whether provided by law or by this Agreement, shall be cumulative, 
and the exercise by a Party of any one or more of such remedies shall not preclude the exercise by It, at the same or 
different times, of any other such remedies for the same default or breach or of any of its remedies for any other 
default or breach by the other Party. 

fl.13, Governing Law and Forum In Event of Ol$puto, This Agreement shall be subject to, governed under, and 
construed In accordance with the laws and regulations of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, including any 
amendments thereto which may occur from time to time following execution of this Agreement, and said laws and 
regulations shall govern the validity, enforcement of terms, conditions, rights and obligations, and performance of 
this Agreement. The Parties further agree that any legal proceedings whether In law or equity arising hereunder shall 
be Instituted In the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Middlesex County Superior Court. Nothing In this Agreement 
shall be construed to prohibit Medford from Instituting actions or proceedings In law or equity. The prevailing Party 
In any action shall recover Its litigation costs (Including attorneys' fees and expert witness fees). Notwithstanding the 
foregoing provisions for forum selection, the Parties agree that before resorting to any formal dispute resolution 
process concerning any dispute arising from or In ony way relating to this Agreement, the Parties will first engage In 
good faith negotiations In an effort to find a solution that services their respective and mutual interests. · 

8.14. Escalation of Payments. Beginning with the sixteenth (16) annual payment made by Wynn to Medford, the 
annltal payments hereunder shall lncrm1se by five percent {5%) as set forth In Schedule A attached hereto and 
Incorporated herein by this reference. Themafter, during the term of this Agreement, such live percent IS%) Increase 
shall be applied to the annual payments after the payment of every five IS) annual payments as more specifically set 
forth In $J;he<jule /j_. 



IN WITNESS WHEREOf, tho pnrtios, by mrd through tho signatories lwlow, aclmowlcdge thlly aro duly 
authorl~<)(l and hnvo tl10 full power, right nnd attthorlty to ontor Into, executa, dollver, and perform tho terms and 
coll!lltions of thl:; Agreement, and hereto hnvo horounto set their lwnds ami seals on this JJ.'h day of April, 2014. 

City of Moclfor<l: 

j 

)rR q,(.l':· 

fiiiill''lV'l~_fl:1 to Form. 
v,;yN~J {:Yr .. : 

// 

(:'~:~:-;:,.y' 



Schedule A 

Beginning with the sixteenth (j.611
') anr1l1al payment, each of the annual payments set forth herein shall Increase by 

five percent (5,0%) as set forth below: 

··~--~-·--·~ . ·-~,-·-

First 15 Payments subsequent Five Payments, 

--~ 

Beginning with 16"' Annual Payment 
Community Fund Payment $125,000.00 $131,250.00 
Transportation Hul~ Payment . $325,000.00 $341,250,00 .. 

.. $100,000.00 $105!000.00 
Eubllc ~afety Payment 

~ 

$250,000,00 
·-· $262,500.00 

cultural Fund Payment $100,000.00 $105,000,00 
Wat_~r Transportation $lOO,OOO.OO .. $105,000.00 
Total 
L:_C-~-~------------

$1,000,000,00 $1,050,000.00 

Thereafter, during the term of this Agreement, after the payment of five additional payments, each of the annual 
payments set forth hereunder shall increase by five percent (5,0%) as set forth In the example below: 

.~-------~ 

2011
' Annual Payment Subsequent Five Payments, 

Beginning with 21'1 Annual PaynNnt 
Community Fund Payment $131,250.00 $137,812.50 
Transportation Hub Payment $341,250.00 $358,312.50 

$105,000.00 $110,250.00 -
Public Safety PaYill_(l_~-~----~- _$262,500,00 $275,625.00 
cultural Fund Payment $105,000.00 $110,250,00 
Water Transportation $105,000.00 $110,250.00 --

,_Iota I $1,050,000,00 $1,102,500,00 ... 

---·~-----~---~·-.--

25 '"Annual Payment Subsequent Five Payments, 

commu111tVJ:ulldP'ayment ~---~=~ $1 37,812.50 
Beginning with 26'' Annual Payment 
$144,703,13 

Tr~nsportatlon Hub Payment $3 58,312.50 $376,228.13 
10,250.00 $115,762.50 

·-· -------···----·-- $1 
7_!3,6~~~0 $289,406.25 
10,250.00 .. - - $115,762,50 

Public Saf~_ty_P.-:'a'-'y:.:.m:.:e:.:.n'ct ~~-~~+.:;:$3. 
Cultural Fund Payment $1 

Wate~l'ransportatlon ... $1 10,250.00 $115,762.50 
Total $1 
-·---------~----

,102,500,00 $1,157,625.00 



City of Medford, MA 

2015 Community Mitigation Fund Application 

Planning and Design Improvements at Wellington Circle 

Cost Estimate for Engineering Services 

Initial Study through Preliminary Design 

Task I Description 

l Initial Investigations 

1.1 Initial meetings, collection of existing roadway, utility, record plans, proposed Rt 16 

bridge and road work, submission of PNF, etc 

1.2 Instrument field survey of surface and subsurface features, and establishment of 

roadway rights of way, private property 

1.3 Soils investigation, including review existing data, advancement of soil borings in 

each quadrant of the existing traffic circle,prepare geotechnical memorandum 

1.4 Phase I environmental site assessment- public rights of way and adjacent private 

property 

1.5 
Review and analysis of existing traffic data, develop work plan to supplement 

1.6 ENF, and mise environmental site assessment, including historic, archaeologic, 

filled tidelands, rare and endangered species, etc. 

1.7 Project management, public hearing meetings and coordination 

subtotal 

2 
Evaluate Alternatives, Select Preferred Alternative (EIR, if required, to be 

budgeted separately, assume no contaminated sites) 

2.1 
Horizontal and vertical layout of up to three grade separation scenarios, establish 

project area boundaries, prepare draft plan and profiles 

2.2 Utility relocations, private property impacts, property takings, per senario 

2.3 Prepare draft and final design report summarizing findings, select preferred layout 

2.4 Project management, meetings and coordination 

3 25% Design and Submission 

need expenses 

assume $160/hr 

Est. Cost 

~'~ 

$28,800 

$55,000 

$45,000 

$38,400 

$25,000 

$28,800 

$48,000 

$269,000 

$83,200 

$96,000 

$38,400 

$44,800 

$262,400 



3.1 Supplemental instrument survey $20,000 

Horizontal and vertical design, preliminary structural design, prepare base plans, 

3.2 pavement design, right of way plans, etc $256,000 

3.3 Supplemental Geotechnical analyses and reports $80,000 

3.4 Enviromental permitting, including Conservation Commission, Ch 91, Section 4(f) $128,000 

3.5 Additional traffic study, reports 

3.6 Preliminary cost estimate 

3.7 Functional Design Report, Design Exception Report 

3.8 Complete, submit, 25% Design 

3.9 Project management, 25% hearing, meetings, and coordination 

$60,000 

$25,600 

$25,600 

$19,200 

$57,600 

Sutotal $672,000 

Subtotal Labor $1,203,400 

Expe nsesf--,-,-'$'-'6:::0!..:.,0:::0.::...0 
Subtotal $1,263,400 

10% conti nge ncyf--.,-$~1::2:::6!..:.,3:...:4.::...0 
Total Wellington Circle $1,389,740 

Add signal studies at 4 critical Medford intersections $100,000 1----:-=:;,::;:..:..:...:.. 
Total $1,489,740 









Massachusetts Gaming Commission
101 Federal Street, 23rd Floor

 Boston, MA 02110

2015 COMMUNITY MITIGATION FUND APPLICATION

CHECK BOX IF REQUESTING THE CREATION OF A 
MITIGATION RESERVE FUND FOR A COMMUNITY

APPLICATIONS DUE NO LATER THAN FEBRUARY 2, 2015.
For anyone with specific impacts, please complete the gray boxes 1-4 beginning on page 2.  If you are not 
applying for mitigation of specific impacts by February 2, 2015, you do not need to complete grayed boxes 1-4.

City of Springfield 

1. NAME OF MUNICIPALITY/GOVERNMENT ENTITY/DISTRICT

Springfield Redevelopment Authority 

2. DEPARTMENT RECEIVING FUNDS

Cathy Buono, Director of Administration and Finance

3. NAME AND TITLE OF INDIVIDUAL RESPONSIBLE FOR HANDLING OF FUNDS

1600 East Columbus Avenue, Springfield, Massachusetts 01103

4. ADDRESS OF INDIVIDUAL RESPONSIBLE FOR HANDLING OF FUNDS

413-787-6082; cbuono@springfieldcityhall.com

5. PHONE # AND EMAIL ADDRESS OF INDIVIDUAL RESPONSIBLE FOR HANDLING OF FUNDS

Kevin Kennedy, Chief Development Officer for the City of Springfield and 

SRA Administrator 

6. NAME AND TITLE OF INDIVIDUAL AUTHORIZED TO COMMIT FUNDS ON BEHALF OF MUNICIPALITY/
GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY

70 Tapley Street, Springfield, Massachusetts 01104

7. ADDRESS OF INDIVIDUAL AUTHORIZED TO COMMIT FUNDS ON BEHALF OF MUNICIPALITY/
GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY
413-787-6020; kkennedy@springfieldcityhall.com

8. PHONE # AND EMAIL ADDRESS OF INDIVIDUAL AUTHORIZED TO COMMIT FUNDS ON BEHALF OF 
MUNICIPALITY/GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY



Massachusetts Gaming Commission
101 Federal Street, 23rd Floor

 Boston, MA 02110

MGM Springfield

9. NAME OF GAMING LICENSEE

1. IMPACT DESCRIPTION

Please describe in detail the impact that is attributed to the construction of a gaming facility.  
Please provide support for the determination that the construction of the gaming facility caused 
or is causing the impact.

See Attached Exhibit A

2. PROPOSED MITIGATION

Please identify below the manner in which the funds are proposed to be used.  Please provide 
documentation (e.g. - invoices, proposals, estimates, etc.) adequate for the Commission to 
ensure that the funds will be used for the cost of mitigating the impact from the construction of 
a proposed gaming establishment.  Please describe how the mitigation request will address the 
specific impact indicated.  Please attach additional sheets/supplemental materials if necessary.

See Attached Exhibit A

3. IMPACT CONTROLS/ADMINISTRATION OF IMPACT FUNDS

Please provide detail regarding the controls that will be used to ensure that funds will only be 
used to address the specific impact.  If non-governmental entities will receive any funds, please 
describe what reporting will be required and how the applicant will remedy any misuse of funds.



Massachusetts Gaming Commission
101 Federal Street, 23rd Floor

 Boston, MA 02110

See Attached Exhibit A

4. RELEVANT EXCERPTS FROM HOST OR 
SURROUNDING COMMUNITY AGREEMENTS

Please describe and include excerpts from any relevant sections of any Host or Surrounding 
Community Agreement.  Please explain how this impact was either anticipated or not 
anticipated in that Agreement.

See Attached Exhibit A

CERTIFICATION BY MUNICIPALITY/GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY
On behalf of the aforementioned municipality/governmental entity I hereby certify that the funds 
that are requested in this application will be used solely for the purposes articulated in this 
Application.  

/s/ Kevin Kennedy February 2, 2015

Signature of Responsible Municipal Official/
Governmental Entity

Date

APPROVAL OF THE MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION
On behalf of the Massachusetts Gaming Commission, the Commission hereby authorizes the 
payment from the Community Mitigation Fund in accordance with M.G.L. c. 23K as outlined in 
this Application.  



Massachusetts Gaming Commission
101 Federal Street, 23rd Floor

 Boston, MA 02110

Executive Director Date

Ombudsman Date



Massachusetts Gaming Commission
101 Federal Street, 23rd Floor

 Boston, MA 02110

INSTRUCTIONS FOR FILING FOR

2015 COMMUNITY MITIGATION FUND APPLICATION

If a Community is filing for a mitigation reserve fund only, please check the box on page 1 and 
fill out all the boxes in blue.  Skip grayed boxes 1-4.  Detail regarding the use of the reserve 
fund can be provided to the Commission on a rolling basis upon consultation with the 
Commission (See Guidelines on page 6).

If a Community or other Applicant has a specific impact, please fill out entire application 
form. 

If a Community or other Applicant is requesting both a reserve fund and has a specific impact, 
please fill out the entire application form.

Any questions contact:  John S. Ziemba, Ombudsman
101 Federal Street, 23rd Floor, Boston, MA 02110

(617) 979-8423
john.s.ziemba@state.ma.us

…

Applications must be sent electronically and via regular mail.  An application 
received by the Commission either electronically or via regular mail by February 2, 
2015 will meet the application deadline.

Applications should be sent to the:

Massachusetts Gaming Commission
2015 Community Mitigation Fund
Attn:   Ombudsman John Ziemba
101 Federal Street, 23rd Floor, Boston, MA 02110

And via e-mail to:

john.s.ziemba@state.ma.us

mailto:john.s.ziemba@state.ma.us
mailto:john.s.ziemba@state.ma.us


Massachusetts Gaming Commission
101 Federal Street, 23rd Floor

 Boston, MA 02110

Exhibit A

1. IMPACT DESCRIPTION
In order to meet the requirements of the Gaming Act found under Section 96 of Chapter 
194 of the Acts of 2011, a host community is required to take action to help coordinate and 
expedite local permitting of a gaming facility.

"The governing body of a host community which has accepted 
chapter 43D of the General Laws shall file a proposal with the 
interagency permitting board to designate the site proposed 
for a category 1 establishment as a priority development site. 
In a community which has not accepted said chapter 43D, the 
planning board shall designate a local permitting ombudsman, 
who shall be a planning board member of the host community or 
a member of the host community planning board's professional 
staff, to help coordinate and expedite local permitting of the 
category 1establishment."

The City of Springfield has accepted Chap. 43D and will incur costs associated with these 
statutory requirements.

It had been contemplated that these costs would be covered by funds received by MGM, but 
the first prepayment of $4,000,000 will not be received until February 2015 at the earliest. 
This delay in payment was a result of  the court mandated statewide referendum which 
occurred in November 2014. In addition, the City has requested to accelerate the payment 
of future amounts due under the HCA from Feb. 2016 and Feb. 2017 to the prior November 
(Nov./2015 and Nov./2016) in order to accommodate DOR regulations concerning municipal 
budgeted revenue. In exchange, the City is willing to extend the date of the first payment 
from February 9, 2015 until July 1, 2015. This will allow the City to utilize these funds for 
any anticipated budget need in fiscal year 2016. As a result, the funds received as advanced 
payments will not be able to be programed until the fiscal year 2016 beginning July 1, 2015. 
It is very important to get this office running as soon as possible. As such, we are seeking 
$163,000 in grant funds to cover the months of operation from February through June of 2015. 
Thereafter, the City and SRA will seek to utilize other funds from the HCA.

2. PROPOSED MITIGATION
A proposed budget was established for the creation of a Casino Liaison Office to meet this 
statutory obligation as shown in the table below.



Massachusetts Gaming Commission
101 Federal Street, 23rd Floor

 Boston, MA 02110

Casino Liaison Office
Position Salaries Overhead @ 

20%
Miscellaneou
s

Total Total for Office * 
3.25 Years

Executive $85,000 $17,000.00
$25,600Assistant $30,000 $6,000.00

Total $115,000 $23,000 $25,600 $163,600 $531,700

In addition, the Law Department will be required to oversee all legal aspects associated with 
the casino and the Host Community Agreement. This will require an additional legal services 
to assist in this role.

Law Department
Salaries Overhead 

@ 
20%

Miscellaneous Total

Attorney $55,000 $11,000 $5,500 $71,500

3. IMPACT CONTROLS/ADMINISTRATION OF IMPACT FUNDS
The fundamental purpose of Springfield’s financial management plan is to ensure the 
appropriate, effective, timely and honest use of funds. Specifically, Springfield ensures that:

● Internal controls for monitoring, reporting and management are in place and 
adequate;Documentation is available to support accounting record entries;

● Financial reports and statements are complete, current, reviewed periodically; and
● Audits are conducted in a timely manner and in accordance with applicable standards.

Certain financial activities and functions for these departments are performed by the following 
City departments:

● City Comptrollers
● City Treasurer/Collector
● Information Technology



Massachusetts Gaming Commission
101 Federal Street, 23rd Floor

 Boston, MA 02110

● Internal Audit
● Office of Procurement
● Law
● Mayor
● Office of Management and Budget
● Payroll
● Personnel

SECTION 1:  FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
In establishing a financial management system, Springfield has complied with 24 CFR Part 
85 “Administrative Requirements for Grants and Cooperative Agreements to State, Local, 
and Federally Recognized Indian Tribal Governments” (also known as the Common Rule) 
and 24 CFR Part 84 “Uniform Administrative Requirements for Grants and Agreements with 
Institutions of Higher Education, Hospitals, and other Non-Profit Organizations”.
Both the Common Rule and 24 CFR Part 570 govern  grantee financial management systems. 
Springfield understands that failure to account for and manage grant funds accordingly may 
result in sanctions imposed by the funding agency. 

The City of Springfield incorporates redundant systems to monitor duplication of benefits and 
financial compliance.  The following parts detail financial and grant management systems that 
will be utilized to maximize compliance and efficiency.  

MUNIS Financial System
In compliance with the Common Rule, Springfield utilizes the MUNIS Financial Management 
System.   Based on delivering accurate and reliable financial data, MUNIS’s core business 
logic is built on proven, functionally mature and industry-specific metrics.   Springfield’s 
MUNIS Financial Management System delivers accurate, transparent, and efficient financial 
operations.  MUNIS Financial applications make it easy to streamline and simplify all of grant 
accounting operations throughout the program. With its versatile features and options, MUNIS 
connects financial data to the MUNIS General Ledger, a true multi-fund accounting system 
with automated Due To/Due From processing. The MUNIS system records Grant Awards, 
Obligations, Un-Obligated Balances, Assets, Liabilities, Expenditures and Program Income. 
Plus, a flexible chart of accounts is adaptable to the program and projects’ needs.  

Additionally, MUNIS updates all balances in real-time with each transaction, connecting users 
to the most current, accurate information. MUNIS’ Project and Grant Accounting provides an 
optional method for multi-year tracking of budgets, expenditures and revenues for user-defined 
projects, such as capital improvements, special programs and more.
This customizable system allows the Springfield to provide the following:



Massachusetts Gaming Commission
101 Federal Street, 23rd Floor

 Boston, MA 02110

● Accurate, current, and complete disclosure of financial results;
● Records that identify adequately the source and application of grant funds;
● Comparison of actual outlays with amounts budgeted for the grant;
● Procedures for determining reasonableness and allowable costs;
● Accounting records that are supported by appropriate source documentation such as 

cancelled checks, paid bills, payroll records, time and attendance records, contracts and 
sub grant award documents etc.; and

● A systematic method to assure timely and appropriate resolution of audit findings and 
recommendations.

SECTION 2:  PREVENTING FRAUD, ABUSE OF FUNDS AND DUPLICATION OF 
BENEFITS
In order to ensure the proper disbursement of grant funds, the City of Springfield plans to remain 
in compliance with applicable rules and regulations, as well as other applicable federal and state 
regulations such as Office of Management and Budget Circulars A-87, A-133 and 24 Code of 
Federal Regulations Part 85 (Uniform Administrative Requirements). The City of Springfield 
will particularly emphasize mitigation of fraud, abuse and mismanagement related to accounting, 
procurement and accountability which may also be investigated. The City of Springfield will 
monitor the compliance of funds. 

Steps to Avoid Mismanagement and Abuse of Funds
The City of Springfield will assess all program policies and procedures from an anti-fraud, 
waste, and abuse perspective.  The City will work with the funding agency to provide anti-fraud 
training to program staff and the Compliance Officer.  

On January 9, 2009, the Commonwealth enacted Chapter 468 of the Acts of 2008.  This 
legislation contained a series of governance changes, including the creation of the Director of 
Internal Audit.  The Office of Internal Audit conducts financial and performance reviews to 
prevent and detect waste, fraud and abuse and to improve the efficiency, effectiveness, and 
quality of public services provided in and by the City of Springfield.

The Office of the Internal Audit has a fraud hotline that can be used to report information about 
fraud, waste, or abuse of resources related to the City of Springfield.  Anyone with information 
regarding known or suspected misappropriation of municipal funds or resources is encourages 
to report the information to the City’s Office of Internal Audit.  Concerns and findings may be 
submitted in one of three ways:

● Complete a Fraud Information Report online; http://www.springfield-ma.gov/finance/
fraud-hotline.htmlLeave a recorded voicemail message on the fraud hotline at (413)886-
5125.  This hotline is available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week; or

http://www.springfield-ma.gov/finance/fraud-hotline.html
http://www.springfield-ma.gov/finance/fraud-hotline.html


Massachusetts Gaming Commission
101 Federal Street, 23rd Floor

 Boston, MA 02110

● Send a written report via U.S. mail to the following address: Office of Internal Auditor, 
36  Court St , 4th Floor, Springfield, MA  01103.

The City of Springfield has a blanket crime policy for all employees who handle cash.  
The Treasurer, Assistant Treasurer, and the Assistant City Collector are also bonded per 
Massachusetts General Law (M.G.L.).

4. RELEVANT EXCERPTS FROM HOST AGREEMENT
In contemplation of this, the City’s Host Community Agreement (“HCA”) provides in Section 
3.4 for the creation of a “Casino Liaison Office” which provides:

Casino Liaison Office

In order to facilitate and expedite Developer’s obligations to develop and 
construct the Project, the City shall establish and maintain until Operations 
Commencement a casino liaison office which will coordinate the efforts of 
the various City departments involved in the development and construction 
of the Project and serve as an information resource for the Developer and 
as a representative and facilitator for Developer in the processing of its 
permitting, licensing and regulatory approvals, as more specifically set forth 
in Section 13.9. The City agrees that the casino liaison office will be charged 
with and authorized to perform the obligations provided hereunder.

This office would be in existence for a short time covering the period of construction and the 
first year of operation for a lifespan of 3.25 years.

The role of this office would be to work with MGM Springfield and their construction 
management team to resolve the myriad of issues likely to occur during the construction 
period. This office would help streamline City permitting, identify agencies and contacts, 
help administer the initiation of the HCA, and establish the lines of communication for 
operations during the first year. It is assumed thereafter that casino executives would be 
familiar enough with the complexities of working with the City that this role would no longer 
be needed.

The SRA intends to contract for services in line with the proposed budget considered during 
HCA negotiations for this office.















1 



2 

DESIGN & CONSTRUCTION 
DIVERSITY STRATEGY 

Wynn Resort in Everett | Executive Summary | February 5, 2015 

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Thank Jill Griffin and the Commissioners (Jill will have just introduced us and provided her thoughts on the plan as well as highlights from the comments received). 
We have put a lot of work into developing Wynn’s design and construction diversity strategy and are excited to present it today. 



3 

Wynn is proud of our commitment 
to diversity. Our workforce reflects 
the diversity of the community in 
which we operate.  
In Las Vegas, Wynn Resorts employs 
more than 12,000 people: 

Minority team members comprise more than 62% of 
the total workforce. 
Women comprise more than 46% of the total 
workforce. 
36% of manager, director, and executive level 
positions are held by minority team members. 
42% of manager, director, and executive level 
positions are held by women. 

Our diversity commitment is among the 
strongest of any gaming company in the 
U.S. The opportunities for growth and 
advancement provided to all employees 
are unprecedented, promoting from within 
on average over 66 employees every 
month. 

Workforce 

3 

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Feel it is important to provide a bit of background and context regarding Wynn’s historical commitment to diversity
Our diversity commitment is among the strongest of any gaming company in the U.S.  
We are particularly proud of the diversity among our management level employees in Las Vegas, where we employ over 12,000 people.  
36% of our managers, directors and executive level employees are minorities and 42% of our managers, directors, and executive level employees are women. 
We are also proud of our commitment to providing opportunities for growth and advancement.  We promote from within over 66 employees each month. 



4 

Wynn Resorts is committed to 
promoting diversity. We have a 
proven track record of that 
commitment at our existing 
operations. 

In Las Vegas, Wynn Resorts has relationships 
with over 400 M/W/VBEs. 

WLV directed 12% of procurement spending, 
nearly $30 million, to these businesses in 2013. 
 

Wynn has a long history of 
fostering successful 
relationships with local 
entrepreneurs, including 
partnerships for transportation, 
professional services, facilities, 
development and operations. 

Procurement 

4 

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Wynn also has a strong commitment to working with diverse vendors.  In Las Vegas, Wynn has relationships with over 400 diverse businesses and in 2013 we channeled nearly $30 million dollars to minority-, women-, and veteran owned businesses, roughly 12% of our total procurement spend.  This figure may be even greater, given that many diverse businesses in Nevada are not formally certified as such. 



5 

Outreach & Strategy Development 

Massachusetts Gaming Commission Vendor Advisory Team 

Greater New England Minority Supplier Development 
Council (GNEMSDC) 

Massachusetts State Office of Supplier Diversity (SDO) 

New England Area NAACP 

Minority Business Development Agency Business Center 
(MBDA) 

Center for Women and Enterprise (CWE) 

Massachusetts Diversity Coalition 

Veteran Business Owners Initiative of Boston 

Action for Regional Equity 

Massachusetts Minority Contractor Association 

The Policy Group on Tradeswomen’s Issues (PGTI) 

Boston Metropolitan District Building Trades Council 

The Massachusetts Department of Veteran’s Services 

Hispanic-American Chamber Institute  

Veterans with Vision 

Presenter
Presentation Notes
We’ve engaged with community groups and partners to develop our goals and strategy for reaching those goals during the design and construction phases of the development.  
Grateful for the support of local partners including the MGC Vendor Advisory committee, the Greater New England Minority Supplier Development Council, The Hispanic-American Chamber Institute, the Massachusetts Supplier Diversity Office, the Policy Group on Tradeswomen’s Issues and others.  We look forward to continuing engagement with all of these partners as we work to implement our strategy and reach our goals. 




6 

Objectives 

Cultivate a strong 
diversity capability 

for Wynn. 

Set an example for 
other corporations 

seeking to do 
business in the 
region and the 

Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts. 

Reinforce regional 
diversity capacity. 

6 

Presenter
Presentation Notes
We are thrilled to be in Massachusetts and eager to bring our commitment to diversity to the Commonwealth and to support the vision for Diversity created by the state and by the Gaming Commission. 
Realize that Wynn is new to the region and that we will need to build our diversity capability.  
Wynn is a leading company in the hospitality industry, setting the gold standard.  We expect to set a similar gold standard for other large-scale developers and operators in the Commonwealth.
As we finalize our design and embark on the site clean-up this spring, and the construction of the Resort this summer, we expect to build regional diversity capacity – working with diverse business partners and contractors and a diverse workforce, providing opportunities to participate in a large-scale, five star development.  
It is our hope that the businesses and workers we work with will go on to participate in one of the many new developments that are underway in the region over the next few years, taking with them an expanded capacity and skillset.




7 

Participation Goals 

Minority Business Enterprise (MBE): 7.9% 

Women Business Enterprise (WBE): 10% 

Consultant / Contractor Participation – Design Contracts 

Minority Business Enterprise (MBE): 5% 

Women Business Enterprise (WBE): 5.4% 

Veteran Business Enterprise (WBE): 1% 

Contractor Participation – Construction Contracts 

Minorities: 15.3% 

Women: 6.9% 

Veterans: 3% 

Workforce Participation – Construction (% of workforce hours): 

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Our goals are the result of research we’ve done supported by the Disparity Study conducted by the Division of Capital Asset Management (DCAMM) and reflect the state goals for large-scale public projects set by DCAMM.  We’ve taken into account the availability of M/W/VBEs and the workforce diversity in the region. 
We took an optimistically aggressive, but realistic approach to ensure that we would be able to reach our goals, particularly given the competition for workers and contractors that will be driven by the high volume of development projects over the next few years. 
We will achieve these goals and aspire to exceed them. 




8 

Implementation 

Clearly communicate our 
standards. 

Commit to robust, regular 
oversight and reporting. 

Include diversity goals within 
relevant contracts and 
agreements. 

Engage diverse businesses 
and workforce populations – 
launch proactive M/W/VBE 
design and construction of 
regional vendor expos and 
career information fairs. 

Support the development of 
M/W/VBEs and a diverse 
workforce. 

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Similar to the setting of goals, the implementation and strategies for reaching those goals has been informed by our relationship and discussion with local community groups, who will be instrumental in helping us reach our goals. 
We have also looked to the example set by the successful U Mass Boston campus project, Best Practices document created by the U Mass Access and Opportunity Committee, and the best practices for a diverse workforce outlined by the Policy Group on Tradeswomen’s Issues
The Implementation of our plan can be described by five broad categories: 
Clearly communicate goals
We’ve met with Brian Doherty, head of the metropolitan area building trades, to communicate our goals. 
Will include goals in all of our RFPs and in our conversations with potential consultants and contractors
Include diversity goals within releveant contracts and agreements
Ensure that goals are in writing in our contracts
Engage diverse businesses and workforce populations
Will host vendor and workforce fairs in the first half of this year
Will continue to engage regularly with community groups and will participate in the Access and Opportunity committee meetings every other month, which will provide a forum for engagement. 
Support the development of M/W/VBEs and a diverse workforce
Building pathways program, pre-apprenticeship programs
Support for programs that support access to capital for M/W/VBEs, Minority Business Development Agency, etc.
Commit to robust, regular oversight and reporting
Diversity Coordinator will oversee efforts
Will take a proactive approach to working with contractors to ensure that goals are met 



WYNN, MA LLC 
 

 

Diversity Strategy 

Design & Construction 
 
 

February 2January 13, 2015 
 

 

 

  

 



Diversity Strategy: Design & Construction 
Wynn MA, LLC 
February 2January 13, 2015 
 

1 
 

INTRODUCTION & GOALS 

The Wynn culture is founded on compassion. We care about our guests, our resorts and each other. Our 
actions define who we are as an organization and as a family united to provide the very best in hospitality 
and service.  Wynn Resorts embraces the diversity of all team members, suppliers and business partners and 
firmly believes that a commitment to diversity contributes to business success. Wynn has a culture of 
inclusion and commitment to equal opportunity for people regardless of race, religion, gender, age, sexual 
orientation, national origin, physical or mental handicap or disability and a culture in which all aspects of 
diversity are acknowledged and respected.  In preparation for the development of the Wynn Resort in 
Everett (the “Project”), Wynn has developed a Project Diversity Strategy (the “Strategy”) to promote and 
implement contracting and workforce diversity goals during the design and construction phases of the 
Project.  

Wynn Resorts established a Diversity Council which is comprised of employees from all parts of our business 
– including representation from Senior Management as well as our Legal Counsel. The purpose of the group is 
to support our diversity commitment.  The group meets on a quarterly basis to educate, provide input on 
how to better serve and build on and sustain our model.  The Council is constantly working towards 
leveraging the resources we have to create a culture of inclusion, creating an inclusive work environment 
that makes full use of the contribution of all employees, fostering a workforce that reflects and embraces the 
diversity of our community and developing outside and vendor partnerships that support our commitment 
and help work toward to a fair and equal economy. 

Wynn recognizes the importance of Minority-owned, Women-owned, and Veteran-owned Business 
Enterprises (M/W/VBEs) to the economies of the nation, the state, and the community, as well as the 
corporation itself. We are committed to pursuing business relationships with such enterprises and to 
continually improving business opportunities.  

With this strategy, Wynn aims to support the vision for diversity put forth by the Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts:  “To create a workforce that reflects the diversity of the Commonwealth and one that 
embraces, values and respects difference. Our ultimate goal is to weave diversity into the fabric of the 
Commonwealth so that it becomes embedded in the culture of all we do.”1  Similarly, Wynn will comply with 
legislation included in the Gaming Act that calls for “establishing, funding and maintaining human resource 
hiring and training practices that promote the development of a skilled and diverse workforce.”2  Wynn is 
confident that the Project will be a source of economic growth and opportunity for Everett, the greater-
region and the entire Commonwealth.  The Strategy supports Wynn’s best business interests and outlines a 
plan to ensure that the benefits of and opportunities created by the Project are as widespread as possible. 

Wynn commends the Massachusetts Gaming Commission’s commitment to diversity and is committed to 
developing a strong working relationship with the MGC Workforce, Supplier, and Diversity Development 
Team, the Access and Opportunity Committee, the MGC Vendor Advisory Committee, and community-based 
groups focused on diversity, to implement and refine the Strategy as necessary.  Wynn looks forward to 
collaborating with the Massachusetts Gaming Commission, its host community, surrounding communities, 
and neighboring communities to continually improve its diversity strategies, goals, and achievements.   

                                                           
http://www.mass.gov/anf/employment-equal-access-disability/diversity-access-and-opportunity/diversity-in-the-commonwealth.html 

2 ALM GL ch. 23K, 18.9 

http://www.mass.gov/anf/employment-equal-access-disability/diversity-access-and-opportunity/diversity-in-the-commonwealth.html


Diversity Strategy: Design & Construction 
Wynn MA, LLC 
February 2January 13, 2015 
 

2 
 

Wynn’s Strategy has been developed through conversations with and support from numerous local and 
regional groups focused on workforce and procurement diversity including: 

 Massachusetts Gaming Commission Vendor Advisory team  

 Greater New England Minority Supplier Development Council (GNEMSDC) 

 Massachusetts State Office of Supplier Diversity (SDO) 

 New England Area NAACP 

 Minority Business Development Agency Business Center (MBDA) 

 Center for Women and Enterprise (CWE) 

 Massachusetts Diversity Coalition 

 Hispanic-American Chamber Institute 

 Veterans with Vision  

 Veterans Business Owners Initiative of Boston 

 Action for Regional Equity 

 Massachusetts Minority Contractor Association 

 The Policy Group on Tradeswomen’s Issues (PGTI) 

 Boston Metropolitan District Building Trades Council 

 The Massachusetts Department of Veterans’ Services 

Wynn and its Project Construction Manager will continue to engage with these organizations and others to 
facilitate outreach and engagement of diverse employees and businesses.   

Wynn has set the following goals for the Design and Construction phases of the Project and this Strategy sets 
forth the means by which Wynn will attain these goals, as well as mechanisms for addressing and remedying 
shortfalls. These goals reflect the standards set by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Division of Capital 
Asset Management (DCAMM) for large- scale public projects, the goals outlined by the Massachusetts 
Gaming Commission in 205 CMR 135,3 and the 2010 DCAMM business disparity study: Race, Sex, and 
Business Enterprise: Evidence from the Commonwealth of Massachusetts: Volume II.4 
 

 Consultant and/or contractor participation- design contracts*:  
o Minority Business Enterprise (MBE): 7.9%  
o Women Business Enterprise (WBE): 10% 

 Contractor participation – construction contracts*: 
o Minority Business Enterprise (MBE): 5% 
o Women Business Enterprise (WBE): 5.4% 
o Veteran Business Enterprise (VBE): 1% 

 Workforce participation - construction (% of workforce hours): 
o Minorities: 15.3% 
o Women: 6.9% 
o Veterans: 3% 

                                                           
3http://massgaming.com/wp-content/uploads/205CMR135.pdf 

* Note: The goals specified for MBE and WBE spend are a subset of the 17.9% combined goal for design contracts and 10.4% combined goal for 
construction contracts.  Given that Wynn is still early in the process of bidding and awarding contracts; the specific sub-goals for MBE and WBE 
spending may shift slightly, but the overall goals of 17.9% and 10.4% combined M/WBE participation for design and construction will remain 
the same.  

4http://www.mass.gov/anf/docs/dcam/dcam-disparity-study-executive-summary-8-11.pdf 

http://massgaming.com/wp-content/uploads/205CMR135.pdf


Diversity Strategy: Design & Construction 
Wynn MA, LLC 
February 2January 13, 2015 
 

3 
 

In developing its goals for diversity, Wynn has sought to be optimistically aggressive, but also realistic.  These 
goals take into account the population and workforce diversity and availability of qualified Minority, Women, 
and Veteran Business Enterprises (M/W/VBEs) in Wynn’s host and surrounding communities, its neighboring 
communities, and the greater region.  Specific strategies are based on conversations with multiple 
community stakeholders and research including a review of other projects in the Commonwealth of a similar 
scale and the UMass Boston Access & Opportunity Committee Workforce and Affirmative Market 
Subcommittee Best Practices Report, and The PGTI manual: Finishing the Job: Best Practices for a Diverse 
Workforce in the Construction Industry.   

While the Strategy focuses on goals for women, minority and veteran participation as consultants and/or 
contractors and as part of the workforce, Wynn’s commitment to diversity and its culture of inclusion 
extends beyond these groups.  Wynn is equally committed to engaging and including local businesses and 
employees from its host community, surrounding communities and neighboring communities.  

  



Diversity Strategy: Design & Construction 
Wynn MA, LLC 
February 2January 13, 2015 
 

4 
 

WYNN RESORTS BACKGROUND & PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

 
Wynn Resorts is the premier developer and operator of luxury integrated destination resorts and currently 
owns and operates properties in Las Vegas and Macau.  Wynn’s integrated resorts feature hotels, gaming 
areas, spa and health club facilities, recreational amenities (including an 18-hole golf course in Las Vegas), 
meeting and convention space, casual and fine dining restaurants, nightclubs, and luxury retail shopping.   
Each Wynn property has won prestigious Forbes Five Star awards for its hotel, restaurant and spa facilities.  
 
The Wynn Resort in Everett is a proposed $1.6 billion urban development located on an approximately 33-
acre site in the City of Everett, Massachusetts. The Project includes a luxury hotel, a gaming area, retail space, 
food and beverage outlets, convention and meeting space, a spa and gym, and other recreational facilities.  
Extensive landscape and open space amenities including a public gathering area with an outdoor pavilion, a 
waterfront harbor walk and a water transportation dock will be key components of the Project.  These 
outdoor features will be used to connect to existing green spaces and walking and biking paths.  

The Project will generate significant economic and employment benefits for the City of Everett, the region, 
and the entire Commonwealth.  The $1.6 billion investment by Wynn will serve as a catalyst for millions of 
dollars of additional capital investment in transportation infrastructure and ancillary development as well as 
hundreds of millions of dollars of annual gaming and sales tax revenue.  Annual procurement spending for 
ongoing operations will channel tens of millions of dollars to local businesses.  The Project will create 
approximately 4,000 jobs during the construction phase and 4,000 direct, permanent, on-site jobs for 
ongoing resort operations as well as approximately 1,800 additional indirect and induced jobs.   

In addition to generating tremendous economic and employment impacts, the Project will require a large-
scale environmental clean-up as part of the overall development.  As the first step in the development 
process, Wynn will undertake a six month effort to remediate contamination on the site remaining from 
previous industrial uses.  

  



Diversity Strategy: Design & Construction 
Wynn MA, LLC 
February 2January 13, 2015 
 

5 
 

OBJECTIVES  

Wynn is committed to fostering diversity, creating a culture of inclusion and ensuring that the economic 
benefits of the Project are as broadly shared as possible.   As such, the Strategy is designed to support the 
diversity vision set forth by the Gaming Commission and the Commonwealth of Massachusetts as well as to 
achieve the following overarching goals:  
 

1. Cultivate a strong diversity capability for Wynn as it works to develop a successful project in 
Everett, requiring that Wynn engage with M/W/VBEs and develop a workforce that reflects the 
diversity of the region.  This capability will contribute to the success of the Project. 

2. Illustrate best practices for other corporations seeking to do business in the region and the 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts.  Wynn aims to set new standards for best practices for 
engaging M/W/VBEs, providing employment opportunities to a diverse population, and fostering 
a business culture of inclusion and diversity. 

3. Reinforce regional diversity capacity.  Wynn recognizes that it is building just one of many 
developments that are currently underway or will be built in Commonwealth in the next several 
years and that businesses and construction workers that participate in the Wynn development 
will likely gain experience that enhances their ability to contribute to other future developments.  

 

  



Diversity Strategy: Design & Construction 
Wynn MA, LLC 
February 2January 13, 2015 
 

6 
 

DEFINITIONS 

Definition of Women-, Minority-, and Veteran-Business Enterprises 

Wynn will adhere to definitions set forth in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 7, 
Section 58, for Women- Minority- and Veteran- Business Enterprises.5 

Qualified Spend 

The Qualified Spend is defined as all work that is bid and contracted outside of the internal Wynn Resorts 
Design & Development team and is the total direct dollar amount of contracts for the design and 
construction of the Project, including any indirect subcontractor dollar amount, less the value of design and 
construction costs included therein for which there is no qualified M/W/VBE or workforce market available. 

Certifying Agencies 

Wynn will recognize and accept M/W/VBE certifications from the following certifying bodies: 

 Massachusetts Supplier Diversity Office (SDO) 

 Greater New England Minority Supplier Development Council (GNEMSDC) 

 Women’s Business Enterprise National Council (WBENC) 

 Vendor Information Pages Verification Program located at www.VetBiz.gov 

 And, as verified by the MGC’s Division of Licensing (for Veteran Business Enterprises) 

  

                                                           
5https://malegislature.gov/Laws/GeneralLaws/PartI/TitleII/Chapter7/Section58 

https://malegislature.gov/Laws/GeneralLaws/PartI/TitleII/Chapter7/Section58


Diversity Strategy: Design & Construction 
Wynn MA, LLC 
February 2January 13, 2015 
 

7 
 

DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION - OVERVIEW 

Over the course of the three-year design and construction phase (from the time of licensure through Project 
opening), Wynn will implement a robust, proactive affirmative action plan to ensure that the economic uplift 
from the Project is wide reaching and provides opportunities for disadvantaged businesses and persons.   

Wynn is committed to hiring from local communities and to reaching out and actively including workers from 
diverse populations.  Wynn is also committed to engaging M/W/VBEs as consultants and contractors 
throughout the design and construction phases.   

The Strategy is divided into two sub-strategies: 1) Consultants / Contractors and 2) Workforce.  Both sub-
strategies have distinct implementation plans, but both rely on the following five action areas: 

1. Clearly communicate goals. 
2. Include diversity goals within relevant contracts and agreements. 
3. Proactively engage diverse businesses and workforce populations.  
4. Support the development of M/W/VBEs and a diverse workforce.  
5. Commit to robust, regular oversight and reporting.  

Role of the Construction Manager and Local Architect 

Wynn recognizes that the Construction Manager for the Project will play an important role in Wynn’s 
Strategy and reaching its stated goals.  In selecting its Construction Manager, Wynn will give strong 
consideration to an applicant’s track record of exceeding workforce and subcontractor diversity goals on 
other large-scale projects and its commitment to support this Strategy. 

Wynn will work actively with its Construction Manager to reach inclusion targets.  In an effort to develop a 
reasonable and effective Strategy, Wynn engaged Gilbane Building Company (“Gilbane”) for pre-construction 
services.  Gilbane has a strong track record of exceeding workforce and subcontractor diversity goals on all of 
its large-scale projects and partnered with MBE firm Janey Construction to provide pre-construction services 
for the Project. This Strategy incorporates Gilbane’s recommended and successful strategies.  When Wynn 
selects a Construction Manager, this Strategy will be incorporated into the construction agreement.  

For the design phase of the project, Wynn has engaged Jacobs as the local architect overseeing detailed 
design efforts under the internal Wynn Design and Development team.  Jacobs is committed to including 
MBEs and WBEs in the design process and will play a significant role in implementing diversity goals for 
design.  

Diversity Coordinator and Oversight Meetings 

Wynn has designated a Diversity Coordinator to work with the Construction Manager to oversee the effective 
implementation of this plan and to serve as a liaison to the MGC’s Vendor Advisory Committee, the Access 
and Opportunity Committee, and the point of contact for the MGC’s Director of Workforce, Supplier and 
Diversity Development.  The Diversity Coordinator will report directly to the President of the Project.  
Diversity efforts will be overseen by the Diversity Coordinator and the President of the Project.  The Diversity 
Coordinator will also work closely and meet regularly with the Massachusetts State Supplier Diversity Office, 
the Department of Veterans’ Services, GNEMSDC, MBDA, CWE, and other local community groups and 
stakeholders focused on workforce and contractor diversity. The Diversity Coordinator will proactively 
engage with M/W/VBE enterprises to provide support and guidance through the certification process. 



Diversity Strategy: Design & Construction 
Wynn MA, LLC 
February 2January 13, 2015 
 

8 
 

Project diversity meetings will be held monthly and will include the Diversity Coordinator, President of the 
Project, Wynn Design and Development, and representatives from the local architect and Construction 
Manager.  The purpose of these meetings will be to assess progress toward goals, identify challenges and 
potential solutions, and ensure that diversity remains a priority throughout the design and construction 
phases of the Project.   

SUB-STRATEGY: DESIGN & CONSTRUCTION CONSULTANTS / CONTRACTORS 

Design and Construction Goals:  

 Consultant and/or contractor participation - design contracts*:  
o Minority Business Enterprise (MBE): 7.9%  
o Women Business Enterprise (WBE): 10% 

 Contractor participation – construction contracts*: 
o Minority Business Enterprise (MBE): 5%  
o Women Business Enterprise (WBE): 5.4% 
o Veteran Business Enterprise (VBE): 1%  

ACTION AREA #1: CLEARLY COMMUNICATE GOALS. 

Wynn is committed to proactive, up-front communication of goals as a key driver of success in reaching 
diversity targets for contractor spending.   

A. Wynn’s design team, local architects, and pre-construction manager have met to discuss and align 
strategies on reaching subcontractor participation goals.   

B. Wynn has communicated its contractor diversity goals to several key partners including the 
Massachusetts Office of Supplier Diversity, the GNEMSDC, MBDA, Veterans with Vision and the 
Center for Women and Enterprise and has worked with these groups to identify diverse vendors, 
consultants, and contractors.   

C. Wynn and/or the Construction Manager will include contractor diversity goals in all design and 
construction contract RFPs and request an M/W/VBE affirmative action plan and track record as part 
of the bid process.  

D. Wynn will include Project contractor / consultant and workforce diversity goals in informational 
Project presentations and Project reporting and marketing materials whenever possible and 
appropriate.  

E. Wynn and the Construction Manager will hold a pre-construction meeting to ensure that all prime 
subcontractors understand the contractor participation goals and are supported in developing their 
own strategies to reach Wynn’s goals.  

F. Wynn will seek feedback and suggestions from prime subcontractors on reaching out to and 
engaging diverse subsubcontractors.  

 

 

                                                           
*Note: The goals specified for MBE and WBE spend are a subset of the 17.9% combined goal for design contracts and 10.4% combined goal for 

construction contracts.  Given that Wynn is still early in the process of bidding and awarding contracts; the specific sub-goals for MBE and WBE 

spending may shift slightly, but the overall goals of 17.9% and 10.4% combined M/WBE participation for design and construction will remain 

the same. 



Diversity Strategy: Design & Construction 
Wynn MA, LLC 
February 2January 13, 2015 
 

9 
 

ACTION AREA #2: INCLUDE DIVERSITY GOALS WITHIN RELEVANT CONTRACTS AND AGREEMENTS. 

Wynn will include diversity goals within relevant contracts and agreements to signal the importance of such 
goals and set expectations for contractors and consultants. 

A. Wynn will include the Strategy as an attachment to the Construction Agreement.  
B. The Construction Manager will include the Strategy as an attachment to all prime subcontractor 

contracts.  
C. Wynn and/or the Construction Manager will evaluate the M/W/VBE affirmative action plans of each 

bidder as part of the contractor / consultant selection process.  
 

ACTION AREA #3: PROACTIVELY ENGAGE M/W/VBEs.  

Wynn understands the importance of proactively reaching out to M/W/VBEs and communicating its 
commitment to their involvement in the Project.  Outreach and engagement efforts will be crucial for 
meeting Wynn’s goals as will strong working relationships with groups representing M/W/VBEs.   

A. Wynn has worked with partner organizations including chambers of commerce in its host, 
surrounding and neighboring communities, the SDO, GNEMSDC, MBDA, CWE, Veterans Business 
Owners Initiative, and Veterans with Vision to identify potential contractors that can meet needs for 
the design phase of the Project.  Wynn will conduct similar outreach over the next several months to 
identify contractors for the construction phase of the Project.  

B. Wynn will request that the Construction Manager advertise design and construction contract needs 
and project specs through the Construction Manager’s contractor database, and local and national 
partner organizations to reach qualified M/W/VBEs.  

C. Wynn and the Construction Manager will work with partner organizations to host pre-construction 
events in 2015 to inform the M/W/VBE community of contract needs and to make connections 
between prime subcontractors (which may or may not be M/W/VBEs) and potential M/W/VBE 
contractors.  Wynn and the Construction Manager will work to identify a pool of qualified M/W/VBEs 
prior to such events to facilitate efficient “matchmaking” between prime subcontractors and 
M/W/VBE subcontractor candidates.  

D. Wynn will seek to engage M/W/VBEs for non-construction professional services and support work.  
E. Wynn, the local architect, and the Construction Manager will consider M/W/VBE status as part of the 

consultant and contractor evaluation process.  

ACTION AREA #4: SUPPORT THE DEVELOPMENT OF M/W/VBEs.  

A. Wynn and its pre-construction manager and local architect have developed, and continue to expand, 
a database of diverse designers and contractors. 

B. Wynn will work with partner groups to identify gaps in the availability of qualified M/W/VBE 
contractors and will support capacity building efforts and entrepreneurs and businesses in those 
areas through training programs.  

C. Wynn will support programs that facilitate access to capital and technical assistance for M/W/VBEs. 
D. Wynn’s local architect will mentor and support MBE and WBE subcontractors through the design 

process.  
E. Wynn’s Diversity Coordinator will provide support to unregistered M/W/VBEs that wish to complete 

the certification process.  
F. Wynn and its Construction Manager will work to expand access to project opportunities for 

disadvantaged and smaller-scale contractors via the following methods: 



Diversity Strategy: Design & Construction 
Wynn MA, LLC 
February 2January 13, 2015 
 

10 
 

 Create at least 150 bid packages of varying sizes.  

 Provide wrap-up insurance for on-site Workers’ Compensation, Employer’s Liability, and 
General Liability primary and excess insurance. 

 Provide bonding / contractor default insurance on a case-by-case basis for subcontractors.  
G. Wynn and the Construction Manager will encourage bid collaboration between larger, well-

established contractors and M/W/VBEs that may be smaller scale or less experienced.  

ACTION AREA #5: COMMIT TO ROBUST, REGULAR OVERSIGHT AND REPORTING. 

Wynn is committed to oversight and reporting to ensure that diversity goals are met throughout the design 
and construction phases of the Project.   

A. Wynn will serve as a member of the MGC Access and Opportunity Committee created to oversee the 
Project.  Wynn will use this forum to communicate its progress against goals and to identify any 
challenges and potential solutions.  

B. Wynn’s local architect will report to Wynn monthly regarding M/W/VBE contracts and payments 
during the design phase.   

C. Subcontractors will report to Wynn’s Construction Manager on a monthly basis regarding M/W/VBE 
contracts and payments during the construction phase.  Subcontractors must provide proof of 
payment to M/W/VBEs.  

D. In turn, the Construction Manager will report on a monthly basis to Wynn regarding M/W/VBE 
contracts and payments.   

E. Subcontractors who are not meeting M/W/VBE contracting goals will need to provide evidence that 
they are utilizing reasonable best efforts to reach goals, and may be required to revise and update 
their strategy for reaching goals.  

E.F. Non-compliant subcontractors will be required to attend a corrective action meeting with Wynn and 
the Construction Manager.  

F.G. Wynn will report quarterly to the Massachusetts Gaming Commission on contractor diversity and 
provide additional reports and information as requested.  These reports will be available to the 
public.  
 

SUB-STRATEGY: CONSTRUCTION WORKFORCE 

Construction Workforce Participation Goals – % of Workforce Hours: 

 Minorities: 15.3% 

 Women: 6.9% 

 Veterans: 3% 

ACTION AREA #1: CLEARLY COMMUNICATE GOALS.  

Wynn is committed to proactive, up-front communication of goals as a key driver of success in reaching 
workforce diversity targets.  The following outlines actions taken to date and plans for the remainder of the 
design and construction period:  

A. Wynn met with the Boston Metropolitan District Building Trades Council leadership in December 
2014 to communicate workforce diversity goals and discuss strategies for outreach to and inclusion 
of women, minorities and veterans in the construction trades.  



Diversity Strategy: Design & Construction 
Wynn MA, LLC 
February 2January 13, 2015 
 

11 
 

B. Wynn will attend broader meetings with the heads of all the building trades in February and March 
2015 to communicate workforce diversity goals and provide an overview of the Project.  

C. Wynn will notify building trade unions of specific workforce needs and timelines well in advance of 
construction workforce needs to allow trades to conduct outreach efforts to diverse groups and 
expand apprenticeship programs if necessary.  

D. Wynn will include workforce diversity goals in all contractor and subcontractor RFPs.  
E. Wynn will include Project workforce diversity goals in informational Project presentations and other 

Project-related reporting and marketing materials whenever possible and appropriate.  
F. Wynn and the Construction Manager will require subcontractors to submit a diversity track record as 

part of the bid process and will take into consideration the diversity track record of each 
subcontractor when making procurement decisions.  

ACTION AREA #2: INCLUDE DIVERSITY GOALS WITHIN RELEVANT CONTRACTS AND AGREEMENTS. 

A. Wynn will include diversity goals within relevant contracts and agreements to signal the importance 
of such goals and set expectations for contractors and consultants.  As a first step towards ensuring 
that diversity is a focus for the Project, Wynn entered into a letter of intent to have its Construction 
Manager enter into a Project Labor Agreement with the Building and Construction Trades Council of 
the Metropolitan District and The New England Regional Council of Carpenters.  The agreed upon 
Project Labor Agreement includes the following requirements for local hiring and reaching diversity 
goals that will be imposed contractually on contractors performing work on the Project: 

 Section 10.The Local Unions will exert their utmost efforts to recruit sufficient numbers of 
skilled craftspeople to fulfill the workforce requirements of the Contractor. 

 Section 11.The Contractors and Unions will work in good faith, legal and non-discriminatory 
manner to give work opportunities to (i) qualified Union Everett residents and (ii) qualified 
Union residents of Surrounding Communities, in accordance with the terms of Wynn’s host 
and surrounding community agreements. 

 Section 12. The Contractors and Unions will also work in good faith to meet the Owner’s 
goals, of hiring at a minimum, 15.3% ethnic minorities, 6.9% women, and 3% veteran, for 
construction labor. 

B. Wynn will include the Strategy as an attachment to the Construction Manager agreement.  
C. Wynn and/or the Construction Manager will include workforce diversity goals in all RFPs and request 

an affirmative action plan as part of the bid process.  
D. Wynn and/or the Construction Manager will evaluate past performance against workforce diversity 

goals and the affirmative action plans of each bidder as part of the contractor selection process.  
E. The Construction Manager will include the Strategy as an attachment to all prime subcontractor 

contracts.   

ACTION AREA #3: PROACTIVELY ENGAGE DIVERSE WORKFORCE COMMUNITIES. 

Wynn understands the importance of proactively reaching out to groups that traditionally do not have strong 
representation in the union labor workforce.  Outreach and engagement efforts will be crucial for meeting 
Wynn’s goals as will the development of strong working relationships with community groups focused on 
facilitating access to job opportunities for women, minorities and veterans.   

B. Wynn will work with the building trades to host a job fair in the first half of 2015 in Everett.  The job 
fair will provide an overview of the Project and the wide range of construction job opportunities.  
Representatives from each building trade will attend and describe their experiences and provide 
guidance for selecting a building trade to potential apprentices. 



Diversity Strategy: Design & Construction 
Wynn MA, LLC 
February 2January 13, 2015 
 

12 
 

 Wynn will advertise this event through traditional print media; social media; the building 
trade networks; and aggressive outreach to the local community through local groups 
representing minorities, women, and veterans; and educational institutions including high 
schools and colleges. 

 Materials advertising the event will be translated into multiple languages to encourage 
diverse populations to attend.  

 Materials advertising the event will feature women, minorities and veterans and specifically 
invite these individuals to attend.  

 Applications and timeline details for building trade apprenticeship programs will be available 
at the event as well as support for completing the applications.  

 Pre-requisites for apprenticeship programs will be clearly communicated including age, GED 
or high school degree, and clean drug test.  

C. Additional construction job fairs with similar format and representation from the building trades will 
be held during the first half of 2015.  

D. Wynn will leverage relationships with local community groups to communicate opportunities to 
diverse populations that may not be easily reached through traditional print and social media 
advertising.  

E. Wynn will work alongside the building trades and community groups to provide information about 
apprenticeship timelines, requirements for joining an apprenticeship program, and provide 
application support when necessary.   

F. Wynn will encourage the building trades to conduct specific outreach to diverse employees to 
facilitate an expanded workforce base and will support outreach efforts.  

G. The Construction Manager and subcontractors will give priority consideration to minorities, women, 
and veterans to the extent permitted by law, when hiring construction workers.  

ACTION AREA #4: SUPPORT THE DEVELOPMENT OF A DIVERSE WORKFORCE 

Wynn recognizes that the scale of the Project presents an opportunity to expand representation of women, 
minorities and veterans in the construction workforce and therefore increase access of these individuals to 
future public and private development projects.   

A. Wynn and the Construction Manager will work with partner organizations including unions to 
provide access to pre-apprenticeship programs and apprenticeship training opportunities for 
minorities, women, and veterans interested in joining a building trade.  

B. Wynn and the Construction Manager will support the Building Pathways pre-apprenticeship program 
and its work in engaging local schools to encourage more women and minorities to enter the trades.  

 Wynn will work with the building trades to expand the Building Pathways program to 
Everett, its surrounding and neighboring communities.  

C. Wynn will work with the Construction Manager to support programs to engage local high school 
students. 

D. Contractors will be instructed to keep a log of walk-ons (those coming onto the site) seeking 
employment and connect qualified walk-ons to relevant unions and subcontractors.  Walk-ons 
lacking the necessary training and experience will be referred to applicable pre-apprenticeship 
programs. 

E. Wynn and the Construction Manager will encourage subcontractors to build and utilize diverse core 
crews.  

ACTION AREA #5: COMMIT TO ROBUST, REGULAR OVERSIGHT AND REPORTING. 



Diversity Strategy: Design & Construction 
Wynn MA, LLC 
February 2January 13, 2015 
 

13 
 

Wynn is committed to oversight and reporting to ensure that diversity goals are met throughout the 
construction phase of the Project.    

A. The Construction Manager will dedicate a full-time employee to serve as the Ccompliance Oofficer 
for the Project to support inclusion efforts and to carry out reporting against diversity goals.  Wynn’s 
Diversity Coordinator will communicate regularly with the Ccompliance Oofficer.  

B. The Construction Manager will require subcontractors to provide payroll reports on a weekly basis to 
demonstrate progress against workforce diversity goals.   

C. A verification process will be implemented to ensure that all subcontractors are working towards the 
diversity goals included in their contracts.  Identities of diverse, female, and veteran workers will be 
verified as part of the safety orientation process.  

D. The Construction Manager will submit payroll reports to Wynn on a monthly basis to track progress 
against goals.   

E. Subcontractors who are not meeting minority, women, and veteran participation goals will need to 
provide evidence that they are utilizing reasonable best efforts to reach goals, and may be required 
to revise and update their strategy for reaching goals.  

D.F. Non-compliant subcontractors will be required to attend a corrective action meeting with Wynn and 
the Construction Manager.  

E.G. Wynn will report quarterly to the Massachusetts Gaming Commission on workforce diversity and 
provide additional reports and information as requested.  Reports provided to the Massachusetts 
Gaming Commission will be made available to the public.  

 

CONCLUSION 

Wynn believes that diversity in contracting and employment will contribute to the successful development of 
the Project as it not only makes good business sense, but is the right thing to do in support of diverse 
economies and populations.   
 
Wynn looks forward to engaging with the local community as it commits to work with diverse businesses and 
a diverse workforce on the Project and ensure that the opportunities created by the Project are as 
widespread as possible.  Wynn is committed to seeking and engaging M/W/VBEs for the design and 
construction phases of the Project and to developing this Strategy to be a model for other corporations to 
use for how to best engage a broadly diverse  workforce and set of vendors, consultants, and contractors. 
 
 
 











  

205 CMR:  MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 
205 CMR 136.00:   SALE AND DISTRIBUTION OF ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES  

AT GAMING ESTABLISHMENTS 
 

Section 
 
136.01: Definitions 
136.02: General Provisions 
136.03: Issuance of License and Permit 
136.04: Gaming Beverage License Application 
136.05: Fees 
136.06: Term and Renewal of License 
136.07: Practices and Conditions of License 
136.08: Form of the Gaming Beverage License 
136.09: Hearing Process and Procedures 
 
136.01: Definitions   
136.01: Defin itions  

As used in 205 CMR 136.00, the following words and phrases shall have the following meaning, 
unless the context clearly requires otherwise. Moreover, the definitions contained in M.G.L. 
c.138, §1, to the extent to which they are not in conflict with 205 CMR 136.00 or M.G.L. c.23K, 
§2, are fully incorporated by reference herein.  In the event of any definitional conflict, 205 
CMR 136.01 shall prevail, followed by M.G.L. c.23K, followed by M.G.L. c.138: 

(1) ABCC means the Alcoholic Beverage Control Commission 

(2) Added ingredient means any substance that is not a natural constituent of one or more of the 
ingredients of that beverage. 

(3) Cover charge means any admission fee assessed on a patron prior to entrance into a licensed 
area. 

(4) Gaming beverage license means a license issued in accordance with M.G.L. c. 23K, § 26 for 
the sale and distribution of alcoholic beverages to be drunk on the premises of a gaming 
establishment.  

(5) Gaming beverage licensee means the gaming licensee that is issued a gaming beverage 
license pursuant to 205 CMR 136.03(3). 

(6) Jointly responsible person means an entity licensed or registered as a vendor in accordance 
with 205 CMR 134.00 that operates a licensed area under agreement with the gaming 
licensee and is designated by the gaming beverage licensee pursuant to 205 CMR 136.04 to 
be responsible for the sale and distribution of alcoholic beverages within a particular licensed 
area.  

(7) Licensed area means a specific, limited and defined space within a gaming establishment 
wherein the sale or distribution of alcoholic beverages to be drunk on the premises is 



136.01: Definitions  

2 
 

permitted pursuant to a gaming beverage license as determined by the commission pursuant 
to 205 CMR 136.03(3). 

(8) Manager or other principal representative means an individual who the gaming beverage 
licensee or jointly responsible person has delegated to ensure compliance with 205 CMR 
136.00 and all terms and conditions of the gaming beverage license applicable in the licensed 
area. 

(9) Special event means an event for which the consumption of alcoholic beverages is permitted 
by the commission in an area of the gaming establishment that is not a licensed area for a 
specific limited period of time.  

136.01: Defin itions  

 

136.02: General Provisions   
136.02: General Provisions  

(1) No person may sell or distribute alcoholic beverages to be drunk on the premises of a gaming 
establishment except as allowed by a gaming beverage license.  

(2) A gaming beverage licensee shall be responsible for compliance with 205 CMR 136.00 in all 
licensed areas and the gaming establishment as a whole.  A gaming beverage licensee may allow 
a jointly responsible person to operate a licensed area but shall remain responsible for 
compliance with 205 CMR 136.00 within the licensed area.  A gaming beverage licensee or 
jointly responsible person shall designate at least one manager or other principal representative 
to oversee compliance with 205 CMR 136.00 and the terms of the gaming beverage license in 
the licensed area for which they are responsible.  

(3) A gaming beverage licensee shall not transfer a gaming beverage license, transfer operations 
of a licensed area to a new jointly responsible person, add a new manager or other principal 
representative, or add, delete or materially alter the size, configuration or use of a licensed area 
without the commission’s prior written approval.  
136.02: General Provisions  

 

136.03: Issuance of License and Permit 
136.03: Issuance of License and Permit 

(1) Authority.  Pursuant to G.L. c. 23K, § 26, the commission may grant a gaming beverage 
license to a gaming licensee for purposes of allowing the sale and distribution of alcoholic 
beverages within all licensed areas of the gaming establishment as identified and defined in the 
license subject to 205 CMR 136.00. 

(2) Hearings and Additional Information.  After reviewing a gaming beverage license application 
submitted pursuant to 205 CMR 136.04(1), an application to amend a licensed area, or an 
application for a special event beverage permit submitted pursuant to 205 CMR 136.04(3), and 
prior to taking action on the application the commission or the commission’s Division of 
Licensing may request additional information from the applicant to complete or supplement the 
application, may request that the applicant modify the application in the interests of the integrity 



136.03: Issuance of License and Permit  

3 
 

of gaming and/or public health, welfare, or safety, or may schedule a hearing for the applicant to 
address any issues that relate to the application. 

(3) Gaming Beverage License and Licensed Areas.  Applications for licensure shall be submitted 
to the commission’s Division of Licensing.  Upon receipt of a complete application for a gaming 
beverage license, a complete application to amend, alter, or add a licensed area, and the fees 
required by 205 CMR 136.05, the Division of Licensing shall review the application to 
determine whether it contains all of the elements required in accordance with 205 CMR 136.04.  
If the Division of Licensing is satisfied that the application meets the requirements of 205 CMR 
136.04 and M.G.L. c.23K, §26 it shall forward the application to the commission with a 
recommendation that it be approved.  If it is not satisfied that the application meets the 
requirements of 205 CMR 136.04 it shall engage in the process outlined in 205 CMR 136.03(2) 
or deny the application and advise the applicant that it may appeal the decision to the 
commission. 

(4)  The commission shall review the application upon receipt from the Division of Licensing 
and may approve the application, or parts thereof, it if meets all of the requirements of 205 CMR 
136.00 and M.G.L. c.23K, §26, or deny or condition the gaming beverage license, or parts 
thereof, if it determines that the application does not meet all of the requirements of 205 CMR 
136.00 and M.G.L. c.23K, §26 or would in some way compromise the integrity of gaming and/or 
public health, welfare, or safety.  
136.03: Issuance of License and Permit 

 

136.04: Gaming Beverage License Application 
136.04: Gaming Beverage License Application  

(1) Gaming Beverage License Application. A gaming licensee may apply to the commission for 
a gaming beverage license or renewal of a gaming beverage license by filing with the 
commission an application form prescribed by the commission, which application form must 
contain at least the following information: 

(a) The gaming licensee name and contact information; 

(b) Proof of insurance in accordance with 205 CMR 136.07(1); and 

(c) A licensed area application form as specified in 205 CMR 136.04(2) for each area of the 
gaming establishment in which the gaming licensee seeks to sell or distribute alcoholic 
beverages.   

(2) Licensed Area Application. A gaming licensee shall file, as part of its application for a 
gaming beverage license, as part of a renewal of a gaming beverage license, or as an independent 
application to amend a licensed area of a gaming beverage license, a licensed area application on 
a form prescribed by the commission, which application form must contain at least the following 
information: 

(a) A map showing the location of the area which the applicant seeks to establish as a 
licensed area and a floor plan of that area; 



136.04: Gaming Beverage License Application  

4 
 

(b) A description of the licensed area including the proposed capacity and number of bars, 
tables, chairs and exits; 

(c) A description of the business concept and the hours of operation for the business; 

(d) The identity of the manager or other principal representatives for the licensed area 
including their employee license or registration number issued in accordance with 205 
CMR 134.00;  

(e) The identity of the jointly responsible person, if any, for the licensed area including the 
contact information and vendor license or registration number issued in accordance with 
205 CMR 134.00; and 

(f) If a jointly responsible person will be operating a licensed area, evidence satisfactory to 
the commission that the gaming beverage licensee maintains at all times during the life 
of the license the legal authority to monitor the jointly responsible person’s compliance 
with and ability to remove a jointly responsible person from the gaming establishment 
for material violations of 205 CMR 136.00. 

(3) Special Event Beverage Permit. A gaming beverage licensee seeking to serve alcoholic 
beverages on the premises of a gaming establishment in a location that is not a licensed area may 
submit a special event beverage permit application to the Division of Licensing for the sale of 
wines and malt beverages only, or either of them, or for all alcoholic beverages, on a form 
prescribed by the commission in order to request approval to do so for a temporary duration.  
The Division of Licensing may approve the application and issue the special event beverage 
permit if it determines that the application contains all of the required information and issuance 
would not compromise the integrity of gaming, or the public health, welfare, or safety. The 
application should be submitted at least 10 calendar days prior to the proposed event. The 
application form shall contain, at a minimum, the following information: 

(a) Name and description of the event; 

(b) A description and mapped location of the event; 

(c) Date, time, and duration of the event; 

(d) A copy of the advertisement, program and promotional material for the event; 

(e) Number of persons anticipated to attend the event; 

(f) Admission price to the event; 

(g) Type of alcoholic beverages to be served; 

(h) Security and staffing arrangements; 



136.04: Gaming Beverage License Application  

5 
 

(i) The identity of the jointly responsible person, if any, for the special event area including 
the contact information and vendor license or registration number issued in accordance 
with 205 CMR 134.00; 

(j) The identity of the  managers or other principal representatives for the licensed area 
including their employee license or registration number issued in accordance with 205 
CMR 134.00; and 

(k) A copy of the written agreement, if any, between an entity for which the special event 
beverage permit was applied and the gaming beverage licensee. 

136.04: Gaming Beverage License Application  

136.05: Fees 
136.05: Fees  

(1) The application fee and renewal fee for the gaming beverage license application pursuant to 
205 CMR 136.04(1) is $15,000.  

(2) The fee for an application to amend a licensed area pursuant to 205 CMR 136.04(2) or an 
application for special event beverage permit pursuant to 205 CMR 136.04(3) is $100.  

(3) If the commission’s costs for reviewing a gaming beverage application, application to amend 
or add a licensed area, or an application for a special event beverage permit, in accordance with 
the fee schedule posted by the commission to its website, exceed the application fees provided in 
205 CMR 136.05(1) and (2), the gaming beverage licensee shall pay the additional amount 
within 30 days after notification of insufficient fees or the application shall be rejected.  

(4) All fees pursuant to 205 CMR 136.05 must be submitted to the commission’s Division of 
Licensing in the form of a certified check, cashier’s check, or electronic funds transfer payable to 
the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. All fees pursuant to 205 CMR 136.05(1) and (2) must be 
submitted to the Division of Licensing prior to or along with the application. 

 
136.05: Fees  

136.06: Term and Renewal of License 
136.06: Term and Renewal of License  

(1) Gaming Beverage License. A gaming beverage license shall expire 3 years from the date of 
issuance.  To ensure uninterrupted use of the license, the gaming beverage licensee shall submit 
an application for renewal in the form prescribed in 205 CMR 136.04(1) at least 45 days prior to 
expiration.   

(2) Special Event Beverage Permit. The special event beverage permit shall be valid for the dates 
and times specified by the permit, but in no case longer than 7 days. 

 
136.06: Term and Renewal of License  136.06: Term and Renewal of License  

136.077: Practices and Conditions of License 
136.077: Practices and Condit ions of License 

(1) Insurance. The gaming beverage licensee must at all times maintain liquor liability insurance 
for bodily injury or death for a minimum amount of $250,000 on account of injury to or death of 



136.077: Practices and Conditions of License  

6 
 

1 person, and $500,000 on account of any 1 accident resulting in injury to or death of more than 
1 person. The policy shall have no aggregate limit.  

(2) Price Restrictions. The gaming beverage licensee, or jointly responsible person, shall 
maintain a schedule of the prices charged for all alcoholic beverages to be served in a licensed 
area. Such prices shall be effective and remain constant for not less than one calendar week. An 
alcoholic beverage must be either served free of charge in the gaming area in accordance with a 
gaming licensee’s complimentary distribution program consistent with 205 CMR 138.09 or at 
the price set in the schedule. The distribution of a free alcoholic beverage may not be 
conditioned on the purchase of an alcoholic beverage. 205 CMR 136.077(2) shall not apply to 
private functions not open to the public. Moreover, the provision of alcoholic beverages free of 
charge in the gaming area shall be for on-premises consumption in the gaming area only.   

Nothing contained in 205 CMR 136.00 shall be construed to prohibit licensees from offering free 
food or entertainment at any time; or to prohibit licensees from including a drink as part of a 
meal package; or to prohibit the sale or delivery of wine by the bottle or carafe when sold with 
meals or to more than one person; or to prohibit a licensee from offering free wine tastings; or to 
prohibit a licensee from offering room services to registered guests. 

(3) Vendor and Employee License and Registration. Each jointly responsible person must 
possess a vendor license or registration issued pursuant to 205 CMR 134.00 and each manager or 
other principal representative of a jointly responsible person must possess an employee license or 
registration issued pursuant to 205 CMR 134.00. No gaming beverage licensee or jointly 
responsible person may receive alcoholic beverages from a supplier unless the supplier possesses 
a valid vendor license or registration pursuant to 205 CMR 134.04.  Moreover, said supplier of 
alcoholic beverages must first possess the legal authority, pursuant M.G.L. c.138 to supply 
alcoholic beverages to a retailer licensed to operate an “on-premises” license under M.G.L. c. 
138, §12. 

(4) Distribution of Alcoholic Beverages Free of Charge.  Pursuant to M.G.L. c. 23K, § 26(c), a 
gaming beverage licensee or jointly responsible person may distribute alcoholic beverages free 
of charge for on-premises consumption to patrons in the gaming area. Complimentary 
distribution must be offered in accordance with the gaming licensee’s complimentary 
distribution program submitted in accordance with 205 CMR 138.09. 

(5) Postings. The gaming beverage licensee shall post in a location continuously conspicuous to 
the public within each licensed area and wherever alcoholic beverages are served: 

(a) a copy of the licensed area addendum pursuant to 205 CMR 136.09(2) for the licensed 
area, and 

(b) a summary of M.G.L. c. 90, §24 prohibiting driving while intoxicated and stating the 
maximum penalties provided therefore, in a format prescribed by the ABCC. 

(6) Cover Charge. 

(a) The gaming beverage licensee and jointly responsible person shall not require a cover 
charge unless a sign is conspicuously posted at every entrance to any licensed area, or 



136.077: Practices and Conditions of License  

7 
 

portion thereof, where such a charge is required, in letters no less than one inch in height, 
stating that a cover charge is required and the amount of the charge.  No cover charge may 
be required of a person under thirteen years of age. 

(b) The gaming beverage licensee and jointly responsible person shall not impose a 
minimum charge for alcoholic beverages or a minimum alcoholic beverage drinking 
requirement upon any customer. Any minimum charge for food or non-alcoholic beverages 
must be accompanied by a specific statement specifying that there is no minimum charge for 
alcoholic beverages. 

(7) Prohibited Distribution. A gaming beverage licensee, jointly responsible person, and their 
respective agents and employees: 

(a) may not offer or deliver more than two drinks to one person at a time; 

(b) may not sell, offer to sell or deliver to any person or group of persons any drinks at a 
price less than the price regularly charged for such drinks during the same calendar 
week, except at private functions not open to the public; 

(c) may not sell, offer to sell or deliver to any person an unlimited number of drinks during 
any set period of time for a fixed price, except at private functions not open to the 
public; 

(d) may not sell, offer to sell or deliver drinks to any person or group of persons on any one 
day at prices less than those charged the general public on that day, except at private 
functions not open to the public; 

(e) increase the volume of alcoholic beverages contained in a drink without increasing 
proportionately the price regularly charged for such drink during the same calendar 
week; 

(f) may not offer or deliver malt beverages or mixed drinks by the pitcher except to two or 
more persons at any one time;  

(g) may not encourage or permit any game or contest which involves drinking or the 
awarding of drinks as prizes; 

(h) may not serve an alcoholic beverage to any person who is intoxicated; and 

(i) may not serve an alcoholic beverage to any person who is under age 21.  

(8) Forms of Identification.  

(a) A gaming beverage licensee or jointly responsible person may rely on the following 
forms of identification to demonstrate proof that a person has attained the age of 21: 

(1) a liquor purchase identification card issued pursuant to M.G.L. c.138, §34B or a 
motor vehicle driver’s license issued pursuant to M.G.L. c. 90, §8, or the 



136.077: Practices and Conditions of License  

8 
 

equivalent issued by another State in the United States or government of a foreign 
country, or district therein, recognized by the United States government; 

(2) an identification card issued pursuant to M.G.L. c. 90, §8E or the equivalent issued 
by another State in the United States;  

(3) a valid passport issued by the United States government, or by a government of a 
foreign country recognized by the United States government; or 

(4) a valid United States issued military identification card;  

 (b) If a gaming beverage licensee or jointly responsible person relies on the forms of 
identification described in 136.07(8)(a) for proof of person’s identity and age, the gaming 
beverage licensee or jointly responsible person shall not suffer any disciplinary action for 
delivering or selling alcoholic beverages to a person less than twenty-one years of age if 
such reliance was reasonable.  If reliance was reasonable, such reliance creates a rebuttable 
presumption that the person so relying exercised due care in making such delivery or sale of 
alcoholic beverages to a person under twenty-one years of age for purposes of 205 CMR 
136.08. 

(9) Employee Policies. 

(a) The gaming beverage licensee or the jointly responsible person must appoint in writing 
one or more managers or other principal representatives for each licensed area.   

(b) At least one manager or other principal representative must be present in each licensed 
area at all times that alcoholic beverages are available for sale or distribution, and shall be 
available to the division of gaming liquor enforcement of the ABCC, the IEB, the Division 
of Licensing, and the gaming enforcement unit at any time. 

(c) Before beginning employment, the gaming beverage licensee or jointly responsible 
person must receive proof that managers or other principal representatives successfully 
completed an accredited alcoholic beverage server training program, such as Training for 
Intervention Procedures (TIPS). The gaming beverage licensee and jointly responsible 
person must ensure that all other employees involved in the service or delivery of alcoholic 
beverages complete such program within thirty days of hire. Any employee who fails to 
obtain such training within thirty days of hire shall not be eligible to serve alcoholic 
beverages until such time as said training is completed. The gaming beverage licensee and 
jointly responsible person shall be responsible for ensuring that all employees read, 
understand, and comply with the rules and regulations of the commission and 205 CMR 
136.00. The gaming beverage licensee must ensure that all employees abide by the gaming 
beverage licensee’s policy for responsible alcoholic beverage services. 

(d) No gaming beverage licensee or jointly responsible person may take any adverse 
employment action against an employee for declining to serve, or refusing to allow another 
to serve, a patron who he or she believes, in good faith, is under the age of 21, intoxicated, 
engaged in illegal activity, or causing a disturbance. 



136.077: Practices and Conditions of License  

9 
 

(100) Cleanliness and Quality of Beverages. 

(a) Cleanliness. All premises of a gaming establishment where alcoholic beverages are 
served or licensed to be served shall be kept in a clean and sanitary condition at all times.  

(1) No service of alcoholic beverages shall be made to any person in a glass or any 
other container which has not been thoroughly cleansed and properly sterilized 
prior to such service.  

(2) All pipes, coils, hose, faucets and other appliances used in the drawing of draught 
beer shall be thoroughly cleansed and flushed at least twice in each week, and shall 
be kept in a clean and sanitary condition at all times. 

(b) Substitution of Beverages. The substitution of any alcoholic beverages of a kind or brand 
different from that ordered by a purchaser is prohibited unless it is done with the consent of 
the person making the purchase. 

(c) Malt Beverages. All malt beverages sold pursuant to 205 CMR 136.00 containing not 
more than three and two tenths per cent of alcohol by weight shall be expressly sold as such. 
No malt beverage shall be sold on draught from a tap, faucet or other draughting device, 
unless there shall plainly appear on or attached to such device, in legible letters, the brand or 
trade name of the malt beverage so sold therefrom. 

(d) Dilution. No gaming beverage licensee or jointly responsible person shall dilute, change, 
or in any manner tamper with any alcoholic beverage authorized to be sold under such 
license so as to change its composition or alcoholic content. Possession on the premises of 
the gaming establishment or a licensed area of any alcoholic beverage differing in 
composition or alcoholic content from such beverage when received from the manufacturer 
or wholesaler and importer from whom it was purchased, except cocktails and other mixed 
drinks, shall be prima facie evidence that the said beverage has been diluted, changed or 
tampered with in violation of 205 CMR 136.077(100)(d). 

(e) Entry and Samples. The commission, or its agents, including agents of the gaming liquor 
enforcement unit of the ABCC, may at any time enter upon any area of the gaming 
establishment, including any licensed area, for purposes of enforcement of 205 CMR 
136.00. The commission or its agents, including agents of the gaming liquor enforcement 
unit of the ABCC, may at any time take samples for analysis from any beverages or alcohol 
kept on such premises, and the vessel or vessels containing such samples shall be sealed on 
the premises in the presence of a representative of the gaming beverage licensee or jointly 
responsible person. 

(112) Resealing of Partially Consumed Bottles of Wine. 

(a) No gaming beverage licensee or jointly responsible person shall permit a patron to retain 
and take off the premises of the gaming establishment so much of a bottle of wine purchased 
by that patron with a meal and not totally consumed by that patron during the meal, except 
when the bottle is re-sealed in compliance with 205 CMR 136.077(12).  



136.077: Practices and Conditions of License  

10 
 

(b) Only one partially consumed bottle of wine per patron may be resealed and removed 
from gaming establishment. 

(c) A receipt that prominently displays the date of the purchase of the meal must be 
furnished to the patron.  The receipt must show both the purchase of the meal and the 
purchase of the bottle of wine. 

(d) Proper re-sealing requires: 

(1) securely resealing the bottle of wine; 

(2) placing the resealed bottle in a one-time use tamper proof transparent bag that 
insures the patron cannot gain access to the bottle while in transit after the bag is 
sealed; 

(3) securely sealing the bag; and 

(4) affixing the receipt to the sealed bag. 

(123) Public Safety. No gaming beverage licensee or jointly responsible person shall permit 
disorder, disturbance, or illegality of any kind in the gaming establishment. A gaming beverage 
licensee must maintain and exercise close supervision and control over the service of alcoholic 
beverages in the licensed areas at all times.  The commission or its agents, including agents of 
the gaming liquor enforcement unit of the ABCC, may, as required in cases of public 
disturbance, order gaming beverage licensees and jointly responsible persons not to sell, give 
away, or deliver any alcoholic beverages on the licensed premises, or part thereof, for a period 
not exceeding three days at any one time.  

(14) Purity and Quality of Alcohol. No alcoholic beverage may be distributed by a gaming 
beverage licensee or jointly responsible person if: 

(a) the beverage contains caffeine as an added ingredient; 

(b) the beverage is a malt beverage and contains guarana, taurine, gingko biloba, ginseng or 
other herbal stimulant or chemical stimulant substances as an added ingredient; 

(c) the beverage is labeled or in any manner displays the term “malt beverage” or “malt 
beverages” on any label or container if the contents contain guarana, taurine, gingko biloba, 
ginseng or other herbal stimulant or chemical stimulant substances as an added ingredient; 
or 

(d) the beverage cannot be resealed after being opened and contain guarana, taurine, gingko 
biloba, ginseng or other herbal stimulant or chemical stimulant substances as an added 
ingredient. 

136.077: Practices and Condit ions of License 

136.088: Form of the Gaming Beverage License 
136.088: Form of the Gaming Beverage License 



136.088: Form of the Gaming Beverage License  

11 
 

(1) Gaming Beverage Licensee. The commission, after granting a gaming beverage license 
application for one or more licensed areas in a gaming establishment shall issue a formal license 
document that contains the following: 

(a) A complete identification of the gaming beverage licensee's identity, and the contact 
information for a responsible individual; 

(b) The term of the license; 

(c) An official commission serial number; 

(d) A statement that all conditions set forth in M.G.L. c. 23K and 205 CMR 136.00 are 
incorporated by reference, included as if completely set forth therein and made a part of the 
issued form of the gaming beverage license; 

(e) A statement that all additional conditions set forth by the commission shall also be 
incorporated by reference, included as if completely set forth therein and also made a part of 
the issued form of the gaming license; 

(f) The official seal of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts;  

(g) The signature of the chair or his designee after receiving a commission resolution 
authorizing such license issuance and signature execution; 

(h) A condition that alcoholic beverages may not be sold or distributed at the gaming 
establishment between 2:00 A.M. and 8:00 A.M.; 

(i) Such other conditions, limitations, or restrictions on the sale or distribution of alcoholic 
beverages at the gaming establishment as determined by the commission;  

(j) The location of all licensed areas covered by the gaming beverage license, the jointly 
responsible person, if any, for each licensed area, and the manager(s) or other principal 
representatives for the licensed area; and 

(k) A statement incorporating by reference all licensed area addenda issued pursuant to 205 
CMR 136.08(2).   

(2) Licensed Area Addendum. As part of the Gaming Beverage License, the commission shall 
issue a licensed area addendum for each licensed area approved pursuant to 205 CMR 136.03(3) 
through (5). Each licensed area addenda shall contain the following: 

(a) A precise, complete and defined description of the of the licensed area; 
(b) A complete identification of the gaming beverage licensee’s identity; 
(c)  The term of the license; 
(d) An official commission serial number; 
(e) The official seal of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts;  
(f) The signature of the chair or his designee after receiving a commission resolution 

authorizing such licensed area; 



136.088: Form of the Gaming Beverage License  

12 
 

(g) A statement incorporating by reference all conditions attached to the gaming beverage 
license; 

(h) Any unique conditions, restrictions or limitations which apply to the licensed area;  
(i) The identity of the jointly responsible person, if any; and 

(j) The identity and contact information for all managers or other principal representatives. 

 
 
REGULATORY AUTHORITY 
 205 CMR 136.00: M.G.L. c. 23K, §§ 4, 5, 26, 36; M.G.L. c. 138, § 34B. 







 

205 CMR:  MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 
205 CMR 140.00: GROSS GAMING REVENUE TAX REMITTANCE AND REPORTING  
 
Sections 
 
140.01: Description of Tax and Assessment  
140.02: Computation of gross gaming revenue 
140.03: Remittance 
140.04: Reports and reconciliation regarding gross gaming revenue tax  
140.05: Examination of accounts and records for Certification of Gross Gaming Revenues 
 
 
140.01: Description of Tax and Assessment  
 
Pursuant to M.G.L. c.23K, §55 the following taxes and assessment shall be calculated and 
remitted to the commission on a daily basis:  
 
(1) A category 1 licensee shall pay a daily tax of 25 per cent on gross gaming revenue computed 

in accordance with 205 CMR 140.02.  
 

(2) A category 2 licensee shall pay: 
 

(a) A daily tax of 40 per cent on gross gaming revenue computed in accordance with 205 
CMR 140.02; and 

(b) A daily assessment of 9 per cent of its gross gaming revenue computed in accordance with 
205 CMR 140.02 which shall be credited by the commission to the Race Horse 
Development Fund. 

 
140.02: Computation of gross gaming revenue   
 
(1) In accordance with M.G.L. c.23K, §2, gross gaming revenue shall be the total of all sums 

actually received by a gaming licensee from gaming operations less the total of all sums paid 
out as winnings to patrons.  Gross gaming revenue shall be calculated as follows:   
(a) Gross gaming revenue shall include the gross gaming revenue from table games, 

calculated in accordance with 205 CMR 140.02(2), plus the gross gaming revenue from 
slot machines and other electronic gaming devices, calculated in accordance with 205 
CMR 140.02(3).  

(b) Gross gaming revenue shall be calculated by gaming day as the term is set forth in the 
gaming licensee’s approved system of internal controls in accordance with 205 CMR 
138.28.  

(c) In calculating gross gaming revenue, no adjustments shall be allowed for any amounts 
that a gaming licensee is unable to collect pursuant to any credit issued to a patron to 
take part in gaming activity in accordance with 205 CMR 138.40-138.46.    



 

2 
 

(d) Gross gaming revenue shall not include any amount received by a gaming licensee from 
simulcast wagering or from credit extended or collected by the gaming licensee for 
purposes other than gaming.   

(e) Treatment of promotional gaming credit  For purposes of calculating gross gaming 
revenue, the total of all sums actually received shall not include amounts that the gaming 
licensee can demonstrate were issued to or wagered by patrons of a gaming 
establishment of any promotional gaming credit as defined by M.G.L. c.23K, §2.  No 
such credit shall be reported as a promotional gaming credit by a gaming licensee unless 
the licensee can establish that the credit was issued by the licensee and received from a 
patron as a wager at a slot machine or table game in the gaming establishment. 
 

(2) Table Games Gross gaming revenue from table games shall be the sum of that for each 
banked table game, poker and other non-banked table game, and contest or tournament 
calculated as follows: 
 
(a) Banked table games  Gross gaming revenue for banked table games equals the closing 

table inventory including chips, plaques, and coin, plus chip credits, plus drop, minus the 
opening table inventory, any chip fills, complimentary vigorish forms, and table game 
payout slips.  For purposes of 205 CMR 140.02(2), drop means the total value of 
currency, coin, and counter checks in the table drop box.  

(b) Poker and other non-banked table games  Gross gaming revenue for each table game in 
which the gaming licensee is not a party to a wager equals all money received by the 
gaming licensee as compensation for conducting the game including the total value of 
rake charged to patrons at a poker table pursuant to 205 CMR. 

(c) Contests and tournaments  Gross gaming revenue for a contest or tournament equals the 
sum of all entry fees, buy-ins, re-buy-ins and administrative fees imposed by the gaming 
licensee on the contest or tournament participants, minus the money paid by the gaming 
licensee to a contest or tournament winner(s) as prizes.  A gaming licensee shall not 
include the cash equivalent value of any merchandise or thing of value as part of the sum 
paid to a contest or tournament winner(s) as prizes.  If the gross gaming revenue from a 
contest or tournament results in a loss to the gaming licensee, that loss may only be 
recognized to the extent it offsets the sum of all entry fees, buy-ins, re-buy-ins and 
administrative fees imposed by the gaming licensee on the contest or tournament 
participants for the particular contest or tournament and in no way shall negatively 
impact gross gaming revenue. 
 

(3) Slot machines and other electronic gaming devices   For purposes of complying with 205 
CMR 140.01 relative to the gross gaming revenue payment for slot machine and other 
electronic gaming device gross gaming revenue, a gaming licensee shall pay the amount 
calculated by the commission’s Central Monitoring System vendor.  Disputed amounts shall 
be reconciled on a monthly basis as described in 205 CMR 140.04(1). Gross gaming revenue 



 

3 
 

equals drop, minus jackpot payouts, including vouchers issued by the gaming device, and 
any hopper fills to the machine, subject to the following: 
 
(a) For purposes of 205 CMR 140.02(3), drop means the total value of coins, slot tokens, 

and foreign slot tokens in a slot drop bucket or a slot drop box, plus the value currency, 
and gaming vouchers in a slot cash storage box. 

(b) The initial hopper load, if any, shall not be considered a fill.   
(c) A gaming licensee shall not include the cash equivalent value of any merchandise or 

thing of value as part of the sum paid out as winnings or a jackpot. 
 

 
140.03: Remittance 

 
(1) A gaming licensee shall make daily deposits of the tax and assessment in accordance with 

205 CMR 140.01 by 5 p.m. the day following each day of wagering, under such 
conditions, and in such depositories as shall be prescribed by the commission.  If the day 
following a day of wagering is a legal holiday, the deposit shall be made on the next 
business day.  

(2) Pursuant to M.G.L. c 23K, §§55, 59, and 60 collected tax revenues and assessments will 
be deposited or made payable to the Commonwealth of MA, Gaming Revenue Fund and 
Racehorse Development Fund, as applicable.  Collected taxes will be transferred to the 
Gaming Revenue Fund. Collected assessments will be transferred to the Racehorse 
Development Fund. Once funds are available in the Gaming Revenue Fund, the Office of 
the Comptroller will perform operating transfers to the funds as required under M.G.L. 
c.23K, §59. A daily remittance report in a format prescribed by the commission setting 
forth the amount of gross gaming revenue upon which the daily tax payment and 
assessment is based shall be filed with the commission concurrently with the remittance 
to the Gaming Revenue Fund and Racehorse Development Fund.  

(3) Gaming licensees shall estimate slot machine drop provided that such estimates are 
calculated through a system of reading and recording slot machine meters, which 
methodology has been submitted by the gaming licensee and approved by the 
commission.  Gaming licensees shall submit to the commission a daily slot machine drop 
estimate, calculated in accordance with such approved methodology, with each daily 
required tax deposit. 

(4) In the absence of use of a central monitoring system by the commission, a gaming 
licensee may use the estimated slot machine drop outlined in 205 CMR 140.03(3) 
provided that the approved methodology is utilized for purposes of all daily remittances.   

(5) If a gaming licensee estimates slot drop in accordance with 205 CMR 140.03(3), a 
gaming licensee shall perform a monthly reconciliation with respect to slot machine gross 
gaming revenues actually received during the preceding month.  

 
 

140.04: Reports and reconciliation regarding gross gaming revenue tax  
 



 

4 
 

(1) On or before the 15th calendar day of each month, the gaming licensee shall file a monthly 
gross gaming revenue report with the commission, in a format acceptable to the commission, 
which shall reflect the amount of gross gaming revenue actually derived on a daily basis 
during the preceding month, the amount of daily tax deposits required for that month, the 
amount of gross gaming revenue derived during the year to the end of the preceding month, 
and the tax liability for the year calculated to the end of the preceding month. In the event that 
the total amount of gross gaming revenue tax deposits made for the month is determined to be 
less than the daily gaming revenue tax liability for that month, the gaming licensee shall remit 
the requisite additional payment to the commission at the time of submission of the monthly 
report. In the event that the total amount of the deposit made by the gaming licensee for the 
month is determined to be greater than the gross revenue tax liability due, the gaming licensee 
may reduce the amount of its daily deposits in the succeeding month by the amount of the 
overpayment, which adjustment must be reflected on the daily remittance reports.  Nothing in 
205 CMR 140.04(1) shall limit any authority of the commission to determine the 
insufficiency of any gross revenue tax deposit or deposits, to require payments of penalties 
and interest, or to allow or disallow any claim for refund due to overpayment as may be 
determined by the commission pursuant to any audits performed for the certification of gross 
gaming revenues.  

 
(2) Each gaming licensee shall file with the commission an annual report relative to its gross 

gaming revenues and the taxation and assessments due and remitted in accordance with 205 
CMR 140.00. The report shall be filed no later than March 15 following the tax year. The 
annual gaming revenue tax report shall be in a format acceptable to the commission.  
   

140.05: Examination of accounts and records for Certification of Gross Gaming Revenues 
 
(1) The commission or its designee may perform audits of the books and records of a gaming 
licensee, at such times and intervals as it deems appropriate, in order to certify gross gaming 
revenues. 
 
(2) The gaming licensee shall permit duly authorized representatives of the commission to 
examine the gaming licensee’s accounts and records for the purpose of certifying gross gaming 
revenues. In the event that any records or documents deemed pertinent by a commission 
examiner are in the possession of another person or entity, the gaming licensee shall be 
responsible for making those records or documents available to the commission examiner within 
the time period provided by the commission. 
 



 

5 
 

(3) The gross gaming revenue certification process may incorporate audit work performed by a 
gaming licensee’s internal audit department or its independent accountant or auditor provided 
that: 
 

(a) Such audit work is conducted in accordance with minimum standard internal audit 
procedures which have been submitted to and approved by the commission, including, at 
a minimum, a detailed description of the audit tests to be performed; 

 
(b) The gaming licensee submits to the commission by January 31 of each year a gross 

gaming revenue audit plan specifying the scheduled audit dates for that upcoming 
calendar year; and 

 
(c) The gaming licensee submits to the commission no later than March 15 of each year, 

copies of all internal audit reports and any other reports directly relating to the reporting 
of gross revenue for the preceding tax year. 

 
(4) The commission shall notify the gaming licensee of any gross gaming revenue tax 
deficiencies disclosed during the gross revenue certification process.  Any additional amounts 
due by the gaming licensee shall be remitted within 15 days of completion of the audit, except 
that in the event the gaming licensee disagrees with the commission’s audit results, the time for 
payment shall be extended for an additional 30 days during which time the gaming licensee shall 
be provided an opportunity to respond to the commission’s audit results.   



 

205 CMR:  MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 
205 CMR 139.00:  CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AND REPORTING OBLIGATIONS OF 

GAMING LICENSEES AND QUALIFIERS 
 
Section 
 
139.01: Records regarding company ownership 
139.02: Accounting system 
139.03:  Standard financial and statistical reports  
139.04:  Monthly and quarterly financial statements  
139.05:    Financial stability filings by a gaming licensee  
139.06:    Annual audited financial statements and other reports  
139.07:    Tax return filings  
139.08:    Minutes of meetings of board and committees 
139.09:    Governing documents  
139.10:    Compliance plan  
139.11:    Securities filings 
139.12:    Audit of gaming licensee operations by commission   
139.13:   Capital expenditure plan 
139.14:   Access to premises and production of records 
 
 
 
139.01: Records regarding company ownership 

A gaming licensee and its holding companies shall maintain up to date records regarding the 
equity structure and ownership of the gaming licensee, including, at a minimum:  

 
(1) Certified copies of incorporation and formation documents and any amendments thereto. 

 
(2) By-laws, shareholders agreements, operating agreements, partnership agreement, 

intercompany transactions, joint venture agreements, merger and acquisition agreements, and 
other relevant corporate documents. 
 

(3) Current listing of officers, directors, members, partners. 
 

(4) Minutes of all meetings of shareholders, directors or members. 
 

(5) Current list of all equity owners, stockholders and stockholders of affiliates. 
 

(6) Detailed records regarding all capital contributions. 
 

(7) Detailed records regarding distributions to all equity holders. 
 

(8) Detailed records regarding all remuneration paid to officers, directors, partners and members. 
 



 

2 
 

(9) Detailed records regarding any equity transfers. 
 

(10) Detailed records regarding all record holders of any or all classes of publicly traded 
securities issued by any holding company or by any other affiliated entity which is required to 
qualify as a financial source in connection with the gaming licensee’s gaming license. 
 

(11) Any other records as the commission deems appropriate.  
 

139.02: Accounting system 
 
(1) Each gaming licensee shall maintain and submit to the commission for approval, in 
accordance with 205 CMR 138.02, a system of financial accounting that results in the licensee 
accurately reporting its assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses. 
 
(2) The system of financial accounting shall comply with generally accepted accounting 
principles and shall provide adequate detail so as to allow the commission to fully understand the 
gaming licensee’s statement of condition and results of operations.  To this extent, the gaming 
licensee shall submit a proposed full chart of accounts which shall be maintained and updated 
with the commission within 30 days of any changes.  

 
(3) The gaming licensee’s system of financial accounting shall provide a level of detail so as to 
allow it to accurately compute gross gaming revenue in accordance with 205 CMR 140.02 and to 
report the gaming licensee’s drop, win, and hold percentage for each form of gaming activity, the 
value of complimentary goods or services and promotional play issued during the accounting 
period, and any other information necessary to allow the commission to understand the licensee’s 
results of operations.  

 
(4) The gaming licensee shall maintain detailed information and documentation to support all 
amounts reported to the commission as being the gaming licensee’s assets, liabilities, equity, 
income and expenses.  
 
139.03: Financial and statistical reports 
 
(1) Each gaming licensee shall file the following reports electronically, on a set of standard 
reporting forms to be prescribed by the commission, or in any other manner prescribed by the 
commission:  

      
(a) Pursuant to G.L. c. 23K, § 21(a)(12), a detailed annual statistical report on the number, 

job titles, benefits and salaries of employees hired and retained in employment at the 
gaming establishment. 

 
(b) Pursuant to G.L. c. 23K, § 21(a)(24), a detailed annual statistical report on the total 

dollar amounts contracted with and actually paid to minority business enterprises, 
women business enterprises and veteran business enterprises in:  

 
(1) Design contracts;  
(2) Construction contracts; and 



 

3 
 

(3) Contracts for every good and service procured by the gaming establishment.  
 

The annual statistical report shall also identify the amounts so contracted as a percentage of 
the total dollar amounts contracted with and actually paid to all firms.   

 
 (c) Pursuant to M.G.L. c. 23K, § 21(a)(23), on a quarterly basis, a detailed statistical report, 

on the number, gender and race of individuals hired to perform labor as part of the 
construction of the gaming establishment. 

 
 (d) Pursuant to M.G.L. c. 23K, § 21(a)(15), on an annual basis, and at other times as 

directed by the commission, aggregate demographic information with respect to the 
gaming licensee’s customers in a format provided by the commission.  

 
(e) Pursuant to M.G.L. c. 23K, § 23(a), on an annual basis, and at other times as directed by 

the commission, a report explicitly stating the gaming licensee’s progress on meeting 
each of the stated goals and stipulations put forth in its RFA-2 application. 

 
(f)  Pursuant to M.G.L. c.23K, §28(b), on a quarterly basis, and at other times as directed by 

the commission, a report covering all complimentary services offered or engaged in by 
the gaming licensee during the immediately preceding quarter.  The reports shall identify 
regulated complimentary services and the costs of those services, the number of people 
who received each service or item and such other information as the commission may 
require. The report shall also document any services or items valued in excess of $2,000 
that were provided to patrons, including detailed reasons as to why they were provided.  
Valuation shall be performed in accordance with G.L. c.23K, §28(c).   

 
(g) Pursuant to M.G.L. c.23K, §29, a gaming licensee who has implemented a player card/ 

rewards card program in accordance with 205 CMR 138.13, or cashless wagering 
system, shall annually report to the commission the amount of money spent and lost by 
patrons who have been issued a player card or rewards card or who participated in a 
cashless wagering system, aggregated by zip code. 

 
(g)  Reports prescribed in accordance with 205 CMR 138.05(2) relative to registered and 

licensed employees; 
 

(h)  The Disbursement Report relative to vendors in accordance with 205 CMR 138.06(2); 
 
(i) Counter check and slot counter check information maintained in accordance with 205 

CMR 138.43(2)(l)-(n). 
 
(j) Pursuant to St. 2011, c. 194, §97, as directed by the commission, customer tracking data 

collected or generated by loyalty programs, player tracking software, player card 
systems, online gambling transactions or any other information system. 

 
(k) Daily remittance report required in accordance with 205 CMR 140.03. 



 

4 
 

(l) Quarterly and annual gross gaming revenue reports required in accordance with 205 
CMR 140.04. 

 
(m) Any other report or information requested by the commission or IEB. 

 
(2) The reports shall be attested to by any of the following: the Chief Executive Officer, Chief 
Gaming Executive, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer, Financial Director, Controller, or their 
functional equivalent. 
 
(3) Annual reports to the commission shall be based on a calendar year, beginning January 1, and 
ending December 31; Quarterly reports shall be based on calendar quarters ending March 31, 
June 30, September 30, and December 31and Monthly reports shall be based on calendar 
months. 
 
(4)  Each report to the commission shall be made in a format acceptable to the commission and 
electronically filed not later than the following applicable filing date unless the gaming licensee 
makes a written request for an extension and the extension is granted to the gaming licensee in 
writing by the commission.  The commission may request that any report be provided at any time 
notwithstanding any specific timing requirement.  Any filing date that falls on a Saturday, 
Sunday, or Federal or State holiday shall be extended until the next business day.  The filing 
dates shall be as follows: 

 
(a) Monthly gross gaming revenue tax reports shall be due not later than 9:00 a.m. on the 

10th calendar day following the end of the month. 
(b) All quarterly reports for the quarters ended March 31, June 30, and September 30 shall 

be due not later than the 15th calendar day of the second month following the end of the 
quarter. 

(c) All quarterly reports for the quarter ended December 31 shall be due not later than 
March 31 of the following year. 

(d) All annual reports shall be due not later than March 31 of the following year.  
  
(5)  To the extent possible, any adjustments resulting from the annual audit required in 
accordance with 205 CMR 139.06 shall be recorded in the accounting records of the year to 
which the adjustment relates.  In the event the adjustments were not reflected in the licensees' 
quarterly report for the quarter ended December 31 and the commission concludes the 
adjustments are significant, a revised quarterly report for the quarter ended December 31 may be 
required from the gaming licensee.  The revised filing shall be due within 30 calendar days after 
notification to the licensee, unless an extension is granted by the commission.  
 
139.04: Monthly and quarterly financial statements  
 
(1) Each gaming licensee shall submit monthly internal financial statements that at a minimum 
provide detailed income and expense statements within five days of completion and in no event 
later than the end of the subsequent month. 
 
(2) Each gaming licensee shall submit quarterly unaudited financial reports of the gaming 



 

5 
 

licensee when prepared and in no event later than the 15th calendar day of the second month 
following the end of the quarter. 
 
(3) Each gaming licensee shall submit annual internal budgeting documents and monthly 
updates. 
 
139.05:   Financial stability filings by a gaming licensee  
 
(1) Each gaming licensee shall file with the commission a statement that the gaming licensee is 
in compliance with 205 CMR 139.05(1)(a) through (e); which statement shall accompany each 
quarterly financial report filed pursuant to 139.04(2):    

 
(a) Maintenance of a gaming bankroll or equivalent provisions adequate to pay winning 

wagers to gaming patrons when due.  A gaming licensee shall be deemed to  have 
met this standard if it maintains, on a daily basis, a gaming bankroll, or a gaming 
bankroll and equivalent provisions, in an amount which is at least equal to the 
average daily minimum gaming bankroll or equivalent provisions, calculated on a 
monthly basis, for the corresponding month in the previous year.  For any gaming 
licensee which has been in operation for less than a year, such amount shall be 
determined by the commission based upon the gaming licensee’s projections, which 
may take into consideration levels maintained by gaming licensee in comparable 
properties in other jurisdictions. 

(b) Ability to achieve positive Earnings Before Interest, Taxes and Amortization 
(EBITA), measured on an annual basis. 

(c) The ability to pay, as and when due, all local, state and federal taxes, including the 
tax on gross gaming revenues imposed by M.G.L. c.23K, §55 and any fees imposed 
under M.G.L. c.23K or 205 CMR. 

(d) The ability to make annual capital expenditures to its gaming establishment in a 
minimum aggregate amount equal to 3.5 per cent of the net gaming revenues derived 
from the establishment or in accordance with a multi-year capital expenditure plan 
approved by the commission pursuant to 205 CMR 138.27.  

(e) The ability to pay, exchange, refinance or extend debts, including long-term and 
short-term principal and interest and capital lease obligations, which will mature or 
otherwise come due and payable during the license term, or to otherwise manage 
such debts and any default with respect to such debts.   

 
(2) Prior to the end of each calendar year, a gaming licensee shall file with the commission 
financial projections for the upcoming calendar year in a format acceptable to the commission 
which will, at a minimum, provide a statement of income, balance sheet, and statement of cash 
flows. 
 
(3) At the end of each calendar year, each gaming licensee shall file with the commission a 
detailed analysis with respect to its compliance with subsection 205 CMR 139.05(1) (a) through 
(e) and provide such other information as the commission shall deem material to a showing of 
financial stability. 
 



 

6 
 

(4) A gaming licensee shall file with the commission copies of any compliance certificates when 
provided to lenders pursuant to any loans or debt instruments of each gaming licensee, affiliate, 
or holding company thereof.  
 
(5) A gaming licensee shall file with the commission essential details of any loans, covenants, 
borrowings, installment contracts, guarantees, leases, capital contributions, or any other debt no 
later than 10 days after the end of the month in which the transaction or event occurs. 
 
(6) Any event of default, or potential default event, related to any debt obligation maintained by 
the gaming licensee, affiliate, or holding company thereof shall be immediately reported to the 
commission, in writing, along with any plans to address or cure such default.  
 
(7) In the event that the commission determines that a gaming licensee has failed to demonstrate 
financial stability, the commission may take such action as is necessary to protect the public 
interest, including, but not limited to: 
  

(a) establishing an appropriate cure period;  
(b) imposing reporting requirements in excess of those otherwise mandated by M.G.L. 

c.23K and 205 CMR;  
(c) placing such restrictions on the transfer of cash or the assumption of liabilities as is 

necessary to insure future compliance with the standards set forth in subsections 205 
CMR 139.05(a)(1) through (5);   

(d) requiring the maintenance of reasonable reserves or the establishment of dedicated or 
trust accounts to insure future compliance with financial stability standards; 

(e) impose additional license conditions; and/or  
(f) revoking the gaming licensee’s gaming license.  

 
 
139.06: Annual audit and other reports  
 
(1) A gaming licensee shall submit to the commission, at its own expense, an annual audit of its 
fiscal year prepared in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards within the United 
State by an independent certified public accountant attesting to the financial condition of the 
gaming licensee and disclosing whether the accounts, records and control procedures examined 
are maintained by the gaming licensee as required M.G.L. c.23K and 205 CMR.  To ensure the 
independence of the annual audit, a gaming licensee shall rotate accounting firms/partners at 
least every five years. 
 
(2) The annual financial statements shall be prepared on a comparative basis for the current and 
prior calendar year, and present the financial position and results of operations in conformity 
with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. 
 
(3) The annual financial statements shall include footnotes reconciling and explaining any 
differences between the financial statements included in the gaming licensee's quarterly financial 
report for the quarter ended December 31and the audited financial statements, with such 
footnote, at a minimum, disclosing the effect of such adjustments on: 



 

7 
 

 
(a) Gaming revenues. 
(b) Revenues net of complimentary services. 
(c) Total costs and expenses. 
(d) Income before extraordinary items. 
(e) Net income. 
(f) Large book to tax differences or reconciliations. 

 
(4) The annual financial statements shall include a study of the gaming licensee’s system of 
internal accounting control, as designed, conducted by the independent certified public 
accountant, for the purpose of expressing an opinion as to the adequacy of said internal controls, 
and for the purpose of conducting compliance tests to determine whether material aspects of the 
system of internal control are in place and being followed.  The gaming licensee’s independent 
certified public accountant shall issue a written report, or opinion, as to the adequacy of the 
licensee’s system of internal accounting control, and as to the gaming licensee’s level of 
compliance therewith.  In the event that the gaming licensee’s independent certified public 
accountant makes recommendations to improve the system of internal accounting control, or to 
increase the gaming licensee’s level of compliance, the gaming licensee’s Chief Financial 
Officer shall respond, in writing, to the recommendations of the independent certified public 
accountant and provide the commission with a copy of its response.  
 
(5) One copy of the audited financial statements, together with the management letter or report 
prepared thereon by the gaming licensee's independent certified public accountant, shall be filed 
with the commission by April 30 following the end of the calendar year or the end of the quarter 
following the end of a fiscal year.  
 
(6) In the event the gaming licensee’s independent certified public accountant shall resign or be 
removed as the gaming licensee’s principal accountant or auditor, the gaming licensee shall 
submit a written report to the commission within 20 days of such resignation or removal, signed 
by its Chief Financial Officer and Chairman of its Audit Committee, outlining the cause or 
nature of the resignation or removal, stating whether the resignation or removal was related to 
material differences between the parties as to financial statement presentation issues, disclosures, 
or the adequacy of the gaming licensee’s system of internal accounting control and, if so, a 
complete and detailed description of the differences for consideration by the commission.  The 
gaming licensee shall submit as an exhibit to this report a letter from the former independent 
certified public accountant stating whether he or she agrees with the statements made by the 
gaming licensee in the report submitted to the commission.  
 
139.07: Tax return filings  
 
If requested by the commission, a gaming licensee, holding company, intermediary company, 
qualifying subsidiary or entity qualifier thereof, shall provide the commission with copies of its 
Federal and/or State Tax Returns and any related forms.  
 
139.08: Minutes of meetings of board and committees 
 



 

8 
 

(1) A gaming licensee or holding company thereof shall file with the commission copies of the 
minutes of all board of directors or equivalent governing authority meetings and committee 
meetings including, without limitation, the audit and compliance committee, by no later than 45 
days of the meeting regardless of formal adoption and that upon formal adoption of previously-
submitted board and committee minutes, a copy of such final minutes shall be filed with the 
commission.  
 
(2) A gaming licensee or holding company thereof shall file, with the commission, the schedule 
for its board and committee meetings on an annual basis.   
 
139.09:  Governing documents 
 
A gaming licensee or holding company thereof shall file with the commission copies of any 
amendments to, restatements of, or superseding versions of the governing documents of the 
gaming licensee or holding company within seven days of formal adoption.  
 
139.10:  Compliance plan  
 
A gaming licensee or holding company thereof shall file with the commission copies of any 
amendments to its written compliance plan within seven days of formal adoption.  
 
139.11: Securities filings 
 
If requested by the commission, a gaming licensee, holding company, intermediary company, 
qualifying subsidiary and entity qualifier thereof, shall file with the commission copies of any 
securities filings submitted to Federal, State, or other domestic or foreign securities regulatory 
authorities, regarding any of the securities, either in existence or proposed, including, but not 
limited to, forms S-1, 8-K, 10-Q and 10-K, proxy or information statements and all registration 
statements filed at the time of filing with such authority.   
 

 
139.12: Audit of gaming licensee operations by Commission  
 
In accordance with M.G.L. c.23K, §65 the commission shall audit on an annual basis, and at 
other times the commission determines necessary the accounts, programs, activities, and 
functions of a gaming licensee and/or any aspect of the gaming establishment. To conduct the 
audit, authorized officers and employees of the commission shall be given access by the gaming 
licensee to such accounts at reasonable times and may require the production of books, 
documents, vouchers and other records relating to any matter within the scope of the audit; 
provided however, that a gaming licensee’s tax returns will not be audited by the commission.  
All audits shall be conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards 
established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the standards 
established by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board.  In any audit report of the 
accounts, funds, programs, activities and functions of a gaming licensee issued by the 
commission containing adverse or critical audit results, the commission may require a response, 
in writing, to the audit results. The response shall be forwarded to the commission within 15 days 



 

9 
 

of notification by the commission. 
 

138.13:  Capital expenditure plan 
 
A gaming licensee shall make, or cause to be made, capital expenditures to its gaming 
establishment in a minimum aggregate amount equal to 3.5 per cent of the net gaming revenues 
derived from the gaming establishment; provided, however, that a gaming licensee may make 
capital expenditures in an amount less than 3.5 per cent per year as part of a multi-year capital 
expenditure plan approved by the commission.  For purposes of 205 CMR 138.13, net gaming 
revenue means gross gaming revenue as calculated in accordance with 205 CMR 140.02 minus 
taxes remitted to the commonwealth in accordance with 205 CMR 140.03.  If the gaming 
licensee intends to make capital expenditures as part of a multi-year capital plan, the plan shall 
be submitted to the commission as part of its system of internal controls in accordance with 205 
CMR 138.02.  Provided, however, such plan shall provide for the establishment of and 
contribution to a capital reserve account.   

 
138.14:  Access to premises and production of records 
 
(1) No gaming licensee shall neglect or refuse to produce records or evidence or to give 

information relative to the gaming establishment upon proper and lawful demand by the 
commission, the IEB, or a designee, or shall otherwise interfere, or attempt to interfere, with 
any proper and lawful efforts by the commission, the IEB, or any designee to procure such 
information. 

 
(2) A gaming licensee shall immediately make available for inspection by the commission, IEB, 

or a designee all papers, books and records produced or maintained by the gaming licensee 
and all portions of the gaming establishment and its systems.  The commission, IEB, or 
designee shall be given immediate access to any portion of the gaming establishment for the 
purpose of inspecting or examining any records or documents required to be kept by such 
licensee in accordance with 205 CMR. 

 
(3) Access to the gaming establishment shall be granted to the commission, IEB, or a designee 

who displays proper commission issued credentials.  
 
 
 
 
REGULATORY AUTHORITY 
 
 205 CMR 138: M.G.L. c. 23K, §§4(28), 4(37), 5 

 



Drop
Cash Box(es) + Tickets Out -
Tickets In + Hand Paid Jackpots -
Coins + Free Play (Complimentary Play) -
Money Transfers from Player Account +

Total Revenue + Total Expense - = Gross Gaming Revenue

Revenue
Slots Gross Gaming Revenue

Expense



Drop Box Cash + Chip Fills (chips transferred from cage) -
Markers Issued and Outstanding + Beginning Table Inventory -
Chip Credit (chips transferred to cage) + Complimentary Play (Free Play) -
Ending Table Inventory + Complimentary Vigorish -

Hand Paid Jackpots -
Total Revenue + Total Expense - = Gross Gaming Revenue

ExpenseRevenue
Table Games Gross Gaming Revenue
































































	Commissioners-Packet 2-5-15 UPDATE
	Commissioners' Packet - FINAL
	0) Commission Packet Cover Page
	2a) January  22 2015-Draft Minutes
	3a) No Documents
	4a) No Documents
	4b1) Memo to Commissioners regarding mitigation fund response
	4b2 revised Mitigation Fund Specific Requests
	5a1) FINAL Everett MGC Diversity Presentation 2.5.15
	5a2) 2015 02 02 UPDATE Wynn Everett Diversity Strategy_Design and Construction
	5a3) Comments re Wynn Diversity Strategy and Action for Regional Equity
	6a1) Gaming Beverage license draft regs
	205 CMR 136.00:   SALE AND DISTRIBUTION OF ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES  AT GAMING ESTABLISHMENTS
	136.01: Definitions
	136.02: General Provisions
	136.03: Issuance of License and Permit
	136.04: Gaming Beverage License Application
	136.05: Fees
	136.06: Term and Renewal of License
	136.077: Practices and Conditions of License
	136.088: Form of the Gaming Beverage License


	6a2) Protection of MInors & Underage Youth Reg.
	7ai) Tax Reporting draft regs
	7aii) Disclosure and Reporting draft regs
	139.01: Records regarding company ownership
	139.02: Accounting system
	139.03:  Standard financial and statistical reports
	139.04:  Monthly and quarterly financial statements
	U139.01: Records regarding company ownership
	A gaming licensee and its holding companies shall maintain up to date records regarding the equity structure and ownership of the gaming licensee, including, at a minimum:
	(1) Certified copies of incorporation and formation documents and any amendments thereto.
	(2) By-laws, shareholders agreements, operating agreements, partnership agreement, intercompany transactions, joint venture agreements, merger and acquisition agreements, and other relevant corporate documents.
	(3) Current listing of officers, directors, members, partners.
	(4) Minutes of all meetings of shareholders, directors or members.
	(5) Current list of all equity owners, stockholders and stockholders of affiliates.
	(6) Detailed records regarding all capital contributions.
	(7) Detailed records regarding distributions to all equity holders.
	(8) Detailed records regarding all remuneration paid to officers, directors, partners and members.
	(9) Detailed records regarding any equity transfers.
	U139.03: Financial and statistical reports
	U139.04: Monthly and quarterly financial statements
	(2) Each gaming licensee shall submit quarterly SunauditedS financial reports of the gaming licensee when prepared and in no event later than the 15th calendar day of the second month following the end of the quarter.
	(3) Each gaming licensee shall submit annual internal budgeting documents and monthly updates.

	7aiii) Spreadsheet- GGR Calculation for Slots and Table Games
	Table Games GGR

	7b) Packet materials for 2 5 15 - Region C
	ADP18BE.tmp
	Slots GGR



	Letter to be included in 7b in packet



